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2.1
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Report no: GB 35-16
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2.3
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meeting at this point.
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Welcome & Introduction:
Welcome to the Third Annual Report for NHS Liverpool CCG.
Primary care services are at the heart of what the NHS delivers, and we started 2015/16 by
accepting delegated commissioning responsibility from NHS England for the General Practices
across the city. We are proud that primary care in Liverpool continues to go from strength to
strength, with more appointments offered by our member practices, and evidence that teams
are working harder than ever and achieving improved care for their patients.
As a strong clinically led commissioner, we have continued to develop our relationships and
partnership working across the system to create a collective effort to improve the health and
health services of the city. Publication of our Healthy Liverpool Programme Case for Change or
‘blueprint’ at the Mayoral Health Summit in November marked the next important step in
delivery of our transformation programme.
During the year we have continued to invest in our workforce and clinical leadership to provide
the necessary infrastructure to take forward not only our Healthy Liverpool Programme but also
to strengthen our quality, commissioning, operational and intelligence teams. We continue to
be proud of the people working for the CCG; without their talents and commitment we simply
would not be able to deliver the changes and improvements in services required.
We recognise that health is dependent on many factors many of which are outside our direct
control and that we cannot achieve our ambitions alone. Practically we have continued to
invest significantly in local community organisations both to support them to deliver health
improving services, and to utilise their local knowledge and intelligence in helping to shape
how services are commissioned going forward. At the same time we have sought to further
strengthen our joint working with Liverpool City Council, symbolised by our joint appointment to
a new Integrated Programme Director across mental health, learning disability, older people
and children’s services.
We are keen to hear your thoughts on our work, and for you to become more involved in
shaping the health and health services for the people of this great city.
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1.

Member Practices’ Introduction

Liverpool CCG, in its third year of operation, has continued to actively seek and involve GPs
and their practices to help further develop the organisation, its culture, behaviours and decision
making processes. Local engagement with practices remains a key organisational foundation
and priority, with a continued emphasis on engagement and involvement through both the use
of local neighbourhoods and the three localities.
The bond between the CCG and its membership practices remains at the heart of the
organisation and lead GPs from the localities remain co-opted onto the CCG Governing Body.
This, together with the fact that there are nine GPs elected to the Governing Body, has
ensured that the views of practices are always taken into account by the Governing Body. At
the local level, practices are engaged within neighbourhoods and information from
neighbourhoods flows to and from the locality leadership team meetings. Reports from these
meetings are seen and discussed by the Governing Body on a regular basis. In this way, the
CCG is able to demonstrate good engagement with its Member Practices.
The CCG commitment to engagement extends to the Local Medical Committee (LMC) that has
continued to be fully consulted on matters effecting general practice and primary care through
involvement on the Primary Care Committee. In addition, there has been reciprocal
membership between the LMC and CCG bodies through the Chairman of the CCG and
Secretary of the LMC.
As the CCG moves forward into its fourth year of operation, the CCG has been keen to work
with practices on developing the strategic transformational Healthy Liverpool Programme and
in particular the delivery of the neighbourhood integrated community teams as a cornerstone of
future service delivery. A further key enabler is the CCG’s ongoing commitment and
investment in the evolution of the GP Specification / Local Quality Improvement Scheme.
The LMC and Locality Chairs are committed to working with all GPs and practices, supporting
them through the changes being brought about through legislation and local negotiation. The
CCG continues to value its work with the LMC and the contribution this can make to delivery of
the CCG’s health priorities for the local community.

Dr Rob Barnett
Secretary, Liverpool Local Medical Committee.
Dr Paula Finnerty - North Locality Chair
Dr David Webster - Matchworks Locality Chair *
Dr Shamin Rose - Central Locality Chair
(*Resigned February 2016)
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2.

Introduction to NHS Liverpool CCG

2.1

Introduction

The Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group became operational as an NHS Body on the 1st
April 2013 and currently includes 93 GP Member Practices and is co-terminus with the
boundaries of Liverpool City Council. The CCG serves a registered population of 501,619 and
has a budget of £854.9m. The CCG remained ‘licenced without conditions’ from NHS England
throughout 2015/16.
The accounts in this report have been prepared in accordance with the Department of Health
Group Manual for Accounts 2015/16 and associated guidance.
The CCG vision, values and strategic objectives are:
Our Vision
•

By 2020, health outcomes for the people within Liverpool will have improved relative to
the rest of England, and health inequalities within Liverpool will have narrowed.

•

The quality of health care received by Liverpool patients will be consistent and first
class. They will be measured by patient feedback, provider assessment, and external
review processes.

•

Both will be achieved efficiently within the available resources.

Our Values
Patient Focused and Outcome Led
•

We will empower our patients to engage in improving their overall quality of life, to
interact in their care plans, and to ensure that no decisions will be made without fully
involving patients, both in the planning and monitoring of services.

Partnership and Collaboration
•

We believe in working in unity, both within our organisation and externally with our
partners. We listen to, communicate with, and work effectively with all our partners
including membership practices, Trusts, the Local Authority, and Commissioning
Support Services.

Locally Focused
•

We will work through locality and neighbourhood groups to implement and deliver
services that meet the needs of our communities.
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Progressiveness
•

We encourage innovation and continuous improvement in all services
we commission. We will target our resources in the most effective way to ensure we
offer value for money in the services we provide, and equity for patients.

Accountability
•

We accept responsibility for our actions. We make and support business decisions
through experience, evidence and good judgement, and we will deliver against our
promises.

Integrity and Respect
•

We will act with honesty and transparency in all our actions. We are committed to a
teamwork environment, where every member of the CCG is valued, encouraged to
contribute and recognised for their efforts.

Our Strategic Objectives
•

To improve health outcomes

•

To maximise value from our financial resources and focus on interventions that will
make a major difference

•

To build successful partnerships which promote system working and integrated service
delivery

•

To hold providers of commissioned services to account for the quality of services
delivered

•

To effectively engage patients and the public in decision making

•

To ensure continuous improvement in primary care services

The delivery of these strategic objectives has shaped and directed the commissioning
strategies and business of the organisation during 2015/16. As a clinically led organisation it is
the clinicians and other Governing Body members, informed by and working with member
practices and other partners who have then determined the commissioning and investment
strategies, transformational and change programme activities during the year.
2.2 Details of the members of the Governing Body and Staffing
For the year 2015/16 the office of Chair of the CCG has been held by Dr Nadim Fazlani and
the Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) is Katherine Sheerin.
The membership of the Governing Body up to the signing of the Annual Report & Accounts has
been as follows:
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Governing Body Members:
Dr Nadim Fazlani
Professor Maureen Williams
Dr Simon Bowers
Dave Antrobus
Dr Janet Bliss
Moira Cain
Dr Fiona Ogden-Forde
Dr Monica Khuraijam
Tom Jackson
Dr Rosie Kaur
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Jane Lunt
Professor Donal O’Donoghue
Dr Shamin Rose
Katherine Sheerin
Dr Maurice Smith
Co-opted
Members
voting):
Sandra Davies
Cllr Roz Gladden
Dr Paula Finnerty
Dr Tristin Elkin
Dr David Webster
Dr Rob Barnett
Tina Atkins

Chair
Lay Member Governance / Deputy Chair
GP / Clinical Vice Chair
Lay Member Patient Engagement
GP
Practice Nurse
GP (appointed 12th May 2015)
GP (appointed 12th May 2015)
Chief Finance Officer
GP
GP
Head of Quality / Chief Nurse
Secondary Care Doctor
GP
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)
GP

(nonDirector of Public Health, Liverpool City Council
Liverpool City Council Representative
GP North Locality
GP Central Locality
GP Matchworks Locality (resigned 1st February
2016)
Secretary, Liverpool LMC
Practice Manager

Page 44 provides details of the membership of CCG Committees.
The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit information that has been withheld from
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s external auditors, and members of the Governing Body
take all necessary steps to make themselves aware of relevant information and to ensure that
this is passed to the external auditors where appropriate.
The Governing Body (voting / full members) in post at the 31/03/16 comprises of: male 6 and
female 10 members.
The CCG directly employs a total of 153 staff, comprising of 38 male and 115 female. This
number excludes staff seconded from external organisations, agency staff and contractors.
This represents an increase of 36 directly employed staff when compared to the 117 in post for
2014/15. For 2015/16 the CCG employed a total of eight Very Senior Management (VSM)
posts; four of which were male (includes one Governing Body member) and four female
(includes two Governing Body members).
The CCG comprises of 93 GP Member Practices that are organised into three localities (North,
Central and Matchworks (South)), beneath which there are eighteen neighbourhoods. Co-
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terminus with the boundaries of Liverpool City Council, the CCG serves a population of
501,619* and has a budget of £854.9m.
*Latest population estimates from the Office for National Statistics

Population projections suggest the increase will continue in the medium term, with the number
of local residents increasing by a further 6,400 by 2022. By 2021, it is estimated that the
number of people aged over 65 in Liverpool will increase by just over 9%, or 5,700 people.
Projections also indicate there will be a large increase in the number of children in the city by
2021, with the number aged under 15 increasing by 6.8%, or an additional 5,000 people.
Reflecting the diverse recent and past history of our maritime city, figures from the 2011
Census indicate that 15.2% of the Liverpool population are from a minority ethnic group i.e.
non-white British, equating to almost 71,000 residents. This is slightly higher than the regional
average (12.9%), but lower than England (20.2%).
The top 8 ethnic minority groups in Liverpool are:

In November 2015 the CCG relocated its headquarters into new leased premises in the centre
of Liverpool at The Department, 2 Renshaw Street. The new HQ provides additional space for
the CCG, an enhanced work environment for staff, is more efficient to operate and is expected
to realise savings of circa £1m over ten years.
The CCG organisational structure can be illustrated as follows:
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The management of the CCG is structured and delivered around seven ‘directorates’:
•

Chief Nurse & Quality

Primary Care Quality & Improvement

•

Chief Operating Officer

Integrated Commissioning

•

Contracts, Procurement & Business
Intelligence
Healthy Liverpool Programme

•

Finance

•
•

•

In 2015/16 the CCG contracted with the North West Commissioning Support Unit (NWCSU) for
a limited number of commissioning support services which enabled the CCG to deliver its
objectives and day to day operations. These were generally limited to: Business Intelligence
(including data processing); Continuing Healthcare (CHC), Funded Nursing Care and individual
complex packages of care; Emergency Planning support; urgent care system reporting;
Individual Funding Requests (IFR); strategic engagement advice and support. However, during
early 2015 the North West Commissioning Support Unit was unsuccessful in its bid for
accreditation to provide ‘end to end’ support services in its application for inclusion in the CSU
‘Lead Provider Framework’ or ‘LPF’ (the procurement framework established by NHS England
to provide CCGs with a choice of quality assured support services). During the latter stages of
2015/16 and following a procurement process led by NHS England, the CCG announced the
Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit as its commissioning support provider
going forward from 1st March 2016.
2.3 Commissioning landscape.
The CCG is responsible for commissioning the full spectrum of community, mental health and
secondary care services, along with emergency and patient transport ambulance services, GP
out of hours services and the NHS 111 service. The following table highlights hospital,
community and mental health providers whose contract value in 2015/16 exceeded £0.5M in
value.
Provider Type: Acute Hospitals
Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation
Hospitals NHS Trust *
Trust
Liverpool
Women’s
Foundation Trust *

Hospital

NHS Alder Hey Hospital NHS Foundation Trust *

St Helens & Knowsley Teaching Hospitals Liverpool Heart & Chest Hospital NHS
NHS Trust
Foundation Trust *
Southport & Ormskirk Hospitals NHS Trust
Warrington & Halton
Foundation Trust
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Hospitals

Wirral University Teaching Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

NHS Spire Hospital Liverpool, Spire Healthcare
Limited *

The Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust *
Provider Type: Mental Health
Mersey Care NHS Trust *

5 Boroughs Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust

Provider Type: Community Services
Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust *
Provider Type: Other
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust Urgent Care 24 Limited (GP out of hours
(ambulance services and NHS 111)
provider) *
Note: * where Liverpool CCG acts as the co-ordinating commissioner.
The CCG also has delegated commissioning responsibility from NHSE for primary care
medical services for the 93 Practices in the city. Of the latter there are 56 Practices that have a
contract with a value in excess of £0.5M.
The city’s health economy is very complex and full of unique challenges and opportunities.
Residents in Liverpool experience a wide range of poorer health outcomes when compared to
similar cities. Certain parts of the city suffer from significant levels of variation in health
inequalities; not only when compared to different parts of the country but even when compared
to different parts of the city itself. Cancer has now replaced cardiovascular disease as the
leading causes of death in Liverpool and one in five people in the city have a single long term
condition. The prevalence of chronic illnesses such as heart disease, respiratory disease and
cancer increases with age and increases at a faster rate among the most deprived
communities. These are the major challenges for the CCG and for the healthcare system going
forward.
Further details of the city’s health can be found in the Annual Report of the Director of Public
Health, Liverpool City Council available at:
http://liverpool.gov.uk/media/1486467/phar-2015-print-final.pdf
The Liverpool health economy infrastructure consists of a unique mix of eight NHS/Foundation
Trusts (four of which are ‘specialist’ Trusts), all sharing interdependencies and relationships
with neighbourhood health facilities, private acute providers and numerous providers
accredited under ‘any qualified provider’ (AQP). Liverpool is fortunate to have a wealth of
voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) partners and has a diverse market of
nursing, residential home and domiciliary care providers.
The CCG is co-terminus with the Liverpool City Council, with whom we have maintained an
extremely strong, positive and close working relationship with in 2015/16. This crucial strategic
partnership will enable us to ensure that all our health services across all settings of care will
be able to meet the future needs of the city and achieve our ambitions for significant
improvements in health outcomes for the people of Liverpool. Our commitment to joint working
has been reinforced by the introduction in February 2016 of a new joint post of Programme
Director Integrated Commissioning, which brings together CCG and Council commissioning of
services for children, older people, people with mental health problems and those with a
learning disability.
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During the year the CCG has been an active member of the Liverpool Health & Wellbeing
Board. The work of the Board has informed this annual report, including the Accountability
Report and in particular the Corporate Governance Report. The Board has been engaged in a
wide cross section of health and wellbeing activities and the following illustrates that breadth
and some of the key areas considered during 2015/16 meeting cycle:
June 2015:
• Healthy Liverpool Programme update
•
•

Healthwatch Update
Learning Disability Programme Report

July 2015:
• Merseyside Police Partnership Working

•
•
•
•

•

Neighbourhood Intelligence Packs

•

•

Cancer Screening Programmes

•

October 2015:
• Housing and Care Update
• Children & Adolescent mental Health
Services
• Safe sleeping campaign
December 2015:
• Challenges for Mental Health Services
• North West Coast Academic Health
Sciences Network
• Healthy Liverpool Programme /
Wellbeing Strategy alignment
January 2016:
• Governance Structures for Joint
Commissioning
• Liverpool Safeguarding Children Board
Annual Report
• Liverpool Alcohol Strategy 2016-21
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Health Visiting & Family Nurse
Partnership
Performance Report
Long Term Conditions Programme

Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service
Partnership Working
North Mersey Information Sharing
Framework
Community Health Services Update

•
•

Mayoral Education Commission Update
Prevention of excess winter deaths
(addressing cold homes)

•
•

Perinatal Mental Health Pathway
Public Health Annual Report

•

Performance Report

•

Better Care Fund submission 2016/17

•

Health Protection

CASE STUDY
ILINKS Sharing Framework:
We share because we care…
Across Liverpool, Sefton and Knowsley a piece of work has been ongoing to integrate
electronic and digital services to improve communication between health and social care
practitioners. This is known as the ILINKS Sharing Framework. The framework is based on
the guiding principle that when a health and social care team can access the right information,
in the right place, at the right time, the result is safe and effective patient care 24/7.
Whether people are being treated by their GP, in a community-based service or in hospital,
their shared digital care record will be accessible 24/7, with appropriate permissions and
consent. This will save people being asked for information repeatedly, meaning that a person
only has to tell their story once. It will also ensure that individual preferences about
resuscitation, mental capacity and end of life care are understood by all practitioners caring for
them.

INSERT PHOTO HERE

Over the last year, this strategy has made real strides forward, with significant collaborative
work spanning over 20 organisations. The new approach is a joined up system where GPs,
hospitals, and community-based specialists can work and share collectively the information
based around an individual.
The ILINKS Information Sharing Framework has been clinically-led and developed by local
health and social care professionals. Liverpool has led the way nationally in information
sharing; the city will build on these solid foundations by truly integrating electronic health and
social care records at scale.
We’ve produced a short video to explain the benefits to patient care of effective and timely
information sharing, you can view this on our You Tube channel, search ‘Healthy Liverpool’ or
go to : www.youtube.com/watch?v=sD4QiquLZiw
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CASE STUDY
Advice on Prescription
In February 2016 the CCG awarded a new five-year contract to South Liverpool Citizens
Advice Bureau (CAB) to continue to deliver the Advice on Prescription service. The CAB will
continue to work from GP practices across the city, offering expert financial advice and
contributing to the prevention of mental ill health and recovery from mental illness.
The £2.5 million investment enables all Liverpool GPs to refer patients for assistance from
CAB advisors on a range of issues including: housing, homelessness, job loss, complex debt
issues and benefits advice. The service was developed after GPs reported a rise in patients
presenting with problems that had a practical rather than medical cause, reflecting the strong
link between social and economic hardship and poor health.
Dr Nadim Fazlani is a local GP, Clinical lead for Mental Health and Chair at NHS Liverpool
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). He said, “We are delighted to continue to have the
Advice on Prescription service available to the residents of Liverpool. The service is providing
timely access to advice and support for some of the city’s most vulnerable and socially
excluded people. In turn, this intervention is having a positive impact on their health and
wellbeing by reducing hardship, debt levels, social isolation and hospital admissions.”

INSERT PHOTO HERE

Evaluation has highlighted that 80% of all people referred to the scheme suffer from a longterm health condition, 40% live alone, and 75% have an annual income of less than £12,000.
Over the last two years the CAB team have dealt with over 13,000 referrals, and increased
income for local people by a total of £12 million. This income is raised through accessing tax
credits and housing benefit, helping with prescription charges, unclaimed wages and other
health-related benefits.
Caryn Matthews, Chief Executive, South Liverpool CAB, said “The Advice on Prescription
service is an additional treatment option for local doctors. It helps patients who are vulnerable
and struggling to make ends meet. Significantly, we are incredibly pleased that we have
helped some of our most vulnerable local people manage almost £2 million worth of debt. We
are proud to be delivering this exciting health initiative in local communities and look forward to
working with service users and GPs to further develop the service.”
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3

THE PERFORMANCE REPORT
3.1

Overview Summary

This performance report provides from the Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) a perspective on
the performance of the organisation over the reporting period 2015/16.
3.1.1 Purpose and activities of the organisation.
NHS Liverpool CCG is responsible for commissioning health services to meet the needs of
those registered with the city’s 93 general medical practices. 2015/16 has been the third year
of the CCG’s operation and during the year the clinical leadership of the organisation has
continued to develop and be recognised along with other members of the Governing Body as
the leaders of the local health care system.
Over the last twelve months the infrastructure and staffing of the CCG has continued to
develop as the need for new roles and support has been identified, alongside continued
attention to the necessary governance arrangements and other processes that underpin the
commissioning of safe, effective and quality services that meet local needs and allow the CCG
to discharge its statutory role and duties. The move into our new HQ in November 2015 has
significantly enhanced the working environment and facilities for staff and visitors alike, whilst
at the same time reducing costs.
During the year the CCG has met all of the required financial duties placed upon it and ends
the year in a balanced and healthy financial position.
Throughout the year the CCG has sought to work effectively with a wide variety of partners
including member GP Practices and commissioning partners including neighbouring CCGs,
NHS England and Liverpool City Council. This has been achieved through continued
membership and support of the Merseyside CCG Network, joint working with the NHS England
Cheshire & Merseyside Sub Regional Team and a further strengthening of our formal
Partnership Agreement with Liverpool City Council. Equal importance has been placed upon
further developing and sustaining Provider relationships with frequent engagement between
clinicians, Board / Governing Body Members alongside the more formal contract and quality
forums and meetings.
Performance on the whole through 2015/16 has been strong with a continued emphasis upon
a balance between operational delivery, ‘the here and now’ and our drive for transformational
change through the work of the Healthy Liverpool Programme.
A number of significant projects and milestones have been achieved during 2015/16 and these
include the following:
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3.1.2 Key issues and risks
The resources, principle risks and uncertainties and relationships that may affect the
clinical commissioning group’s long-term value
The CCG’s financial position is positive overall and provides a strong and solid foundation on
which to go forward. However the organisation is not complacent and is sighted and mindful of
the challenges and risks ahead, both known and potentially unknown. Similarly the resources
of the organisation go beyond the financial and extend in particular to the clinical leadership of
the CCG, the Governing Body, the involvement and support of member Practices, the
organisations senior management team and staff. Taken as a whole they represent the ‘assets’
of the organisation and the means by which the strategic and operational objectives will be
achieved. Those assets are supported, developed and in part protected by a commitment to
clinical engagement and involvement, good communications, organisational and personal
development and recognition that the organisation is a sum of all of its parts.
Good governance and risk management is an area that the CCG pays particular attention to
and the Governing Body regularly receives, discusses and assesses the Corporate Risk
Register/Assurance Framework as part of their approach and commitment to practising strong
and effective governance and discharging their statutory duties.
The significant risks faced by the CCG can be grouped under a series of headings and are
managed through the overall risk management strategy and processes that are embedded in
the organisation and which are subject to both regular internal and external audit scrutiny and
review.
Strategic Risks –
•

Delivery of commissioned services across the city by providers that improve and
maximise health outcomes; deliver first class quality care; and which are operationally
and financially sustainable: Mitigation – the CCG has embarked upon the next phase of
the Healthy Liverpool Programme with the development and adoption of the Strategic
Direction Case, known as the ‘Blueprint’. This outlines the next stage of the programme
to transform the shape and delivery of services going forward and the health outcomes
for local people.

•

Commissioning of primary care medical services under delegated authority from NHS
England. Mitigation – the CCG has from the 1st April 2015 gone ‘live’ with the scheme
of delegation with NHS England to commission primary care medical services. This is
overseen by the new Primary Care Commissioning Committee that has been formally
established by the Governing Body and which meets in public.

Commercial Risks –
•

Delivery of effective, efficient and value for money commissioning support
services/failure of North West Commissioning Support Service (NWCSU) bid for
accreditation on Lead Provider Framework: Mitigation – the CCG continued to review
service delivery against the contract via formal monthly performance meetings whilst a
Transaction Plan and Mobilisation and Stabilisation Boards were put in place during the
latter part of 2015 with the aim of achieving a smooth Service Transaction to a new
provider (Lancashire & Midlands CSU) from 1st March 2016.
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•

Delivery by NHS England of effective and comprehensive Primary Care Support
Services (PCS) to contractors to support service delivery and patient care: Mitigation –
the CCG Finance Team initially set up payment methods as a contingency to facilitate
payments to local GP practices if required. Principal control measures for this risk
included the creation of the Merseyside Primary Care Finance Transaction Group (a
collaborative arrangement with other Mersey CCGs and NHS England) and an Action
Plan which included within it quantification and risk assessment of the impact of out-ofscope functions. On 1st September 2015, Capita took on responsibility for the delivery of
NHS England’s primary care support services under the name of ‘Primary Care Support
England’ (PCSE).

Operational Risks –
•

Delivery by providers of services in compliance with NHS Constitution
Standards: Mitigation – effective quality surveillance processes are in place, with
Quality Summits held with providers as required and subsequent recovery plans as
appropriate put into place and which are then closely monitored through the quality and
contract management processes.

Financial Risks –
•

Local Health Economy Sustainability - The ability of Providers to continue to maintain
service provision within the available financial envelope: Mitigation – the Chief Finance
Officer and his team will maintain and further develop close working relationships with
key stakeholders across the health economy. Delivery of the Healthy Liverpool
Programme, the CCG strategic plan and the requirements of NHS England in
developing a five year Sustainability and Transformation Plan will be subject to ongoing
financial review.

•

Monitor Pricing Enforcement regarding CHC Care Home Services following a complaint
– Potential of a penalty fine and financial impact of back-dated payments to providers
from 1st April 2014 if complaint upheld: Mitigation – the CCG conducted a
comprehensive review of all CHC payments for care home patients to assess the
financial impact. A ‘Compliance Statement’ was submitted to Monitor which was
accepted and an investigation by Monitor was not deemed necessary.

•

Delegated Commissioning of Primary Care Medical Services - The acceptance of
delegated authority from NHS England carries with it significant financial risks for the
CCG in relation to the funding allocation and existing liabilities. Mitigation – The CCG
signed the Scheme of Delegation with NHS England following assurances from the NHS
England Director of Finance (Cheshire & Merseyside Sub-Regional Team) of the level
of resource made available. The budget was confirmed with the financial allocations
presented to the March 2015 Primary Care Commissioning Committee.

•

Better Care Fund - failure to establish robust governance arrangements around
investments and associated outcomes (including any performance element of the fund)
may adversely impact on the delivery of the objectives of the Better Care Fund.
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Constrained funding in local government may adversely impact on the demand for
health services: Mitigation – Dedicated resource was recruited in year to perform a
mapping exercise across all elements of the Better Care Fund. This work will be
extended in 2016/17 with the development of a Finance sub group which will report to
the Joint Commissioning Group.
3.1.3 Performance summary
The CCG has maintained a robust and consistent focus on performance during the year and
has continued to achieve the majority of the key targets set both nationally and locally during
2015/16; building on the positives of the previous financial year 2014/15 and overseeing
improvements in important areas such as waiting times for cancer treatment, 18 week and 52
week Referral to Treatment (RTT) targets and in mental health measures (percentage of
patients on a Care Programme Approach).
Whilst the overall achievement of these targets in 2015/16 highlights the progress made by the
CCG in relation to patient care, waiting times and performance in other areas continues to
represent a significant challenge.
For the financial year 2015/16 the CCG, like many others areas, has seen significant pressure
upon delivery of the national A&E four hour operational standard of 95% for patients being
seen and discharged within 4 hours. At provider level, delivery against the four hour A&E
standard saw unacceptable levels of variation (and failures) in performance throughout the
financial year; although this was generally reflective of many major A&E departments across
the country during 2015/16. The CCG has sought to work with all stakeholders, NHSE and
Regulators to understand the drivers behind this disappointing performance and to look ahead
as to how sustainable improvements in performance can be made.
CCG performance against Mixed Sex Accommodation Breaches was also rated as ‘Red’ with a
total of 11 breaches reported by Trusts up to the end of February 2016 (the most recently
available data at the time of this report) against the national ‘zero tolerance’ of Mixed Sex
Accommodation breaches. Although this represents a significant reduction compared to the
total of 32 breaches in 2014/15, it is against a national ‘zero tolerance’ and we have worked
closely with Liverpool Heart & Chest Hospital (the principle provider concerned) to ensure that
improvements in internal processes and physical changes to critical care accommodation were
implemented where possible to eliminate these breaches. The breaches primarily occurred as
a consequence of critical clinical care being prioritised in the best interests of the patient and
their immediate needs.
The incidence of health care acquired infections has also been challenging for the CCG in
2015/16. Incidents of MRSA carry a ‘zero tolerance’ and up to the end of February 2016 a total
of 9 cases had been reported relating to Liverpool patients. This is a very similar position to
2014/15 where 10 cases had been reported up to February 2015 and the eventual year-end
total of 11. Incidence of C.difficile (CDI) across the local health economy has also increased,
with the CCG exceeding the Annual Plan trajectory of 138 cases set for the city (142 were
reported up to the end of February 2016).
The CCG has continued to work closely with all providers to identify themes and trends using
the ‘Post Infection Review’ mechanism; an extremely effective method for identifying and
analysing infection control gaps and/or lapses of care. The CCG is also developing an
‘Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy’ in collaboration with Liverpool general practices,
microbiologists and other key stakeholders which will help shape the local health economy
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response to the rise in resistant strains of micro-organisms and bacteria. The Governing Body
has continued to receive monthly updates which highlight CCG and individual provider
performance against all key healthcare acquired infection targets and assurances on actions
completed or underway to remedy poor performance and mitigate risks.
Performance against the IAPT standards in mental health has through the year been
disappointing following the commencement of the new Talk Liverpool service in April 2015
following an external procurement exercise. The new provider of the service has struggled to
clear a backlog waiting list from the previous service and bring waiting times in line with the
national target. The CCG has issued the provider Mersey Care NHS Trust with a Performance
Notice under the contract and has imposed contract sanctions as a result of their continued
under-performance. A jointly agreed remedial action plan is in place and there has been some
improvement seen towards the end of the year which it is expected will continue on into
2016/17 and see the performance targets met.
A final area of significant challenge has been the delivery of assessments and speech &
language therapy to children by Liverpool Community NHS Trust who suspended referrals into
the service in October 2015 as a consequence of a previously unidentified and lengthening
waiting list. The scale of the problem was quickly assessed by the CCG commissioning team
and significant additional resources of £0.5M found to commission additional capacity through
the Trust recruitment of additional therapists and commissioning of additional specialist
capacity from a national provider. Here the intention was to eliminate the backlog of patients
waiting for assessment or treatment to commence, reopen access to the service for new
referrals and bring the waiting times back to an acceptable and manageable level during
2016/17 as a sustainable longer term service model is determined and if necessary
commissioned.
The Governing Body receives monthly updates which highlight CCG and individual provider
performance against all key healthcare acquired infection targets and assurances on actions
completed or underway to remedy poor performance and mitigate risks.
Throughout the year the CCG has worked collaboratively with public health colleagues in the
city council to better understand the overall health status of the city’s population; culminating in
the development of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), Health & Wellbeing
Strategy and joint commissioning priorities.
3.2 Performance analysis
As already outlined the CCG Governing Body receives a comprehensive monthly performance
report, which is supplemented on a quarterly basis with a profile of progress against key
outcomes measures and benchmarking of Liverpool’s performance against other ‘Core Cities’.
The performance report has continued to develop and evolve though the year, informed by
changes in national and local reporting and the needs expressed by Governing Body members
themselves. As well as reporting and presenting activity and performance information the
reports have evolved to include as required an expanded commentary where performance in a
particular area has fallen below a planned trajectory or otherwise deviated from plan. This
‘intelligent’ reporting beyond mere data makes an important contribution to the learning and
appreciation of performance by the Governing Body members and contributes to strengthening
their critical assurance role.
Governing Body papers including this regular performance report are published on the CCG
website and can be found at:
http://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body-meetings/2015/ for 2015 and at
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http://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body-meetings/2016/ for 2016.
A copy of the latest available set of CCG level performance indicators can be found below.
This report shows performance up to the end of February 2016 (final year end data was
unfortunately not fully available in time to meet the audit and publication deadlines for this
annual report and accounts. The most recent performance data and reports can however be
found on the CCG website, address as above).
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Metric

Frequency
of
Reporting

2015-16
Q1
Apr

May

Q2
Jun

Jul

Aug

Q4

Q3
Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

YTD
Mar

Preventing People from Dying Prematurely

3.3 Performance Measures.
The performance of the CCG is informed and influenced by a variety of relationships and key
partnerships. Chief amongst these are the following:
•

Member Practices: the CCG has in place a locality structure with three localities
(North, Central and Matchworks) that provide via their locality Chairs and Lead GPs
direct input into the Governing Body, supported by regular locality meetings. The
localities themselves are currently underpinned by eighteen neighbourhoods that
provide a direct link into member Practices. It has been agreed that the eighteen
neighbourhoods should be realigned to twelve in order to effectively deliver the Healthy
Liverpool Community Model At least twice a year all member Practices are brought
together for city wide development and engagement events, with local events
happening throughout the year at a locality or neighbourhood level.
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•

Other Commissioners: the CCG is an active participant in and supporter of the
Merseyside CCG Network that provides a valuable forum for Chief Officers, Chairs and
Chief Finance Officers to meet monthly and discuss matters of common interest and
concern, recommending actions or interventions to Governing Bodies. Specific
collaborative commissioning arrangements are in place for key Trusts and services
which deliver services across multiple CCG boundaries and populations. Examples of
the latter include the Collaborative Commissioning Forum around Aintree University
Hospital and the wider North West arrangements effecting the commissioning of
ambulance services and NHS 111. The CCG has continued to also build a strong
relationship with the NHS England Cheshire & Merseyside Sub Regional Team,
including specialist services commissioners. The latter in particular is an important
relationship for the CCG as the investment in specialist services and Trusts in the city is
significant and a close working relationship and understanding between the
commissioners is essential.

•

Local residents and patients: city wide engagement events provide the opportunity for
strategic input and engagement. Individual clinical programmes benefit from patient and
public involvement in the service design and procurement of new or changed services.
Liverpool Healthwatch is also invited to attend and participate in formal meetings of the
Governing Body. Individual member Practice Patient Participation Groups are also
encouraged and supported, with the majority of Practices in the city having PPGs
established and operational, which link into Patient Forums at a locality level.

•

Local Authority: effective relations with Liverpool City Council are critical to the
delivery of health services and health improvements across the city. At the strategic
level the Governing Body welcomes the Deputy Mayor Councillor Roz Gladden and the
Director of Public Health to meetings of the Governing Body, with the Director of Adult
Social Care also in attendance. The CCG also continues to fully support the work of the
Mayoral Health Commission and participate in the Health & Wellbeing Board and
associated Joint Commissioning Group. The latter brings together CCG and local
authority colleagues to deliver the work of the Health & Wellbeing Board. The
importance of this relationship is evidenced by the commitment of the CCG to the
‘Better Care Fund’ and continuance and expansion of our formal Partnership Agreement
(Section 75) between the Council and CCG and the further development of our joint
approach to personalised health budgets.
During the year the CCG has consistently attended meetings of the City Council Social
Care and Health Select Committee and provided the Committee with updates and
progress reports on key actions and activities, including the Healthy Liverpool
Programme. The Select Committee during the year has received and considered reports
on a wide variety of areas including residential and nursing home fees, The Care Act
implementation, military veterans support, winter resilience, children and adult
safeguarding, neighbourhood and locality working.
Service Providers: the development of relationships with providers across the city is
led by the clinical programme and locality leads from the Governing Body that are
‘attached’ to specific Trusts. This emphasis upon direct engagement by clinical leaders
has set the CCG apart from previous approaches and led to the development of a more
direct, open and transparent relationship. Regular quality and contracting meetings with
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providers are supplemented by more strategic meetings between members of the
Governing Body and individual Trust Executive teams.
3.3.1 Financial Performance
The CCG financial strategy creates an environment through the Healthy Liverpool Programme
to facilitate the delivery of a clinically and financially sustainable health economy for Liverpool
going forward. As economic pressures on the NHS become even tougher the solid financial
foundations laid down since inception of the CCG will be increasingly affected by pressures
facing local providers from both the national and local context.
Strong financial management is critical to the success of the Health Liverpool programme and
Better Care Fund requirements. Continued financial sustainability will enable the delivery of
major change programmes which will be key to our success in driving change and fundamental
to our forward plans and our future success.
The progress made in the year can be categorised into three key areas:
 Transactional
 Transitional
 Transformational
Transactional – During 2015/16 the CCG has continued to maintain the strong control
environment developed over the first two years of operation. Continued focus on sustaining
robust financial reporting, financial processes and policies has enabled us to deliver our
statutory financial duties.
Liverpool CCG has achieved all of its statutory financial duties:
Summary Financial Performance 2015-16 - Duties

Duty
Achieved

Expenditure
Ensure its expenditure does not exceed the aggregate of its
allocations for the financial year



Use of Resources
Ensure its use of resources (both its capital resource use and
revenue resource use) does not exceed the amount specified by
NHS England for the financial year



Additional Controls on Resource Usage
Take account of any directions issued by the NHS England, in
respect of specified types of resource use in a financial year, to
ensure the CCG does not exceed an amount specified by NHSE



Surplus
Ensure that the CCG retains planned and agreed surplus during
the year
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In addition, the CCG:
•

Delivered an above requirement surplus of 1.68%

•

Invested over £16m non recurrently

•

Continued to work with Liverpool City Council around arrangements for the Better Care
Fund and Personal Health Budget initiatives.

Summary Financial Performance:

Programme
Running Cost Allowance
Total

2015/16
Allocation Expenditure
£'000
£'000
843,934
829,888
10,961
10,580
854,895
840,468

2014/15
Allocation Expenditure
£'000
£'000
751,222
734,288
12,589
11,307
763,811
745,595

14,427

18,216

Surplus for the year

The financial statements are detailed from page 77.
An analysis of expenditure for the financial year is shown in the charts below:

LCCG – Summary Position 2015/16:
The following graph provides a comparative summary analysis of expenditure for 2014/15 v
2015/16:

LCCG Summary - 14/15 v 15/16
Acute
Primary Care
Community Health Services
Mental Health
Area

Continuing Care

15/16 Surplus
Running Costs
Other
Continuing Care
Mental Health
Community Health Services
Primary Care
Acute

Other
Running Costs
15/16 Surplus
£0m
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£50m

14/15 Total
(£'000)
18,216
11,418
25,285
27,423
79,239
80,031
108,633
441,984

15/16 Total
(£'000)
14,427
10,579
26,570
31,688
80,024
90,598
179,707
421,300

£100m £150m £200m £250m £300m £350m £400m £450m

The following presents an analysis of spend by area:

LCCG Spend by Area
Total
Spend

Area
Acute
Community Health Services
Continuing Care
Mental Health
Other
Primary Care
Running Costs

The following presents an analysis by provider:

LCCG Provider Spend
5%

3%

3% 2%

6%
35%

6%
13%
13%
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14%

Amount £'000
421,300
90,598
31,688
80,024
26,570
179,707
10,579

Provider
Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen
University Hospitals NHST
Liverpool Community Health NHST
Aintree University Hospitals NHS FT
Mersey Care NHST
Liverpool Women's Hospital NHS FT

Amount
£'000
208,356
80,534
78,410
74,292
38,068

Alder Hey Children's Hospital NHS FT

27,892

North West Ambulance Service NHST

20,591

St Helens/Knowsley Teaching
Hospitals NHST
Spire Healthcare Ltd
Liverpool City Council

18,540
12,184
35,397

Transitional - During 2015/16 the CCG has continued to develop partnership working across
the local health economy, Liverpool City Council and NHS England through formal and
informal methods including collaborative commissioning groups, pooled budgeting and various
working groups and initiatives. Work has begun on establishing arrangements for the
development of robust Sustainability and Transformation plans and this will continue in
2016/17.
Systems and processes have been developed in year to effectively deal with delegated cocommissioning of Primary Care Medical Services. Joint working arrangements have been
established between the CCG and NHS England around financial transactions and reporting.
A range of legacy issues were inherited within the current commissioning landscape from
predecessor organisations and structures. Although diminishing in total a number of continuing
health care (CHC) restitution cases have continued to require attention and action to resolve.
In year, arrangements were in place for the North West Commissioning Support Unit to act on
behalf of the CCG to expedite these matters to conclusion. Services for CHC were transferred
to the Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit with effect from 1st March 2016.
We will continue to work closely with the CSU to resolve outstanding issues.
Joint governance and delivery systems have been established to oversee the delivery of the
Better Care Fund programme under the leadership of the Health and Wellbeing Board. This
includes the recent development of a joint Finance Sub Group to:
•
•

Support the Joint Commissioning Group in the development of BCF operational and
supporting financial plans; including the determination of partner contributions to the
BCF programme and monitor of expenditure.
Support service leads in the monitoring of success of the BCF – including delivery
against key national and local performance metrics and other conditions that may
impact upon the allocation of BCF funding.
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During the year the finance team have continued to develop, building on the progress made in
the first two years of operation of the CCG. The team are committed to ensuring that services
provided are of the highest standard and in providing assurance to the CCG and Governing
Body. This has been externally recognised. The team were awarded the Finance Skills
Development North West - Towards Excellence - Level 1 Accreditation in October 2013, Level
2 Accreditation in December 2014 and are working towards Level 3 requirements.
Transformational - Our Strategic Financial Objectives going forward can be summarised as
follows:
•

To support delivery of the outcome focused Healthy Liverpool Programme.

•

To ensure that the Liverpool Health Economy is clinically and financially sustainable in 5
years’ time.

•

To create an environment and platform for transformation.

•

To enable a minimum of 10% of the CCG’s allocation to be invested in new ways of
working.

•

To support credible and deliverable planning.

•

To deliver the CCG’s financial duties.

We will continue to embed the transactional work streams, provide assurance and focus on the
transformational programme going forward. More than ever, the whole organisation needs to
ensure that CCG resources are used effectively to ensure delivery of the very best outcomes
and value and meet the objectives of the Healthy Liverpool Programme.
Mature financial management is essential to achieving the strategic financial objectives. The
Finance team members are key enablers to support the change process, business
transformation and the development of new delivery models. Consequently, there is a strong
focus on team development and training to ensure the team are “fit for purpose”. Active
involvement at all levels in the local health economy and participation in national initiatives,
working groups and forums provide opportunities to learn from others, to influence nationally
and use these experiences to support the achievement of the CCG financial strategy.
Examples include:
•

Participation in the Healthcare Financial Management Association (HFMA), Finance
Skills Development Network (FSD), and the NHS North West Student Forum.

•

Members of the team are actively involved in the Future Focussed Finance (FFF)
initiative, presenting at the HFMA National Conference in December 2015. A number
of the team have taken part in training to become FFF – Finance Educators and we
have two FFF value makers within the team.

•

The CCG was one of two national pilot sites funded by Future Focused Finance (FFF)
to trial the Decision Effectiveness Toolkit developed by the Best Possible Value FFF
Work stream with Bain & Co. The pilot was extremely successful and LCCG staff have
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helped to publicise the toolkit across the Country, encouraging other organisations to
try the toolkit. The team have presented at FFF road shows; North West Director of
Finance – Contact Conference; NHSE Chief Nursing Officers Conference; HFMA value
masterclasses and HFMA North West Conference.
•

The team has been actively contributing to articles published by CIPFA, HFMA and
Monitor.

Celebration of Success
During the year in addition to celebrating exam successes, the Finance team have received
external recognition as follows:
•

In October 2015 the Finance team won the Finance Skills Development North West Brian McNaught Award for the “Show Me the Money” training programme. The award is
given in recognition of the significant contribution made by an individual or a team within
the Finance function to staff development.
The “Show Me the Money” training event aims to increase knowledge and
understanding of finance across the organisation in a relaxed and enjoyable
environment. This initiative has been widely shared across other organisations
nationally. In addition, the team have presented at Healthcare Financial Management
Association and FFF Finance educator events nationally.

•

A member of the team was runner up to the HFMA North West – Sue Rosson Prize for
Outstanding Contribution – in October 2015.

•

In December 2015 the Finance team won the Havelock training award at the Healthcare
Financial Management Association Awards. The prestigious annual awards celebrate
excellence in financial departments across the NHS. The Havelock training award
recognises a contribution to finance skills development, best practice in the training of
finance staff or the raising of financial awareness among non-finance staff.

•

Also in December at the HFMA National Conference 2015, the Chief Finance Officer
was shortlisted for the HFMA - Director of Finance of the year award. One of the team
was also shortlisted for the HFMA FFF award 2015.

The further development of the critically important Healthy Liverpool Programme has
significantly enhanced and strengthened the involvement of providers across the city, the City
Council and other commissioners (in particular NHS England) in working with the CCG to
shape and direct the future direction for health services across Liverpool.
The future health, economic and delivery climate in the city like many others is faced with a
variety of challenges and uncertainty looking forward into the years ahead. Liverpool CCG is
however confident that is has put into place the structures, clinical leadership, systems,
process, alliances and forward planning that means it is best placed to rise to these future
challenges in both a proactive and reactive manner as they occur.
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3.3.2 CCG Assurance Framework
During 2015/16 the revised CCG Assurance Framework was introduced and has provided
NHS England the flexibility to focus resources where it is most required, to identify potential
problems at an earlier stage and to act on them more quickly. Unlike in previous years the
assurance process does not rely on fixed point reviews. A wide range of insight is available to
NHS England at different points during the year, some of which is highlighted in this report and
NHS England can request further information and discuss specific issues with the relevant
CCG team outside of its scheduled assurance cycle.
As a consequence of the timing of the required annual report submissions the NHSE led CCG
assurance process for 2015/16 is not yet complete and therefore the final outcome is
unavailable for this report. The following commentary reflects the position of Liverpool CCG’s
performance as assessed against the following five components of the CCG Assurance
Framework from the most recent 2 assurance checkpoint with NHSE (Quarter 2):
•

Well Led Organisation – The CCG was recognised as having a strong stable
leadership team.

•

Performance (delivery of commitments and improved outcomes) - The CCG was
meeting the majority of its commitments (at Quarter 2) and demonstrating improved
outcomes against a number of areas. Urgent and Emergency Care remained a
challenge (although this was consistent with the picture across the majority of England);

•

Financial Management - The CCG was assessed as being in a good financial position
and delivering its Business Rules commitment;

•

Planning - Liverpool CCG continues its focus on the delivery of Healthy Liverpool and
its Transformation Projects whilst maintaining annual operational plans and longer term
strategic plans in line with the Planning Guidance;

•

Delegated Functions - Specific additional assurances are required from CCGs which
have taken responsibility for delegated functions. During the first two quarters of
2015/16 no significant issues were highlighted, although an annual review of the CCG’s
assurance in relation to delegated functions will be presented to NHS England as part of
the Quarter 4 review

The final assurance assessment of the CCG will be made publically available via the CCG
website in early 2016/17 once the NHSE process is completed.
3.3.3 Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund (BCF) between Liverpool CCG and Liverpool City Council is designed to
support the transformation of local services to ensure that people receive better and crucially
more integrated care and support. For 2015/16 the BCF fund was increased by a further
investment of £8.4m to a total of £64.1m. The increased investment related to updates in
forecast activity against jointly funded individual package of support, the inclusion of The Care
Act funding from the Department of Health received via the CCG and some changes to LCC
reserves.
The BCF is made up of the three core programmes self care & prevention, healthy ageing and
mental health transformation. During 2015/16 progress was made across all three programmes
with particular scheme progress illustrated as follows:
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Self Care & Prevention:
•
•
•

Expansion of community access to sports facilities in ten schools across the city
Launch of the ‘This Girl Can’ website and the accompanying plans and activities to
promote more women to become physically active
The ‘Drink less, enjoy more’ campaign launched in October 2015 saw a shift in
behavioural change, evidenced by reduced drunkenness in the city centre and more
responsible sales of alcohol in city centre bars and clubs.

Healthy Ageing:
•
•
•

Investment in three reablement hubs across the city, supporting people to maximise
their ‘recovery’ and reduce dependency upon intensive long term packages of care
The introduction of Black and Minority Ethnic Dementia Champions to target increased
diagnosis and support in ‘hard to reach’ communities in the city
Development of a robust quality and capability framework to improve the care provided
in residential care homes, including a new model of clinical support.

Mental Health Transformation:
•
•
•

Procurement of ‘Advice on Prescription’ and new five year contract with the CAB.
Opening of ‘Clock View’ a new inpatient and assessment unit including a Section 126
suite for the north of the city.
Introduction of Primary Care Mental Health Liaison Workers.

A great deal of work has taken place over the last year in relation to commissioning new
services, trialling services and planning for new or different ways of working across the health
and social care system, with much still to do.
3.3.4 Friends & Families Test
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a single question survey which asks patients whether
they would recommend the NHS service they have received to friends and family who need
similar treatment or care. It was initially rolled out for providers of NHS funded acute services
for inpatients (including independent sector organisations that provide acute NHS services)
and patients discharged from A&E (type 1 & 2) from April 2013. Since it was initially launched
in April 2013, the FFT has been rolled out in phases to most NHS funded services in England,
giving patients the opportunity to leave feedback on their care and treatment.
In previous years, NHS England proposed that all providers should achieve a 15% response
rate for all FFT surveys. In 2015/16 the target was dropped as a standard and this is likely to
be the reason why in Liverpool and across the country there has been a reduction in response
rates, although for the majority of services the response rates in the city are above the England
average. Results across the city can be summarised as follows:
Staffing: There has been an increase in the percentage of staff who would recommend their
provider as a place to work during in February 2016 compared to February 2015 and the
average score across all providers’ remains above the England average. The percentage of
staff who would recommend the provider as a place to receive treatment also increased during
the latest period with rates now above the England average.
Accident & Emergency: Across Liverpool, in February 2016, there was a small reduction in
the percentage of patients who would recommend A&E services as a place to receive care
(from 88% to 82.3%) and an increase in the percentage of respondents who would not

PAGE 33

recommend the A&E service (from 7% to 12%) compared to February 2015. It is likely that this
reduction is reflective of the challenging performance seen in departments, particularly in the
second half of the year.
Inpatients: On average 96% of respondents would recommend a Liverpool provider as a
place to receive inpatient care, which is a similar rate to the previous year and in line with
England average.
Maternity Due to a very low number of responses it’s not possible to analyse two out of the
four maternity questions in February 2016. On average during 2015/16 the lowest
recommendation scores across maternity services has been reported within post natal
community provision, whilst the highest recommendation rates have been reported for
antenatal care.
Outpatients: On average (across all providers) Liverpool reports a higher response rate
compared to the England average. Despite reporting a lower recommendation rate than the
England average in February 2016, the proportion of respondents stating they would not
recommend outpatient services remains below the England Average.
Community: for community services the Liverpool service provider has demonstrated an
increased response rate above the England average and a rate of patient satisfaction that at
97% is similarly higher, although locally 1% less than the previous year.
Mental Health: here we see a slight fall in both the response rate and also patient satisfaction,
although the number who would not recommend the service remains in a positive position
compared to the England Average.
Primary Care (GPs): for GPs the response rate has remained static, the percentage of
patients who would recommend their general practice to friends and family in Liverpool is in
line with the England average.
Taken as a whole the FFT results in February 2016 compared to February 2015 are broadly
positive and reflect a good level of staff and patient satisfaction / recommendation of local
services.
3.3.5 Outcomes Framework and Local Indicators
As described in 3.2 (Performance Analysis) The CCG has continued to develop performance
reporting throughout 2015/16 in order to monitor and measure service from our local hospitals,
community services and mental health trust(s) against a number of national outcomes
indicators in key areas such as A&E, Referral to Treatment, cancer services and the new
mental health access standards; ensuring patients’ rights within the NHS Constitution are
maintained. The table presented in 3.2 provides a summary of CCG performance against NHS
Constitutional indicators up to and including March 2016 (where data was available at the time
of completing this report)..
3.4 Sustainable development
NHS Liverpool CCG has continued to make strides in improving its sustainability planning this
year, building upon the previous approval by the Governing Body of the organisation’s first
Social Value and Sustainability Strategy and Action Plan. Building Social Value for us means
using our position and responsibilities to increase the social, economic and environmental
wellbeing of the people we serve. As these areas form the fundamental principles of
sustainable development as well, our strategy brings together our obligations to set out a
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Sustainable Development Management Plan and not just comply with The Public Services
(Social Value) Act 2012 but to place the approach at the centre of our thinking and policy,
commissioning and practice. This is to ensure the way the CCG invests and acts achieves
maximum benefit to the population we serve now and in the future.
We recognise that as a commissioning organisation rather than a provider of services, most of
our carbon footprint derives from commissioning health and care services (89%) and from the
procurement of other services (11%). Our direct resources used through transport, travel and
electricity are negligible compared to the resources used through the services we commission,
predominantly through our main providers. Our priority therefore is to work in partnership with
our main providers to improve their performance and to minimise the harm and maximise the
positive gain that can be made to health from the way our providers operate.
The following represent key achievements in 2015/16 since the introduction of the strategy:•

Agreements have been reached with the main provider trusts for The Living Wage
Foundation Living Wage to be paid to all directly employed NHS staff from April 2016
and this is included within contracts.

•

Social value has been included as a key requirement in tender documentation and
specifications for services, ensuring NHS Liverpool CCG is maximising the influence it
can achieve as a commissioner.

•

Work has progressed on developing a social model of health to enable achievement of
improved health outcomes

•

The first year of a community health development programme was completed with 64
organisations involved and significant benefits in improving wellbeing, building
community relations and community capacity for health improvement. The second year
of the programme with is now underway with 56 partner organisations involved.

•

A new approach to community engagement has been successfully introduced ensuring
involvement of diverse communities in development of health services with significant
benefits for addressing health inequalities, and delivering significant social value in
terms of employment, volunteering and building community capacity for health
improvement.

•

A new programme for volunteers to engage in the work of NHS Liverpool CCG has
been successfully introduced with strong social value outcomes.

In November 2015 we relocated our office base in the city into refurbished accommodation that
was previously part of a large department store in the city centre. The conversion was carried
out to meet the BREEAM “very good” standards, achieving the NHS requirements for
refurbished buildings. The design and construction of the new CCG HQ has been conducted in
accordance with the latest Building Regulations requirements and what is considered good
industry practice in relation to energy consumption, material selection and waste management.
Our choice of premises was informed by extensive engagement with our staff and the location
chosen provides convenient access to rail and bus transport, which is used by over a quarter
of our staff routinely.
The conversion of the top two floors of the former department store has included the following
specific actions:
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•

Provision is made for cyclists by way of cycle storage and changing facilities,
including showers, to encourage use of sustainable transport.

•

The hot and cold water demands of the new HQ building are complete with flow
restrictors to reduce water consumption.

•

The heating and cooling of the Office spaces is achieved via four-pipe fan coil units
with 2 port pressure independent control valves to reduce energy consumption.

•

High efficiency, low energy LED lighting is provided in conjunction with a lighting
controls system complete with presence (PIR)/absence detection and daylight
harvesting to reduce energy consumption.

•

Materials used have been subject to scrutiny to ensure they are sustainably sourced,
where possible and recyclable when removed.

•

Facilities are provided for on-site recycling of waste (100% of paper & card and 46%
of mixed waste are recycled)

•

The building is fully accessible to disabled employees and visitors.

The ‘estate’ figures described here represent our occupation of the former HQ premises at
Arthouse Square for eight months of 2015/16 and are part year consumption only. Data
relating to the new HQ was unavailable at the time of compiling this report.
 391,100 kWh of electricity were used at a cost of £18,500 generating approximately
224.3 tonnes of CO2e #
 More than 29,000 tCo2e were generated from the pharmaceuticals used by
commissioned services (including General Practice) *
 More than 250,000 tCo2e are produced by the providers of NHS care to local residents
through our commissioning activity *
 Since we moved premises, 46% of mixed waste is recycled, the balance incinerated for
energy production
Source: # data provided from NHS Property Services (water consumption data not available); *Derived from
an analysis of financial spend through the NHS Sustainability Unit.

Liverpool CCG encourages employees to travel via public transport in the form of offering to
purchase an annual train or bus pass. These are purchased by the CCG and paid back by the
employee over the 12 months of use. Currently 12% of staff have an annual train/bus ticket
using this method. In total, 31% of employees travel to work via public transport.
We also offer employees the opportunity to purchase a bike through the national cycle scheme
whereby an employee can purchase a bike up to the value of £1000 and pay the costs back
over 12 months. In total 6% of staff cycle or walk to work. In addition the CCG has purchased a
number of passes for the Liverpool City Council run “CitiBike” scheme where staff can use
bikes to travel around the city when travelling to meetings.
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In 2015/16 the CCG spent the following on travel:
Business Travel
Mileage – cost
Mileage - Use (km)
Rail – cost
Rail (km)
Air – cost
Air - Short Haul
(km)

2015/16
2014/15
£ 26,968 £ 17,252
77,428
51,415
£ 36,584 £ 33,598
160,496
128,404
£ 3,935 £ 3,084
18,294

18,668

The Climate Change Act 2008 set legally binding targets for the UK to reduce carbon
emissions by 80% by 2050. The NHS is a significant emitter of carbon emissions and through
the National Sustainability strategy is committed to reducing CO2e by 34% by 2020. NHS
Liverpool CCG, through its Social Value Sustainability Strategy implementation is working to
reduce its carbon emissions and those of its providers to support this national goal.
As part of the national requirements to plan for ‘adaptation’ required to meet the likely climate
change challenges ahead the CCG has through the Emergency Preparedness and Resilience
agenda ensured that plans are cognisant of these risks and make provision for mitigating
action as required.
The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires public bodies to consider how they can
increase social value and NHS Liverpool CCG is going above and beyond the requirements of
the legislation through its Social Value Strategy implementation.
3.5 Patient and public involvement
To consult with and involve the public – the CCG recognises the importance of effective
engagement, involvement and when required consultation with local people. To that end one of
the Lay members on the Governing Body has formal responsibility for the oversight and if
required challenge to the approach to involvement and engagement being taken by the
organisation. In addition Liverpool Healthwatch has a formal and monthly invitation to attend
meetings of the Governing Body, providing the opportunity for transparency and a further
scrutiny of our approach.
Members of the public are also welcomed to attend the monthly formal meetings of the
Governing Body and are provided with the opportunity to question Governing Body members
and officers. This ‘open’ question session for members of the public at the end of the formal
business agenda, is well received and has provided an opportunity for a number of issues and
concerns to be highlighted which Governing Body members and/or officers have responded to.
Our ongoing commitment to strong and effective patient and public engagement and
involvement was boosted in October 2015 when the Governing Body adopted updated and
strengthened arrangements to oversee activities and importantly support the discharge of our
statutory responsibilities and obligations including The Equality Act 2010 and the public sector
Equality Duty. In particular the role of the Patient and Public Engagement and Experience
Group has been extended to include the assessment of proposals for quality and risk at the
beginning of any engagement exercise and not just receive the outcomes at the end of any
such process. During 2015/16 Liverpool CCG also subscribed to Patient Opinion, making the
Liverpool Health economy the first in the country to be signed up to receive patient experience
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in this co-ordinated way. This will be a key building block in the overall patient experience
assessment process currently being devised. Feedback from public engagement will also
continue to contribute to this wider picture alongside complaints and other key intelligence
sources.
The CCG has developed a comprehensive approach to involving members of the public and
patients in decisions and service development. Implementing our ‘Engagement Delivery Plan’
consists of multiple layers of opportunities for people to participate, which for 2015/16 has
included:
•

Major engagement regarding the Healthy Liverpool Programme undertaken during the
summer of 2015
New web portal launched to facilitate improved on line engagement opportunities;
Service specific engagements undertaken regarding:- Veterans services
- Dermatology
- Homeopathy
- Alcohol
- Glaucoma
- Shared decision making
- Musculoskeletal (MSK) and pain services

•
•

Our approach to engaging voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) partners has
also been successfully expanded; delivering both increased feedback from groups less likely to
participate as well as providing significant social value and community health development
outcomes.
In addition to these opportunities, the ‘Participation Programme’ was launched during 2015/16
inviting individuals to become more involved in the work of the CCG. Since its launch, the
Participation Programme has already seen:
•
•
•
•
•

People contribute to a new lung health community engagement programme;
Input into service redesign processes;
Input into service specifications;
Input into tender/procurement processes;
Input into engagement planning processes

During June to August 2015 as mentioned above the CCG undertook a far ranging public
engagement exercise regarding the case for change and principles of the Healthy Liverpool
Programme. A variety of techniques were used including online discussions and the use of
video, surveys and community led discussions facilitated through fifteen of the community
organisations accredited by the CCG and a series of sixty roadshows across the city. The
exercise was underpinned by the launch of the CCG online engagement platform that
generated significant feedback and was well received across the community. In total 487
people contributed their views via the online tool and 1,420 actively downloaded information
which was translated into eleven languages and formats. A further 2,566 surveys were
returned and nearly a thousand people attended the city wide roadshows.
From the exercise we were able to glean a valuable insight into the views of local people as
the Healthy Liverpool Programme develops, the areas that mattered most to people and high
level support for the programme’s aims and objectives. Subsequently this early engagement
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helped shape and direct the form of the next phase of the Healthy Liverpool engagement
activities on programme proposals and services which commenced in January 2016 and which
will be reviewed and reported on in the first quarter of 2016/17.
3.6 Reducing inequality
Tackling inequalities is at the heart of Liverpool CCG’s core values; ensuring that ‘everyone
counts’ and that we commission services fairly and inclusively and with no community or group
left behind in the improvements that will be made to health outcomes across the city, This is
particularly important in light of the challenges the NHS face as outlined in the Five Year
Forward View. Reducing inequalities has been at the centre of the Healthy Liverpool
Programme and we have sought throughout the year to raise both an awareness but more
importantly an understanding of the inequalities across the city and to ensure that development
and investment plans take full account of the need to impact upon those inequalities.
The Equality Act 2010 further requires us to meet our Public Sector Equality Duty across a
range of protected groups including age, gender, race, sex, sexual orientation, religion/belief,
gender identity, marital/civil partnership status and pregnancy/maternity status. During the year
we have continued our programme of activities to raise and enhance staff awareness of this
duty and the steps necessary to ensure that our development and commissioning of services
meets these requirements.

TO BE SIGNED

Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
XXXX 2016
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CASE STUDY
Community Specialist Paramedic
Delivering the right care in the right place….
Bringing care closer to home, in the community, is a key objective of Healthy Liverpool and the
North West Ambulance Service (NWAS) Community Specialist Paramedic (CSP) delivers care
right where it is needed at the heart of the community. The first of its kind in the UK, NWAS
has developed the CSP role, whereby individual clinicians will work more closely with
communities they serve and help deliver more locally co-designed models of care.
The CSP model launched in September 2015 as a pilot in Aintree and is co-located in the
Aintree Park Group GP Practice. The introduction of the Community Specialist Paramedic
provides additional capacity, and allows relationships to be established with patients, the public
and other provider organisations, to create a more integrated and patient-centered approach.
The aim of the Community Specialist Paramedic is:
o To improve the health and experience of patients
o Provide safe care delivered closer to home
o Reduce 999 demand and unplanned hospital admissions
The local Community Specialist Paramedic visits patients identified by the practice clinicians.
They have the ability to upscale patients to doctors, if necessary, and downscale to other
services in the community where appropriate.

INSERT PHOTO HERE

Dr Fiona Lemmens, Local GP and CCG Clinical Lead for Urgent and Emergency Care said,
“The Community Specialist Paramedic has a 60% stay at home rate. This means that 60% of
the patients they see are seen and treated within their homes with no need for an onward
referral or transport to hospital. This in turn reduces hospital admissions and eases pressure
on the system as a whole.”

PAGE 40

CASE STUDY
Community Care Teams – City centre pilot
Liverpool is one of the early pioneers of integrated care in the north west, bringing together
primary care, community, social care, mental health and secondary care clinicians in
neighbourhood-based teams, with approaches dating back several years. As part of the
Healthy Liverpool community transformational programme in March 2015, a multi-disciplinary
team (MDT) of doctors, community matrons, district nurses and social workers joined together
to form the first of 12 planned Community Care Teams (CCT) to cover across the city. The
team is based in the city centre and covers a population of 50,000 people across Brownlow
Health, Vauxhall Health Centre and Marybone Health Centre.

INSERT PHOTO HERE

The team is key to breaking down barriers to co-ordinated care, delivering a ‘no wrong door’
approach with clear points of access into the care system, ensuring access to the right care
professional without being passed around the system. They work together, building
relationships and trust between professionals, and adopting a proactive approach which
targets people at increased risk of poor outcomes.
Dr Janet Bliss Local GP and Lead for the community model of care in the Healthy Liverpool
Programme said “The introduction of the first Healthy Liverpool Community Care Team marks
the beginning of our ambitious plans to transform the way in which we work across the whole
city, The concept of ‘no wrong door’ into services radically changes the way we work and the
way in which we can better respond to meeting local people’s needs”
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4. THE ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT.
4.1 Members’ Report
4.1.1 Member Practices
The following table includes details of the 93 Practices that comprise the membership of
Liverpool CCG as at the 31st March 2016:

Abercromby Holistic Health Centre

Greenbank Road Surgery

SSP Kensington Park Practice

Abingdon Family Health Centre

Hornspit MC

SSP Marybone HC

Aintree Park Group Practice

Jubilee Medical Centre

SSP Netherley

Albion Surgery

Kirkdale Medical Centre

SSP Park View

Anfield Group Practice

Knotty Ash MC

SSP Princes Park HC

Belle Vale Health Centre

Lance Lane

SSP Robson St

Benim MC

Langbank Medical Centre

SSP Stanley Medical Centre

Bigham Road MC

Long Lane Medical Centre

SSP West Speke Health Centre

Bousfield Health Centre

Margaret Thompson MC

St James MC

Bousfield Surgery

Mere Lane Practice

Stanley Medical Centre (Dr Jude)

Brownlow Group Practice

Moss Way Surgery

Stoneycroft MC

Derby Lane Surgery

Oak Vale Medical Centre

Stopgate Lane Medical Centre

Vauxhall Primary Care

Old Swan HC

Storrsdale Medical Centre

Dingle Park Practice

Penny Lane Surgery

The Ash Surgery

Dovecot Family HC

Picton Green

The Elms MC

Riverside Centre for Health (Dr
Hegde)

Anfield The Surgery (Dr Abdi)

The Grey Road Surgery

Dunstan Village Group Practice

Poulter Road Medical Centre

The Surgery (Gateacre Brow)

Earle Road Medical Centre

Priory Medical Centre

The Surgery (Greenbank Drive)

Eaton Road Surgery

Riverside Centre for Health

The Surgery (Mather Avenue)

Edge Hill MC

Rock Court Surgery

The Surgery (Queens Drive)

Ellergreen Medical Centre

Rocky Lane Medical Centre

The Valley Medical Centre

Fairfield Medical Centre

Rutherford Medical Centre

The Village Medical Centre

Fir Tree Medical Centre

Sandringham MC

The Westmoreland GP Centre

Fulwood Green MC

Sefton Park MC

Townsend Medical Centre

Gateacre Medical Centre

Speke Health Centre

Vauxhall Health Centre

Gilmoss Medical Centre
Grassendale Medical Practice

Speke Neighbourhood Health
Centre (Dr Choudhary)
Speke Neighbourhood Health
Centre (Dr Thakur)

The Village Surgery (Garston)
Walton Medical Centre

Great Homer Street Medical Centre

SSP Breeze Hill

Walton Village Medical Centre

Green Lane MC

SSP Childwall Valley

Westminister Medical Centre

Hunts Cross Health Centre

SSP Everton

Woolton House MC

Islington House Medical Centre

SSP Garston Family H C

Yew Tree Centre

PAGE 42

4.1.2 Chair & Accountable Officer
For the year 2015/16 the office of Chair of the CCG has been held by Dr Nadim Fazlani and
the Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) is Katherine Sheerin.
4.1.3 Governing Body
The membership of the Governing Body up to the signing of the Annual Report & Accounts has
been as follows:
Governing Body Members:
Dr Nadim Fazlani
Professor Maureen Williams
Dr Simon Bowers
Dave Antrobus
Dr Janet Bliss
Moira Cain
Dr Fiona Ogden-Forde
Dr Monica Khuraijam
Tom Jackson
Dr Rosie Kaur
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Jane Lunt
Professor Donal O’Donoghue
Dr Shamin Rose
Katherine Sheerin
Dr Maurice Smith
Co-opted
Members
voting):
Sandra Davies
Cllr Roz Gladden
Dr Paula Finnerty
Dr Tristin Elkin
Dr David Webster
Dr Rob Barnett
Tina Atkins

Chair
Lay Member Governance / Deputy Chair
GP / Clinical Vice Chair
Lay Member Patient Engagement
GP
Practice Nurse
GP (appointed 12th May 2015)
GP (appointed 12th May 2015)
Chief Finance Officer
GP
GP
Head of Quality / Chief Nurse
Secondary Care Doctor
GP
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)
GP

(nonDirector of Public Health, Liverpool City Council
Liverpool City Council Representative
GP North Locality
GP Central Locality
GP Matchworks Locality (resigned 1st February
2016)
Secretary, Liverpool LMC
Practice Manager

4.1.4 Audit Risk & Scrutiny Membership
The membership of the Audit Risk & Scrutiny Committee is as follows:
•
•
•
•

Professor Maureen Williams – Lay Member / Audit Committee Chair
Professor Donal O’Donaghue – Secondary Care Doctor
Dr Simon Bowers – GP
Dave Antrobus – Lay Member

In attendance:
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•
•
•
•

Tom Jackson – Chief Finance Officer
Internal Audit Representative – Mersey Internal Audit Agency
Counter Fraud Representative - Mersey Internal Audit Agency
External Audit Representative – Grant Thornton UK LLP

4.1.5 Additional Matters of Disclosure (inc personal data incidents)
None.
4.1.6 Conflicts of Interest.
The CCG’s Conflicts of Interest Policy was presented at the Governing Body meeting on the
10th February 2015 and was formally adopted by the organisation and has applied throughout
2015/16. The Policy is comprehensive and the Chief Officer highlighted, at the Governing Body
meeting, that the policy applied to all individuals involved in decision making on behalf of the
CCG, To accompany the policy the CCG has in place a formal register of declarations of
interest and an up to date copy of this can be found on the CCG website
at: www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/about-us/publications/ . In addition to the declarations of interest
the CCG also maintains a register of hospitality and gifts.
All formal Governing Body and Committee meetings agendas commence with a ‘Declaration of
Interest’ and the Chair of the meeting will address any declarations made in accordance with
the formal Conflicts of Interest Policy and record any such matters and actions in the formal
minutes of the meeting.
During 2015/16 there are a number of examples of specific instances where the policy was
applied and action taken to eliminate or reduce a potential or actual conflict of interest:
•

Payment to Practices – the CCG Approvals Panel continues to meet, when required, to
consider matters that may directly or indirectly impact upon GP Practice income and the
membership excludes GP members of the Governing Body.

•

Development and agreement of the GP Quality Premium (‘GP Spec) – the development
of the GP Quality Premium effects all Practices in the city, including those members of
the Governing Body from a primary care background. As a consequence, these
members were excluded from the formal development of the scheme, with external
primary advice sought from outside of the Liverpool CCG membership. At the formal
meeting of the Governing Body that approved the scheme and significant additional
investment the Chair of the CCG stood aside and the meeting was chaired by the Vice
Chair a lay member, with ‘conflicted’ members playing no part in the formal decision
making.

•

Appointment of interim GP Practice providers –as a consequence of the need to appoint
interim GP Providers to a number of contracts, pending the completion of a procurement
exercise, a specially convened meeting of the Finance, Procurement & Contracting
Committee was held. This meeting specifically excluded the Governing Body GP
members and Practice Manager representative as they were deemed to have a
potential or actual direct interest in both the interim contract appointments and
subsequent procurement. The meeting was chaired by the Vice Chair a lay member and
matters were concluded in the absence of the ‘conflicted’ committee members.
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4.1.7 Governing Body Members Declaration.
Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Report is approved
confirms:
•

So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the
clinical commissioning group’s external auditor is unaware; and

•

The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order
to make them self-aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
clinical commissioning group’s auditor is aware of that information.
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4.2 Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Katherine Sheerin to be
the Accountable Officer of the Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and
regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping
proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts
comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared
on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows
for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in particular
to:
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;

•

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the financial statements; and,

•

Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out
in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:
•

as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the entity’s auditors
are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to
have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the entity’s auditors are aware of that information.

•

that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable
and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the
judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable
TO BE SIGNED
Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
XXXX 2016
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4.3 Annual Governance Statement.

4.3.1 Introduction & Context
The Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced from 1st April 2013 under provisions
enacted in The Health & Social Care Act 2012, which amended The National Health Service
Act 2006. As at 31st March 2016 the clinical commissioning group was licenced without
conditions.
4.3.2 Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in ‘Managing Public
Money’. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity.
4.3.3 Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we have
reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice available,
including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to
the clinical commissioning group and best practice.
For the financial year ended 31st March 2016, and up to the date of signing this statement, we
have applied the principles of the Code.
4.3.4 The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states:
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
The CCG Constitution is constructed around the exemplar model constitution provided by NHS
England, with the Governing Body advised as to the need for any specific amendments by our
legal advisers Hill Dickinson LLP. The agreed amendments made from the exemplar model
primarily reflected the landscape of the membership practices in the city and the final
Committee structure adopted by the CCG, with further amendments made to the latter in
2014/15.
The Constitution includes the ‘Scheme of Reservation and Delegation’ and outlines those
matters that are reserved for the membership as a whole and those that are the responsibilities
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of the Governing Body and also deals with matters such as ‘whistle blowing’ and conflicts of
interest.
The membership of the Governing Body is as follows:
Governing Body Members:
Dr Nadim Fazlani
Professor Maureen Williams
Dr Simon Bowers
Dave Antrobus
Dr Janet Bliss
Moira Cain
Dr Fiona Ogden-Forde
Dr Monica Khuraijam
Tom Jackson
Dr Rosie Kaur
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Jane Lunt
Professor Donal O’Donoghue
Dr Shamin Rose
Katherine Sheerin
Dr Maurice Smith
Co-opted
Members
voting):
Sandra Davies
Cllr Roz Gladden
Dr Paula Finnerty
Dr Tristin Elkin
Dr David Webster
Dr Rob Barnett
Tina Atkins

Chair
Lay Member Governance / Deputy Chair
GP / Clinical Vice Chair
Lay Member Patient Engagement
GP
Practice Nurse
GP (appointed 12th May 2015)
GP (appointed 12th May 2015)
Chief Finance Officer
GP
GP
Head of Quality / Chief Nurse
Secondary Care Doctor
GP
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)
GP

(nonDirector of Public Health, Liverpool City Council
Liverpool City Council Representative
GP North Locality
GP Central Locality
GP Matchworks Locality (resigned 1st February
2016)
Secretary, Liverpool LMC
Practice Manager

The Committees of the Governing Body are as follows:
•

Audit, Risk & Scrutiny – the Committee purpose is to review the establishment and
maintenance of an effective system of integrated governance, risk management and
internal control, across the whole of the CCG’s activities. Further it shall ensure that
there is an effective internal audit function that meets the mandatory NHS Internal Audit
Standards and provides appropriate independent assurance. The Committee shall also
review the work and findings of the external auditors and consider the implications and
management’s responses to their work. Other aspects of the Committee’s work include
ensuring that adequate counter fraud arrangements are in place and as required review
the outcomes of counter fraud work.
During the year the Committee has continued to play an important role in the continued
oversight and assurance of the CCG’s governance arrangements and internal systems
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of control. This has included the setting and review of the annual internal audit cycle,
local counter fraud activities (including receipt of the Counter Fraud Work Plan 2015/16)
and the development of effective working relationships with the appointed external
auditors.
Throughout 2015/16 the Committee has overseen the CCG’s response(s) to a number
of Internal Audit Recommendations including (but not limited to) Complaints
Management, Conflicts of Interest, Continuing Healthcare, Partnership Working,
Information Governance and the CCG’s Financial Control Environment.
The Committee has also been instrumental in the approval and embedding of key
organisational policies such as Standards of Business Conduct and improving existing
systems of control in relation to Declarations of Interest and the registering of Gifts and
Hospitality.
•

Remuneration – the Committee role is to make decisions and determinations about pay
and remuneration for Governing Body members, Senior Managers and the wider senior
management team. This remit includes setting pay levels, reviewing conditions of
service and allowances.
During the year the Committee has reviewed and established the remuneration levels
for the expanded group of senior managers associated with the delivery of the Healthy
Liverpool Programme and also completed the review of the remuneration and status of
the Governing Body members.

•

Human Resources – the Committee role is to determine and agree HR policies and
salary frameworks for employees (other than Senior Managers), monitor corporate
workforce organisational performance indicators and provide assurance to the
Governing Body that performance is managed.
During the year the Committee has reviewed and adopted a series of key HR policies
for the organisation including shared parental leave, long service awards, smoke free,
volunteering and recruitment and retention. The CCG also became an adopter of the
‘living wage’ for all directly employed staff and introduced an e-learning package for key
elements of mandatory training.

•

Finance, Procurement and Contracting– the Committee has a lead role in monitoring
the financial governance arrangements of the CCG. This includes responsibility for
assuring the delivery of the CCG’s statutory financial duties and financial reporting
arrangements on behalf of the Governing Body.
The Committee has oversight of the delivery of the CCG financial plan and provides
assurance regarding the procurement and contracting activities of the organisation.
During the year the Committee has overseen the development of the organisation’s
financial plans and reviewed monthly financial, contract and activity performance. Key
areas of further work have included oversight of the procurement activities, information
governance compliance and scrutiny of investment proposals.

•

Healthy Liverpool Programme Board – the Board is accountable to the CCG
Governing Body and oversees the development of the overall Programme.
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During 2015/6 the Healthy Liverpool Programme Board has overseen the development
of the Case for Change or ‘blueprint’, which marked the start of the next crucial phase of
delivery of the programme and the next phase of public and stakeholder engagement;
recommended the approval of a series of investment proposals, ensuring that each
proposal aligns with the strategic objectives and aims of the Healthy Liverpool
Programme and optimises public value for money and outcomes for patients. The Board
has received regular progress reports from the constituent elements of the Programme,
along with associated risk assessments.
•

Quality, Safety and Outcomes – the Committee is responsible for overseeing quality
and safety processes across all commissioned services, ensuring alignment with
delivery of the NHS Outcomes Framework and for assuring the Governing Body that
quality and patient safety activity is co-ordinated and transparent ensuring a coherent
and systematic review of the system.
During 2015/16 the Committee has made an important contribution to improving patient
safety and outcomes; including the continued oversight and management of Serious
Untoward Incidents (SUIs) and subsequent commissioner led assurance of learning
from incidents by providers through the overview and scrutiny of remedial action plans.
The Committee has also continued to play a key role in the prevention of, and learning
from Healthcare Acquired Infections. Providers have also been held to account where
Regulatory Inspection has found issues of concern or failure to meet expected quality
and/or safety standards. The Committee has also reviewed safeguarding policy and
training, promoted adoption of the ‘sign up to safety’ campaign and examined discharge
processes.

•

Primary Care Commissioning Committee –From February 2015 the ‘new’ Primary
Care Commissioning Committee was instituted following NHS England’s approval of the
CCG’s revised Constitution and the successful application to assume delegated
responsibility from NHS England for the commissioning of primary medical services.

During 2015/16 the Committee has overseen the transition from NHSE to the CCG of
commissioning responsibility for the 93 GP Practices in the city. Key areas to note have
included the development and adoption of an interim provider policy, the introduction of
a new performance report, the surrender of one contract and the appointment of eight
interim providers and the emergence of the Liverpool GP Federation. In 2015/16 41 GP
practices have undergone CQC inspections in the city. The overwhelming majority of
GP practices were rated as ‘good’ with one being rated as ‘outstanding’. Of the 4
practices that did not receive a rating of ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ the CCG have continued
to work closely with these practices and one practice following re-inspection has
received a subsequent rating of ‘good’.
• Approvals Committee – the Committee is responsible for ensuring that the CCG
applies conflicts of interest principles and policies rigorously and provides the CCG with
independent advice and judgement where there is any doubt about how to apply them
to individual or group cases involving the commissioning or other procurement of clinical
services.
The Committee has continued to play an important role in assessing and approving
funding for initiatives that directly or indirectly benefit primary care.
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•

Healthy Liverpool Programme Committee(s) in Common – the Committee brings
together representatives from the three CCGs (Liverpool, Knowsley and South Sefton)
along with their local authorities and NHSE Specialised Commissioning to provide
oversight of the development of the ‘Hospitals Programme’ element within Healthy
Liverpool, reflecting the significant co-dependencies between the three communities
and specialised commissioning.
During 2015/15 the Committee has particularly focussed upon the strategic nature of the
hospitals programme and the interrelationships and similarities with similar activities in
Knowsley and Sefton, and the development of specialised services. The Committee has
also sought to learn lessons from elsewhere and received a presentation from the
Greater Manchester Service Transformation Team. Members also played a role in
reviewing the Case for Change (blueprint) and subsequent planning for further public
engagement activities.

The Governing Body has performed well throughout the year, providing clear strategic
leadership and accountability for the organisations’ business and activities. It has clear
governance arrangements in place, with oversight from the Chair and the Audit & Scrutiny
Committee. Members of the Governing Body have continued to make significant and valuable
contributions to the work of numerous collaborative commissioning forums, the Health &
Wellbeing Board, Joint Commissioning Group and Children’s Trust. Further attention has been
paid during the year to external relationships and engagement with Governing Body members
leading partner and stakeholder engagement through the Healthy Liverpool Programme in
particular, alongside direct engagement with Trust Chief Executives, Chairs, Councillors and
local MPs.
The role of the Governing Body continues to mature and members have been afforded a
variety of internal and external opportunities during the year to expand and develop their
personal and collective knowledge and skills, alongside opportunities to share learning from
Liverpool with regional and national colleagues. The ongoing monthly ‘informal’ development
sessions have provided an important opportunity for greater discussion and debate on matters
of policy and strategy, directly informing and shaping the formal business of the organisation.
Such opportunities, particularly for shared learning play an important role in supporting the
ongoing development of the organisation and it’s Governing Body, underpinned by an
Organisational Development Plan.
At the same time the CCG has continued to engage and involve members with a programme
of city wide and locality based events, supported by the Locality Chairs and neighbourhood
structures maintaining and building bridges between the Governing Body members and our
membership of Practices.
The Governing Body and Committee meetings have overall been well attended and supported
throughout the year, illustrated in the following table:
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The Governing Body and Committees have together led and overseen:
•

The introduction of delegated commissioning responsibility for primary care medical
services coving 93 GP Practices in the city.

•

The development and adoption of key policies covering such areas as conflicts of
interest, complaints, quality, business conduct and commercial sponsorship.

•

Investment of £1.1m over two years to strengthen clinical and non-clinical leadership in
the CCG neighbourhoods, further enhancing membership capacity and involvement.

•

Investment of £2.9m over two years to implement an ambitious physical activity and
sports strategy as part of the ‘Living Well’ component of the Healthy Liverpool
Programme.

•

Investment of £15m over three years to resource key elements of the digital care and
information strategy as part of the Healthy Liverpool Programme.

•

Publication of the Case for Change of ‘blueprint’ for the Healthy Liverpool Programme
following a successful Mayoral Health Summit

•

Investment of £5.6m recurrently from 1st April 2016 to implement the next stage in the
development of the Liverpool Primary Care Quality Strategy or ‘GP Spec’ that will see
an additional 286,000 appointments per year, enhanced attention paid to vaccination &
immunisation and physical activity.

4.3.5 The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework
The CCG has in place a comprehensive risk strategy that was reviewed during the year and
formally approved and readopted by the Governing Body. The strategy which is subject to
regular review and if necessary updating includes the following key elements:
•

Risk management strategy, aims and objectives

•

Roles, responsibilities and accountability

•

The risk management process – risk identification, assessment, treatment, monitoring,
review and prevention.

•

Risk grading – criteria

•

Training and support

Risk assessment is embedded as a core part of the operational and strategic business of the
organisation, with a culture in place that encourages risks to be reported, investigated and
effectively handled. Risks are identified through a number of mechanisms including risk
profiling methodology, incident reporting, complaints and litigation, data analysis and staff
concerns/whistle blowing.
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Risk management and the ensuing development of risk registers is generally achieved through
a combination of ‘top down’ and ‘bottom up’ approaches. The ‘top down’ element of the risk
management process is addressed through the development of the corporate risk
register/assurance framework, that seeks to identify strategic high level risks to the
organisation and which is presented bi-monthly to the public meetings of the Governing Body.
If required ‘exception’ updates on particular risks or issues are provided to the next available
Governing Body meeting. This ensures that risks are dealt with in a transparent and open
manner, open to external view and scrutiny. Between presentations of the register to the formal
Governing Body meetings bi-monthly the register is subject to scrutiny and review by the
Senior Management Team.
This approach is similarly fed by the development and management of directorate and specific
project or programme risks registers that provide an escalation route for high or significant
risks to be brought of the attention of the Governing Body. In all cases clear responsible
officers / leads are identified for all risks, who are responsible for putting into place and
monitoring effective mitigation or reduction actions against the identified risks.
Risk mitigation is achieved through a variety of mechanisms that include ensuring that a suite
of operational policy and procedures are in place that follow ‘best practice’ and guidance and
which are kept under regular review; the commissioning of fraud prevention support, including
preventative and investigatory work from the Mersey Internal Audit Agency and the circulation
of fraud prevention bulletins and alerts across the CCG; awareness of and adherence to NHS
England policy, advice and direction.
4.3.6 Risk Assessment.
The management and assessment of risks is governed by the CCG Risk Management
Strategy which outlines how risks are identified, assessed against impact and likelihood and
managed through either the Directorate or programme registers or the Corporate Risk
Register.
A five stage process that can be illustrated as follows is in operation:

Step 1 – Identify Risks

Step 2 – Analyse Risks
Step 5 – Monitor
and Review
Step 3 – Evaluate Risks

Step 4 – Treat Risks

The risk assessment undertaken will reflect both the likelihood and any consequences of the
risk and its potential to:

PAGE 54

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Cause death, injury or ill health to individuals or groups;
Result in civil claims / litigation against the CCG, a Governing Body Member, or member
of staff;
Result in enforcement action to the CCG;
Cause damage to the environment;
Cause property damage / loss;
Impact on the day to day operational issues of the CCG;
Result in reputational damage for the CCG;

The level of risk is assessed using the CCG’s five by five risk matrix by judging the likelihood of
the residual risk occurring and consequences for the CCG should the event occur. This
assessment results in an overall score ranging from 1 to 25 and a risk level of low, moderate,
high or extreme.
The major potential risks to governance, risk management and internal control can be
summarised as follows:
Governance:
•

Conflicts of interest and members of the Governing Body – the Approvals Committee
has continued to oversee and decide upon the allocation of resources and/or
commissioning decisions where monies are to be invested or benefits derived in general
practice. The Committee membership comprises of no GP or primary care practice
Governing Body members from LCCG thereby providing strengthened governance
surrounding matters affecting or impacting upon practice income. A new Standards of
Business Conduct Policy was adopted by the Governing body in January 2016 to further
strengthen governance in this area and this sits alongside the Conflicts of Interest
Policy, register of interests and register of gifts and hospitality.

•

Commercial Sponsorship – the CCG identified in 2015/16 the potential risks that could
arise from accepting commercial or other sponsorship of CCG activities or
commissioned services. In order to protect the organisation a sponsorship policy has
been developed and this was formally approved and adopted by the Governing body in
March 2016.

Risk Management:
•

During the year a number of new risks have been added on to the Corporate Risk
Register reflective of the continued emphasis upon strong and effective governance
arrangements. These risks have included performance and service delivery issues at a
number of Trusts with regards to the delivery of NHS Constitution Standards; the
‘negative’ outcome of several CQC provider inspections; the delivery and performance
of IAPT mental health services and future provision of community health services. All of
these risks can be explored in detail by examination of the CCG Board papers, available
on the CCG website, where details of the original risk, an assessment of the
consequences and likelihood of the impact of the risk and the required mitigation and
actions taken by the CCG can be found.
None of these risks are a significant risk to the risk management process itself.
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In all cases risks have been presented to the Governing Body meeting in public
session(s) and a variety of mitigating actions and steps are being taken in response to
the risks that will continue unresolved in part into 2016/17. The impact and
consequences of the risks are subject to ongoing scrutiny and attention as the CCG
seeks to agree and implement acceptable and sustainable solutions going forward.
Internal Control:
•

Delivery of effective, efficient and value for money commissioning support services /
failure of North West Commissioning Support Service (NWCSU) bid for accreditation on
Lead Provider Framework: The CCG has continued to review service delivery against
the current contract via formal monthly performance meetings whilst a Transaction Plan
and Mobilisation and Stabilisation Boards were put in place during the latter part of 2015
with the aim of achieving a smooth Service Transaction to the new provider (Lancashire
& Midlands CSU) from 1st March 2016. At the same time the CCG completed
strengthening of certain key ‘in-house’ provision that would in part replace and / or
reduce reliance upon CSU delivered support going forward.

Compliance with CCG operating licence:
•

No significant risks to the CCG maintaining compliance with the terms of its operating
licence were identified in 2015/16.

4.3.7 The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is in place that ensures that effective processes and procedures
are in place across the clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and
objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The system of internal control is based upon an on-going process designed to:
•

Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims
and objectives’

•

Evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

The risk management agenda is co-ordinated through the senior management team, reporting
to the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee and Governing Body. The Governing Body regularly
reviews the corporate risk register / assurance framework to provide the Governing Body with
‘reasonable’ assurance that the internal systems are functioning effectively. By design this is a
high level document that is used to inform and give assurance to the Governing Body that the
risks to achieving key objectives are recognised and that controls are in place or being
developed to manage those risks. Risks are rated, and controls that will address these risks
are identified, gaps in control or assurance are noted and action plans to close gaps
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summarised and updated. Potential and actual sources of assurance are identified and the
latter are also rated for the level of assurance provided.
The CCG commissions a range of training programmes which include specific mandatory
training for particular staff groups which aim to minimise the risks inherent in their daily work
activities. Information Governance training is mandatory for all staff. Targeted training is
provided to designated risk leads to support the development of risk registers.
4.3.8 Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable
data.
The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an information
governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical
commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt
with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
The CCG has an active programme of Information Governance Assurance with delegated
authority from the Governing Body to the Finance, Procurement and Contracting
Committee. Clear management arrangements are in place with the Chief Finance Officer
identified as the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), the Chief Clinical Information Officer,
Dr Simon Bowers, is the Caldicott Guardian, with identified Information Asset Owners (IAO) in
place throughout the organisation.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and
processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have established an
information governance management framework and are developing information governance
processes and procedures in line with the information governance toolkit. We have ensured all
staff undertake annual information governance training and have implemented a staff
information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance
roles and responsibilities.
The CCG declared Level 3 compliance against all necessary standards and compliance
indicators for 2015/16 scoring 98% against the Toolkit criteria and receiving an external audit
opinion of 'Significant Assurance' to support the self-declaration. The CCG has complied and
agreed with all requirements laid out in the Information Governance Assurance Statement for
use of Health and Social Care Information Centre services.
Through establishing robust systems and processes the CCG has been granted and maintains
Accredited Safe Haven (ASH) status from the Health and Social Care Information Centre
(HSCIC), demonstrating confidence in the CCG to manage personal information safely and
securely.
Liverpool CCG maintained accreditation as a Controlled Environment for Finance (CEfF)
during the year. The CEfF allows CCGs and CSUs to see Patient Confidential Data under the
terms of Section 251 and in accordance with Regulation 5 of the Health Service (Control of
Patient Information) Regulations 2002. This approval importantly provides the legal basis for
Health Service Providers to disclose patient confidential information to the Liverpool CCG for
the purposes of invoice validation and has allowed the Liverpool CCG to continue to work
efficiently and discharge our statutory duties.
There are robust processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents. We have implemented effective information risk assessment and management
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procedures and continue to work hard to maintain a strong information risk culture throughout
the organisation.
During 2015/16 the CCG itself did not directly cause or experience a serious untoward incident
concerning the loss of data and / or breach of confidentiality.

The following Serious Incidents (SIs) were reported by providers with whom the CCG
commissions services during the year 2015/16:
PROVIDERS

TOTAL

Mersey Care NHS
Trust

6
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TYPE OF SI

INCIDENT DESCRIPTION

Confidential
information
leak

Staff returned from a family trip and
discovered that their house had been
burgled. It is reported that their briefcase
containing their work mobile phone, and
diary was taken during the burglary. The
diary contains a number of patient details
including contact details and appointment
details.

Confidential
information
leak

Following the report of a serious incident
involving a service user, the internal
communications brief detailing the
incident was accidentally sent to a local
newspaper. The newspaper published an
article quoting parts of the brief and
stated that they had been sent it in error.
While the information contained in the
article did not identify the service user,
people in the local community may have
been able to identify the service user and
their family from the information in the
article.

Confidential
information
leak

Nine bags of confidential waste
containing patient identifiable data were
left sealed when the service was
relocated to another building. Collection
had been arranged but was not
undertaken. When the building was next
accessed by staff, the tamper seal on the
bags indicated that the bags had been
opened. Contractors had accessed the
site during this time.

Confidential
information
leak

The People Participation Team
distributed an email to 170 volunteers’
personal email addresses advertising
volunteer opportunities. These emails are

normally distributed with the email
addresses in the BCC field, however on
this occasion the sender used the CC
field in error
Confidential
information
leak

A spread sheet sent to Liverpool CCG
contained patient identifiable information.
The information included patient name,
NHS number, diagnosis, ethnicity gender
and age for 1655 service users. The
incident has been investigated and IG
training undertaken by the whole team.

Confidential
information
leak

A list of service users’ initials including
their section was posted on a notice
board on the ward to which the service
users had access. A service user noticed
the list and complained that his details
were on display.

Royal
Liverpool
Hospital

1

Confidential
information
leak

Brought to Trust attention that a member
of the public had undertaken a ‘Google’
search of their personal name which led
to a link on the internet to a RLB list of
information taken from an electronic
contact form used by the Trust between
2013 and 2014 (historic data). The
contact form would have been used by
members of the public and patients to
make general enquiries to the Trust. It
was a free text form, which means
identifiable information could be entered
by the enquirer.

St
Helens
Knowsley
Teaching
Hospitals

1

Confidential
information
leak

Trust was notified that an Information
Governance Breach had occurred on the
4th June within one of its directorates.
The breach relates to a Patient Safety
Council (PSC) Paper which contained
patient identifiable data being sent out via
email with the agenda and other
supporting papers. The offending paper
contained the name and hospital
numbers of 73 patients. The email was
sent out by a member of the Trust’s
administrative staff to the PSC mailing
list. The mailing list contained 59 people –
49 of the recipients were internal however
the other 10 recipients that the paper was
sent to were external recipients.

&
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4.3.9 Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources.
The Governing Body informed by its committees and in particular the Finance, Contracts and
Procurement Committee, oversees and directs the use of the CCG resources. In doing so
Governing Body members benefit from the experience and skills of a strong and competent
senior management team, who work within a strong framework of performance management,
benchmarking and comparative assessment. Programmes of work and service redesign and
transformational programmes are all clinically led by Governing Body members who are
supported by project leads and a project management infrastructure.
All significant investment decisions are subject to a rigorous assessment and prioritisation
process that is applied in such a way as to determine the relative effectiveness of the proposal,
including the impact upon key strategic outcomes and objectives. Use is also made of data and
support from our public health colleagues in the local authority. Where available, use is
particularly made of comparative data, including that from the ‘Core Cities’ to ensure a rigour
behind all decisions. Support is also provided by our internal auditors from the Mersey Internal
Audit Agency who provide an important source of objective advice, assessment and oversight.
4.3.10 Feedback from delegation chains regarding business, use of resources and
responses to risk.
During 2015/16 the CCG had delegated arrangements in place with providers external to the
CCG for the following:
•

St Helens and Knowsley NHS Trust – Payroll processing

•

Shared Business Services - Financial Systems – Transactional Processing

•

North West Commissioning Support Unit (01.04.2015 to 29.02.2016) – Some aspects of
Continuing Healthcare processes; Communications; Business Intelligence and financial
systems.

•

Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit - Unit (01.03.2016 to 31.03.2016) Some aspects of Continuing Healthcare processes.

During the year risks associated with these activities have been monitored through the
development of close partnership working; participation at local user groups and regular
monitoring including periodic evaluation of key performance indicators.
The North West Commissioning Support Unit ceased operation with effect from 29th February
2016. The CCG had representation at working groups to support a procurement process to
secure continuity of services with a successor organisation. Following this the CCG played a
key role to facilitate the successful migration of services to the successor organisation and the
transition of services and associated staff internally to the CCG.
Any identified risks have been monitored through the CCG’s governance and risk management
processes.
4.3.11 Additional matters of disclosure
None.
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4.3.12 Review of the effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management & Internal Control.
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group.
4.3.13 Capacity to Handle Risk.
The risk management process is led by the Chief Operating Officer who provides professional
leadership and oversight of both the overall process and its application throughout the
organisation. Underpinned by a Risk Management Strategy and access to best practice and
guidance, staff in lead roles across the CCG are appropriately trained and supported to ensure
that the risk management approach is embedded at all levels in the CCG. Throughout the year
use is made of internal and external opportunities, to share and learn from best practice,
including the opportunities for shared learning from both our internal auditors and also legal
advisers who both regularly provide professional seminars and share good practice guidance.
Risks as already described are assessed and managed in accordance with the Risk
Management Strategy approved by the Governing Body. The effective management of risk is
the responsibility of all members of staff and Governing Body members, who all play a role in
ensuring that risks are managed and mitigated in an effective and sustainable manner.
Strategic and significant operational risks are reported to the Governing Body via the
Corporate Risk Register / Assurance Framework and are subject to regular review,
reassessment and profiling.
4.3.14 Review of Effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors and the Senior Managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning
group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other
reports.
The Corporate Risk Register/Board Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence
that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group
achieving its principles objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit Committee and the Quality, Safety
& Outcomes Committee, if appropriate and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure
continuous improvement of the system is in place.
During the year the Governing Body and Audit Committee have kept under regular review the
application of the system of internal control. With the support of Internal Audit where areas for
improvement have been identified, appropriate actions have been taken and changes made to
ensure that the systems in place remain robust and effective. The formal process of a quarterly
assurance review of the CCG by the NHS England Cheshire & Merseyside Sub Regional
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Team has also provided a further external insight and commentary as to the performance of
the CCG.
Overall the system of internal control has been found to be effective and has met the needs of
the organisation. However as already identified there have been some areas where issues and
gaps in control have been identified for example the effectiveness of Commissioning Support
Service and specific prompt action has been taken to address these gaps in an effective and
sustainable manner.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of risk
management, governance and internal control.
Overall the CCG is vigilant to the potential risks to the CCG operating licence and maintains a
system of strong internal control and risk management. However no organisation can be
complacent and the CCG recognises this and has taken steps during the year in a number of
key areas to ensure that compliance with the operating licence is maintained and protected.
•

Effective governance arrangements – as highlighted above the CCG keeps under
constant review the governance structures and committees that support the Governing
body in the discharge of its role and responsibilities

•

Performance information – during the year the corporate performance report which is
presented formally on a monthly basis to the Governing Body has been subject to
regular review, refinement and further strengthening so as to fully meet the needs and
requirements of the Governing Body and provide them with assurance as to compliance
with the CCG’s licence and statutory duties.

4.3.15 Head of Internal Audit Opinion
The purpose of the Director of Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to
underpin the Governing Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s
system of internal control.
The Director of Audit Opinion is based upon the work completed and includes an opinion on
the Assurance Framework and the risk based audit assignments across the critical business
systems, along with contributions to improving governance, risk management and internal
control.
The Head of Internal Audit Mr Tim Crowley, Director of Audit Mersey Internal Audit Agency has
concluded that:
Significant Assurance, can be given that that there is a generally sound system of
internal control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are
generally being applied consistently.

However, some weaknesses in the design or

inconsistent application of controls put the achievement of a particular objective at risk
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
Assurance Framework
The organisation’s Assurance Framework is structured to meet the NHS requirements, is visibly used by
the Governing Body and could more clearly reflect the risks discussed by the Governing Body.
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Assurance across the organisation’s critical business systems:
ACCESS TO SERVICES

Documentation, evaluation and review of the Budgetary Control and General Ledger systems
both provided significant assurance. The review of Provider Contract Management also
concluded with significant assurance being provided. Our review of the processes in place to
manage Continuing Healthcare noted a number of issues which led to limited assurance being
provided. A detailed action plan has been developed to address recommendations made.
TRANSPARENCY AND GOVERNANCE

In addition to the Assurance Framework Opinion noted above, a review of the organisation’s
Committee Structure was undertaken which provided significant assurance, demonstrating that
appropriate governance arrangements are in place in this area. Our reviews of the systems and
processes in place at the CCG to manage Conflicts of Interest resulted in significant assurance,
concluding that the systems and processes in place were robust in this key area of governance
for the CCG. Limited Assurance was provided following our review of Complaints Management
and the CCG agreed to recommendations for improvement in relation to the areas of control
weakness reported and developed an action plan to address these.
PATIENT PARTICIPATION AND CUSTOMER SERVICES

Our review of Partnership Working received a limited assurance assessment with the CCG
developing a robust action plan to address the issues raised to improve systems going forward.
INFORMED COMMISSIONING

Mandated review of your Information Governance Toolkit concluded significant assurance. The
Co-Commissioning Baseline Assessment also resulted in significant assurance, demonstrating
robust governance and constitutional arrangements and adequate performance management
has been set up in this area. Further work will follow in this area in 2016-2017 to assess the
degree to which the systems and processes are being embedded
HIGHER STANDARDS

Significant assurance was provided in respect of the organisation’s Payroll Feeder Systems,
demonstrating adequate systems and processes for handling new starters, leavers and employee
contract changes and effective contract monitoring with the third party payroll provider.
FOLLOW UP

We noted that an internal process has been put in place re: Follow-up and MIAA is in the process
of verifying actions reported as complete via this process.
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Action has been agreed by Management to address the recommendations made in the internal audit
reviews and we will undertake follow up of the recommendations to provide assurance to the Audit
Committee that the issues raised have been addressed.
Contribution to Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control enhancements:
•

Detailed insight into the overall Governance and Assurance processes gained from liaison
throughout the year with the Senior Management Team, and regular review of Governing
Body and Committee papers

•

Involvement with the organisation in respect of advice and guidance relating to core
systems and processes.

•

Involvement and on-going relationship with the organisation.

•

Ongoing discussion with lead Officers, Managers and Lay Members throughout the year.

•

Effective utilisation of internal audit including in year communication, requests for support,
eg. to review the CCG’s Financial Control Environment Self-Assessment

•

Provision of MIAA briefings including Cyber Security and update on Investigations in the
NHS.

•

Involvement through MIAA events, including Lay Member Learning Series, and Audit
Committee Chairs.

•

Engagement with MIAA Insights benchmarking and outcome reporting, including
Assurance Frameworks, Annual Governance Statements, Financial Control Evaluation
Assessment and Losses and Compensation.

In providing this opinion I can confirm continued compliance with the definition of internal audit (as
set out in your Internal Audit Charter), code of ethics and professional standards. I also confirm
organisational independence of the audit activity and that this has been free from interference in
respect of scoping, delivery and reporting.
The opinion is derived from the conduct of risk based plans generated from a robust and organisationled Assurance Framework. The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit have reviewed all risks and
assurances relating to the organisation.

Tim Crowley

Director of Audit, MIAA
March 2016

4.3.16 Data Quality
During the year the Governing Body has on occasion expressed further some concerns as to
the quality of data provided by the Commissioning Support Service and in some cases by
individual provider Trusts to the service. Immediate steps were taken to hold the CSU to
account for the delivery of quality information and data through the contracting process,
including the withholding of payments where data was not of the required quality or timeliness.
Similarly action was taken against individual providers whose data was not of an acceptable
standard. The provision of a significant and strengthened analytical resource internally within
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the CCG has assisted greatly in ensuring that the Governing Body has access to data of the
highest quality and, subject to reporting limitations, in a timely fashion.
4.3.17 Business Critical Models
The CCG maintains Accredited Safe Haven Status (ASH) from the Health & Social Care
Information Centre through the establishment of robust systems and processes, demonstrating
confidence in the CCG to manage personal identifiable information (PID) safely and securely.
All of the CCGs Business critical models have been identified and noted on the CCG
Information Asset Register.
4.3.18 Data security
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance toolkit
assessment. The CCG has achieved Level 3 compliance against all necessary standards and
compliance indicators for 2015/16 and has an internal audit opinion of 'Significant Assurance'
to support the self-declaration.
The CCG has not directly been the source of any serious untoward data breaches.
4.3.19 Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group and
explained within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert
external legal input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. That legal advice
also informed the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and
the scheme of delegation. Full regard and compliance with our statutory obligations has been
maintained through 2015/16.
In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the statutory
duties and powers conferred on it by The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and
other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the clinical
commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the
statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those
functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a senior manager lead
who have subsequently confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
4.3.19.1 Duty to improve quality
The CCG regards commissioning high quality, person-centered, safe and effective healthcare
for the people of Liverpool as a key priority. We assume responsibility for Quality Assurance by
holding our providers to account for the delivery of their contractual obligations and quality
standards. The Quality Safety and Outcomes Committee (QSOC) acts as a formal committee
of the Governing Body; providing oversight and assurance of quality and safety processes
across commissioned services through coordinated reviews of the system and rigorous quality
surveillance mechanisms. The Committee receives a ‘Quality Early Warning Dashboard’ which
details emerging trends, risks and issues relating to patient quality and safety. The dashboard
covers all NHS Trusts within the Merseyside area and includes analysis of Care Quality
Commission ‘Risk Profiles’ for each organisation. Intelligence is gathered from a wide range of
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sources and an overview of the quality aspects of performance is presented to the Governing
Body each month through the Corporate Performance Report, which also provides assurances
on control measures and of progress being made at CCG and individual provider level to
achieve improvement.
In 2015/16, the Quality, Safety & Outcomes Committee has continued to make significant
progress in driving the quality agenda and improving services for patients. Some of the key
achievements and areas of improvement work driven by the QSOC for 2015/16 include:
•

Comprehensive analysis of the themes and learning from Liverpool Serious Case
Reviews and Critical Case Reviews;

•

Robust monitoring and assurance of Care Quality Commission Action Plans of Liverpool
Women’s Hospital Hospital, Aintree University Hospital and Alder Hey Children’s
Hospital;

•

Performance monitoring and management of providers’ compliance against Adult and
Children Safeguarding standards and key performance indicators;

•

Analysis of and dissemination of learning from Liverpool Domestic Homicide Reviews;

•

Continued oversight and management of Serious Untoward Incidents (SIs) and
assurance of learning from incidents by providers through the overview and scrutiny of
remedial action plans;

•

An aggregated review of 179 pressure ulcer incidents which identified eight overarching
root causes (this led to a significant programme of improvement work and shared
learning across the local health economy);

•

Quality & Safety review of the Care Home Sector and;

•

Development of the ‘Nursing Home Integrated Dashboard’ to highlight early warning
signs and areas of concern relating to the quality of care home provision.

The Committee has also continued to play a key role in the prevention of, and learning from
Healthcare Acquired Infections (HCAI). Providers continue to be held to account where
Regulatory Inspection has found issues of concern or failure to meet expected quality and/or
safety standards. The Committee has also reviewed safeguarding policy and training uptake,
promoted the adoption of the ‘Sign up to Safety’ campaign (including the campaign’s five
pledges) and a comprehensive review of hospital discharge processes.
In addition to the instrumental role of the QSOC in continued quality surveillance, the CCG also
works in partnership with NHS England (in their quality oversight role) where there are quality
concerns with an individual Trust or provider. Quality Surveillance Groups (QSG), which are
coordinated and facilitated by NHS England act as forums where commissioners and
regulators can collectively share intelligence regarding emerging risks or themes which are
significant enough to impact on patient safety. The aim of the QSG is to enable swift
assessment of risk and to agree the coordinated actions required drive improvement. More
serious concerns can be referred to a ‘Single Item Quality Surveillance Group’ (SIQSG) for
enhanced surveillance or, in more extreme cases to a ‘Risk Summit’ (usually convened within
48 hours). Updates and outcomes of ‘routine’ surveillance and the enhanced surveillance of
QSGs, SIQSGs and Risk Summits are all consistently reported to the Quality, Safety &
Outcomes Committee.
Liverpool CCG is the co-ordinating Commissioner for 7 NHS Trusts and in light of this provides
much of the intelligence and associated narrative relating to these Trusts for the QSG. The
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CCG is also a member of the Collaborative Commissioning Forums which are the vehicles
which bring together commissioners (NHS England, CCGs and Local Authorities) for key
Trusts such as Liverpool Community Health and Alder Hey.
4.3.19.2 Emergency preparedness, resilience and response
The CCG has in place a suitably experienced and competent designated Senior Manager lead
for emergency preparedness, resilience and response and has played a full and active role in
the Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership and the associated ‘operational’ Health
Resilience Group. The CCG commissions from the Commissioning Support Services Unit
access to a professionally qualified and experienced emergency planner who provides access
to sany required additional support and advice to the CCG, supplementing the in-house
resources.
The CCG response plan has been subject to review during the year and is kept up to date and
reflects national best practice and policy guidance. Key staff have participated in a variety of
planning and response exercises during the year. Plans from all of the major providers from
who the CCG commission’s services have in addition been subject to audit and review during
the year and where required actions plans put into place to ensure full compliance with the
national EPRR standards and requirement.
As well as supporting day to day system resilience across the city during the year Liverpool
continued to play host to a series of national and international cultural and sporting events.
Chief amongst these during 2015/16 were two major events associated with the 175th
anniversary of Cunard. In May 2015 we saw the visit of the ‘3 Queens’ to the Mersey, with over
half a million visitors lining the banks of the Mersey which was followed in July 2015 by the
Transatlantic 175 celebrations. In both cases the CCG took the lead role in planning and
coordinating the health response and preparedness for what were two major international
events. Working with health partners and in particular NWAS, comprehensive plans for the
events were developed, and subsequently tested and exercised. Both events passed off
without any major incident or adverse impact upon health services in the city and the lessons
learnt will be used to inform subsequent major event planning.
Accountable Officer EPRR Self-certification:
I certify the NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group has incident response plans in place,
which are fully compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness
Framework. The clinical commissioning group regularly reviews and makes improvements to
its major incident plan and has a programme for regularly testing this plan, the results of which
are reported to the Governing Body.
4.3.19.3 Equality Report
The CCG is required to pay due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) as defined
by The Equality Act 2010. Failure to comply has legal, financial and reputational risks.
The key functions that enable Liverpool CCG to make commissioning decisions and monitor
the performance of their providers have to demonstrate (in an auditable manner) that the
needs of protected groups have been considered in:
•

Commissioning processes;
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•

Consultation and engagement;

•

Procurement functions including Pre-Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ) and
Invitation to Tender;

•

Contract specifications;

•

Quality contract and performance schedules, and;

•

Governance systems.

Equality and Diversity
Promoting equality is at the heart of NHS Liverpool CCG's core values; ensuring that ‘everyone
counts’ and that we commission services fairly and inclusively and with no community or group
left behind in the improvements that will be made to health outcomes across the city. This is
particularly important in light of the challenges the NHS faces as outlined in the Five year view
We continue to work internally, and in partnership with our providers, community and voluntary
sector and other key organisations to ensure that we advance equality of opportunity and meet
the requirements of The Equality Act 2010. Specifically the Act requires us to meet our Public
Sector Equality Duty across a range of protected groups including age, gender, race, sex,
sexual orientation, religion/belief, gender identity, marital/civil partnership status and
pregnancy/maternity status.
Equality objectives
We are required to prepare and publish Equality Objectives to meet our Specific Duty as
outlined in The Equality Act 2010. Our plan is specific and measurable and we will review and
if necessary update the plan on an annual basis.
The CCG understands that at sometimes in our lives we may face barriers in relation to
accessing health services or experience different outcomes. The CCG wants to reduce the
health differences across our diverse communities and our Equality Objectives will support us
to do this.

Our Equality Objectives are:
1.

To make fair and transparent commissioning decisions;

2.

To improve access and outcomes for patients and communities who experience
disadvantage;

3.

To improve the equality performance of our providers through robust procurement
and monitoring practice

4.

To empower and engage our workforce

Under the Equality Delivery Systems (EDS) 2, undertaken in partnership with Liverpool
Healthwatch the CCG was previously assessed as “Developing”* reflecting the need to fully

PAGE 68

embed equality and diversity. The CCG took on board this assessment and through 2015/16
we have worked towards improving our performance specifically around the following
indicators, work which will continue on into 2016/17:•

Services are commissioned, procured, designed and delivered to meet the health
needs of local communities

•

People, carers and communities can readily access hospital, community health or
primary care services and should not be denied access on unreasonable grounds

Papers that come before the Governing Body and other major Committees are required to
identify equality-related impacts including risks, and must describe how those risks are to be
managed or mitigated as appropriate.
The outcomes and recommendations of the next assessment of our progress and delivery is
expected in summer 2016.
* Developing – can demonstrate 3 or more protected groups are considered in commissioning processes and there is evidence
to demonstrate that these group fare equally compared with people overall.

Provider performance
All key providers including the Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospital, Liverpool
Community Health Services, Mersey Care, Liverpool Women’s Hospital, Liverpool Heart and
Chest, Aintree University Hospital Trust and Alder Hey have undertaken the EDS assessment
and have set equality objectives in accordance with their requirements. LCCG continues to
work closely with its providers to improve equality performance and access and outcomes for
protected groups through robust contract monitoring, via the quality contract schedule.

Human resources
The CCG is committed to an environment that promotes equality and embraces diversity in its
performance as an employer. It adheres to legal and performance requirements and
mainstreams its equality and diversity principles through its policies, procedures and
processes. To ensure that our policies do not have an adverse impact in response to the
requirements of The Equality Act 2010, policies are screened for relevance during policy
development processes and a full impact assessment conducted where necessary. The CCG
will take action when necessary to address any unexpected or unwarranted disparities and
monitor workforce and employment practices to ensure that employment policies are fairly
implemented. The Organisation is committed to ensuring that staff receive appropriate
awareness training in Equality and Diversity to undertake their role. Equality and Diversity
training is mandatory for all staff commensurate with the duties that they are required to
undertake. In 2015 Public Sector Equality Duty training was delivered to all employees
4.3.19.4 Principles of remedy
The CCG complies fully with the ‘Principles for Remedy’ as published by the Parliamentary and
Health Services Ombudsman. Such remedies are part of the CCG complaints handling
procedures and would be applied as and when required in the handling of complaints made to
the organisation.

PAGE 69

During the year the Parliamentary and Health Services Ombudsman made one finding against
the CCG with regard to the acts and omissions of the former Liverpool PCT’s handling of an
historical continuing healthcare restitution case. The Ombudsman found significant failings in
the then PCT’s approach to the case, both in terms of delivering the care set out in the plan
and in responding to the complaint made by the family at the time. The complainant had
suffered a financial injustice due to the poor management of their application for NHS
continuing healthcare funding and recommended that an appropriate offer of redress be made
to the family. The CCG accepted these findings and made a payment of £24,990 to the family
in terms of redress and an additional £350 remedy payment in recognition of the poor
management of their complaint and the stress this had caused.
In addition the CCG also made a small financial remedy payment of £50 to a complainant in
recognition of an administrative error which impacted on the assessment of medical records in
an application for continuing healthcare. The offer was made following advice received from
the Ombudsman in securing a resolution of the complaint.
4.3.20 External Audit
The CCG is externally audited by Grant Thornton LLP, for 2015/16 the total external audit fees
were £89,050
•
•
•

Audit services £85,500 including VAT
Further assistance services £0
Other services £3,550 excluding VAT

At the request of the Chair of the Audit Committee a review of the potential for ‘conflict of
interest’ resulting from Grant Thornton auditing the accounts of the Practices of several of the
Governing Body members was conducted during 2013/14. As a result Grant Thornton
submitted proposals which were formally accepted by the Audit Committee as to how this
potential conflict might be appropriately managed and any risks mitigated. Grant Thornton has
identified clear separation of duties within the company and the introduction of a senior auditor
from elsewhere in the company to have an oversight role of the conduct and operation of the
external audit of the CCG, these arrangements have continued through 2015/16.

Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified other than those risks highlighted
above and in particular those matters concerning the Commissioning Support Service and
which have both been identified in the main body of the Governance Statement above.
Signature:

Name: Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer, Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group.
Date: XX XX 2016
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REMUNERATION & STAFF REPORT
Note: * indicates areas that are within the scope of the external audit review
4.4.1 Introduction
Section 234B and Schedule 7A of The Companies Act, as interpreted for the public sector in
the Government Financial Reporting Manual, requires NHS bodies to prepare a Remuneration
Report containing information about directors’ remuneration.
In the NHS, the report will be in respect of the Senior Managers of the NHS body. ‘Senior
Managers’ are defined as: ‘those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility
for directing or controlling the major activities of the NHS body. This means those who
influence the decisions of the clinical commissioning group as a whole, rather than the
decisions of individual directorates or departments.’ For the purposes of this report, this
includes the CCG’s Governing Body members.
Remuneration for the CCG Governing Body members and Very Senior Managers (VSM) only
are determined by the Remuneration Committee.
4.4.2 The Remuneration Committee
The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee were approved by the Governing
Body in April 2013 and further updated in September 2015. The membership of the
Remuneration Committee consists of the Chair, Lay member (Patient Engagement) and three
other Governing Body Members. In the absence of the Committee Chair of the committee a
nominated Governing Body member will act as Chair.
Current membership:
•
•
•
•
•

Professor Maureen Williams – Committee Chair – Lay Governing Body MemberGovernance
Dave Antrobus – Lay Governing Body Member – Patient Engagement
Dr Maurice Smith GP Governing Body Member
Dr Shamim Rose GP –Governing Body Member
Moira Cain –Practice Nurse Governing Body Member

During 2015/16 the Remuneration Committee has met on 3 occasions, with attendance as
follows:
NAME
Prof Maureen Williams
Dave Antrobus
Dr Maurice Smith
Dr Shamim Rose
Moira Cain

POSITION
Chair - Lay Member
Lay Member
GP
GP
Nurse

In attendance:
Katherine Sheerin
Michelle Yates
Helen Galley

Accountable Officer
x
HR / OD Lead
√
Admin Manager/Minute Taker √
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15/9/15
√
√
x
√
x

7/1/16
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

2/2/16
√
√
x
√
x
√
√
√

4.4.3 Appraisal of Chair and Chief Officer.
The CCG has in place a robust procedure for assessing the performance and delivery of the
Chief Officer and Chair. The CCG operates a ‘mutual’ appraisal arrangement between the
Chair, Deputy Chair/Chair of Audit Committee and Chief Officer. The Chair appraises the
performance and delivery of the Chief Officer, the Chief Officer then appraises the Deputy
Chair/Chair of Audit Committee and the Deputy Chair appraises the Chair. Objectives are set
for each person alongside agreement as to any developmental needs, with full records of the
appraisal meetings made and retained.
4.4.4 Policy on Remuneration of Senior Managers * (see note to accounts 4.1)
Amendments to salary are determined annually by the Remuneration Committee. Salaries
exclude on-call payments. Senior Manager performance is monitored through the formal
appraisal process, based on organisational and individual objectives.
As required the Remuneration Committee has access to professional advice from the CCG’s
qualified HR team and also the CCG legal advisers, Hill Dickinson LLP.
In setting policy for current and future years, the Committee has access to guidance, best
practice and benchmarking information from NHS Employers, NHS England and comparative
CCGs, such as those in the ‘core cities’ group. Account is also taken of the pay and conditions
of service that apply to other employees in the CCG.
The CCG senior managers with salaries in excess of £142,500 remuneration have been
determined by the Remuneration Committee. In reaching this decision the Committee has
taken into account comparisons made to the salaries of similar posts in other CCGs, in local
Providers and in Area Teams and has determined that these salaries are reasonable. Whilst
the Chief Officer attends the Remuneration Committee, she is absent when matters concerning
her own salary or performance are discussed.
4.4.5 Senior Managers performance related pay * (see note to accounts 4.1)
Senior managers are not subject to an element of performance related pay as part of their
remuneration packages.
4.4.6 Senior Manager Contracts
Senior Managers (Officers) hold permanent contracts of employment and are subject to six
months’ notice. Governing Body members, excluding the Accountable Officer, Chief Finance
Officer and Chief Nurse, are Office Holders and have various lengths of tenure, details of
which can be found on Page 64.
4.4.7 Past Senior Managers * (see note to accounts 4.4)
During 2015/16 the CCG has not made any payments to any past senior managers, or any
payments for loss of office.
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4.4.8 Pay Multiples *
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid Senior Manager in their organisation and the median remuneration of their
organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid Senior Manager at Liverpool CCG in the financial
year 2015-16 was £155-£160k (2014/15 - £155-£160k). This was 5.7 times (2014/15 – 5.7
times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was banded £25-£30k (2014/15 - £2530k).
In 2015-16 no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid Senior
Manager. Banded remuneration across the organisation ranged from £15-£20k to £155-£160k
(2014/15 £15 -20k to £155 -£160k).
(Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, and benefitsin-kind. It does not include pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of
pensions.)
4.4.9 Duration of contracts, notice periods and termination payments
The Accountable Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Head of Quality/ Chief Nurse are employed
on contracts of service and are substantive employees of the CCG. Officer Governing Body
members’ contracts can be terminated by either party with up to 6 months’ notice. Following
the departure of a Governing Body (officer) member and in advance of a new appointee
commencing, the CCG may engage a suitably qualified and experienced interim Senior
Manager to ensure continuity of leadership.
There are no special contractual compensation provisions for the early termination of
Governing Body members’ contracts. Employees above the minimum retirement age who
themselves request termination by reason of early retirement, are subject to the normal
provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme.

4.4.10 Governing Body Members
The dates of contracts and unexpired terms of office for the Governing Body members are
shown in the table below. Details of Co-opted (non-voting) members are shown on page 8.

Name
Dr Nadim Fazlani

Appointment Start Date
Re-appointed 1st June
2015

Appointment End Date
31st May 2018

Professor Maureen Williams

1st October 2012

31st March 2017

Dr Simon Bowers

Re-appointed 1st June
2015

31st May 2018

Dave Antrobus

Re-appointed 1st
October 2015

31st October 2018
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Name
Dr Janet Bliss

Appointment Start Date
Re-appointed 1st June
2015

Appointment End Date
31st May 2018

Moira Cain

Re-appointed 1st June
2015

31st May 2018

Tom Jackson

6th July 2012

N/A Permanent contract
of employment

Dr Rosie Kaur

1st June 2014

31st May 2017

Dr Fiona Lemmens

Re-appointed 1st June
2014

31st May 2017

Jane Lunt

11th November 2012

N/A Permanent contract
of employment

Professor Donal O’Donoghue

Re-appointed 1st
October 2015

31st October 2018

Dr Shamin Rose

Re-appointed 1st June
2015

31st May 2018

Katherine Sheerin

2nd July 2012

N/A Permanent contract
of employment

Dr Maurice Smith

Re-appointed 1st June
2014

31st May 2017

Dr Fiona Ogden-Forde

12th May 2015

11th May 2018

Dr Monica Khuraijan

12th May 2015

11th May 2018

4.4.11 Salaries & Pension Entitlements of Senior Managers
4.4.11.1 Salaries & Allowances *
The following table provides details of the Senior Managers salaries for 2015/16:
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Expense payments
(taxable)
(to nearest £100)
2015/16
2014/15
£'00
£'00
1
15
1
6
0
0
0
2
0
0
0
0

Salary
(bands of £5,000)
2015/16
2014/15
£'000
£'000
155-160
155-160
145-150
145-150
115-120
130-135
150-155
150-155
100-105
100-105
60-65
70-75

(bands of £5,000)
2015/16
2014/15
£'000
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Performance pay and
bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
2015/16
2014/15
£'000
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
60-65
60-65
65-70
45-50
45-50

50-55
60-65
65-70
0
0
60-65

2015/16
£'000
215-220
195-200
245-250
150-155
100-105
60-65

85-90
90-95
70-75
90-95
55-60
0
0

55-60
70-75
70-75
85-90
15-20
90-95

2014/15
£'000
185-187.5
135.137.5
465-467.5
170-175
110-115
90-95

TOTAL

Median Total Remuneration - (Governing Body)
£
Ratio
Median Total Remuneration (All Staff)
£
Ratio

Highest Earners Remuneration
£'000

25-30
1:57

75-80
1:2

155-160

The Chief Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Chief Nurse/Head of Quality are engaged under contracts of services and are employees. All other Senior Managers disclosed in the table above are engaged under contracts
for service and are therefore considered to be office holders. With the exception of Donal O’Donoghue all senior manager payments have been facilitated through payroll.

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

(bands of £2,500)
2015/16
2014/15
£'000
£'000
57.5 - 60.0
27.5-30.0
45.0 - 47.5
0
130.0 - 132.5
332.5-335.0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Long term performance
All pension related benefits
pay and bonuses

Dave Antrobus, Lay Member Patient Engagement
50-55
50-55
0
0
0
0
0
0
Dr Janet Bliss, GP
60-65
65-70
0
0
0
0
0
0
Moira Cain, Practice Nurse
65-70
65-70
0
0
0
0
0
0
Dr Jim Cuthbert, GP #
0
75-80
0
0
0
0
0
0
Dr Ed Gaynor, GP#
0
15-20
0
0
0
0
0
0
Dr Fiona Lemmens, GP
60-65
75-80
0
0
0
0
0
0
Dr Jude Mahadanaarachchi, GP/ Locality Chair
Central #
0
75-80
0
0
0
0
0
0
Dr Donal O'Donoghue, Secondary Care Doctor
90-95
90-95
0
0
0
0
0
0
Dr Shamim Rose, GP
60-65
60-65
0
0
0
0
0
0
Dr Maurice Smith, GP
60-65
75-80
0
0
0
0
0
0
Dr Rosie Kaur, GP
65-70
50-55
0
0
0
0
0
0
Dr Fiona Ogden Forde, GP*
45-50
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
Dr Monica Khuraijan, GP*
45-50
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
~ 2014/15 includes a sum of £17k pay arrears in relation to 2013/14
# 2014/15 figures are part year effect - Dr Jim Cuthbert to 20th March 2015, Dr Ed Gaynor to 31st May 2014, Dr Jude Mahadanaarachchi to 20th March 2015
* 2015/16 figures are part year effect - Dr Fiona Ogden Forde from 12th May 2015, Dr Monica Khuraijan from 12th May 2015

Katherine Sheerin, Chief Officer
Tom Jackson, Chief Finance Officer
Jane Lunt, Chief Nurse/ Head of Quality ~
Dr Nadim Fazlani, Chair
Prof Maureen Williams Deputy Chair
Dr Simon Bowers Gp/Clinical Vice Chair

Name & Title

4.4.11.2 Pension Benefits * (see note to accounts 4.1 & 4.5)

Name & Title

Katherine Sheerin, Chief
Officer
Tom Jackson, Chief Finance
Officer
Jane Lunt, Head of Quality,
Chief Nurse

2015/16
Real
Employers
Real
Total
Lump sum at
Cash
Cash
Real Increase
increase in increase in
Contribution
in Cash
accrued
pension age equivalent equivalent
Equivalent to partnership
pension at pension
Transfer
pension at
related to
Transfer
pension lump sum pension age
pension
accrued
Value at 31 Value at 31 Transfer Value
age
at pension at 31 March pension at 31 March 2015 March 2016
March 2016
age
2016
(bands of
£2,500)
£'000

(bands of
£2,500)
£'000

(bands of
£5,000)
£'000

(bands of
£5,000)
£'000

2.5-5.0

2.5-5.0

40.0-45.0

115.0-120.0

605

646

33

0

2.5-5.0

0-2.5

35.0-40.0

105.0-110.0

563

596

26

0

7.5-10.0

0

55.0-60.0

110.0-115.0

879

798

-92

0

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

On 16th March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a change in the
Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience (SCAPE) discount rate from 3.0%
to 2.8%. This rate affects the calculation of CETV figures in this report. Due to the lead time
required to perform calculations and prepare annual reports, the CETV figures quoted in this
report for members of the NHS Pension scheme are based on the previous discount rate and
have not been recalculated.
4.4.11.3 Off Payroll Engagements * (see note to accounts 4.1)
The following tables provide details of Off Payroll Engagements for 2015/16:
THREE TABLES BELOW ARE AMENDED
Number
Number of off-payroll engagements of membership Body
and/ or Governing Body members, and/or senior officials
with significant finanical responsiblitity, during the financial
year.

1

Number of individuals that have been deemed "Membership
Body and/or Governing Body members, and/or, senior
officals with significant financial responsibility", during the
financial year

16

Note: the off payroll engagement has been subject to a risk based assessment and the CCG is satisfied
with the payment arrangements to the NHS Trust / individual concerned.
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Number
The number that have existed as of 31 March 2016
▪ For less than one year at the time of reporting

23

▪ For between one and two years at the time of reporting

21

▪ For between two and three years at the time of reporting

25

▪ For between three and four years at the time of reporting

0

▪ For four or more years at the time of reporting

0

Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2016

69

Number

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six
months in duration, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016

9

Number of the above which include contractual clauses
giving the NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group the
right to request assurance in relation to Income Tax or
National Insurance obligations

5

Number for whom assurance has been requested

5

Of which, the number:
▪ For whom assurance has been received
▪ For whom assurance has not been received
▪ That have been terminated as a result of assurance not
being received

4
1
0

4.4.12 Pension Liabilities.
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.
The scheme is an unfunded, i.e. an defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers,
General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in
England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical
commissioning group is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the
accounting period. Further information with regard to pension benefits can be found on the
NHS Pensions website at www.nhsba.nhs.uk/pensions.
In respect of early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities
are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged
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to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement,
regardless of the method of payment.
The accounting policy relating to pension costs is described in the Notes to the Financial
Statements and pension liabilities existing at 31st March 2016 are disclosed within the
Statement of Financial Position under other payables.
4.4.13 Analysis of staff numbers *
The Governing Body (voting / full members) in post at the 31/03/16 comprises of: male 6 and
female 10 members.
The CCG directly employs a total of 153 staff, comprising of 38 male and 115 female. This
number excludes staff seconded from external organisations, agency staff and contractors.
This represents an increase of 36 directly employed staff when compared to the 117 in post for
2014/15. For 2015/16 the CCG employed a total of eight Very Senior Management (VSM)
posts; four of which were male (includes one Governing Body member) and four female
(includes two Governing Body members).
Breakdown of staff by gender:
Male

Female

Governing Body

6

10

Very Senior Managers (not
included above)*

3

2

34

111

Other members of staff
*employed on a VSM contract

Breakdown by staff category:
Staffing Group
Administrative & Estates Staff

Number
150

Medical & Dental

1

Nursing, midwifery & health visiting staff

2

4.4.14 Consultancy
During the year ended 31st March 2016 the CCG spent £136,000 on external consultants.
These consultants were engaged in a variety of projects across the CCG.
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4.4.15 Sickness absence data.
During the calendar year 2015 employee sickness accounted for 967 FTE days, equivalent to
a sickness absence rate of 2.10%, a significant improvement on the 2.70% seen in 2014.

Statistics Produced by HSCIC from ESR Data Warehouse
Quarterly Sickness Absence
Monthly Workforce
Publications
Publication

Average of 12 Months (Calendar
Year)
Year
2015
2.10%
2014
2.70%

Average FTE

Figures Converted by DH to Best
Estimates of Required Data Items
FTE-Days
Lost to
Sickness
FTE-Days
Average Sick
Absence
Available
Days per FTE
127
46,216
967
4.7
100
22,459
597
6.0

Note: Due to timing, the above figures represent sickness absence data for the calendar year 1 January
2015-31 December 2015 provided by HSCIC and based upon data from ESR Data Warehouse.

Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group is committed to maintaining the health, safety and
wellbeing of its employees and adopts policies and practices which establish a positive
attendance culture and promote staff welfare. The CCG recognises that staff will be absent
due to illness from time to time and will endeavour to provide all possible help and support to
assist recovery and a return to work. Absence is recorded accurately and is regularly
monitored. The CCG’s Managing Sickness Absence Policy ensures a consistent approach
when managing sickness absence and contains processes for managing both short term and
long term absences, including impairment related absence. Staff and managers have access
to an externally provided Occupational Health Service and Staff Counselling Services.
4.4.16 Employee consultation and engagement
The CCG places a high importance on the delivery of effective communications, involvement
and engagement with all of its employees. It discharges these duties through a variety of
means including:
•

A weekly Friday morning ‘floor meeting’ which provides a valuable opportunity for the
Chief Officer and senior managers to brief staff on important matters concerning the
business and operations of the organisation, including specific employee matters to
which all CCG staff are invited and encouraged to attend.

•

The CCG established a staff listening group made up of a member from each team to
actively encourage two way communication between staff and the Senior Management
Team. The work of the group includes, assisting the Senior Management Team with
actions from the staff survey, the organisational development plan, consultation
regarding policies and implementation of policies, general organisational issues and
working towards the health and wellbeing charter.
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•

The CCG developed an organisational objectives pathway tool, which is being used by
staff to align key organisational objectives with knowledge and skills; providing an
opportunity to add value to the health and social care agenda in Liverpool.

•

The CCG has an active prevention strategy towards bullying and harassment in the
workplace through its new Dignity and Respect in the Workplace Charter and the use of
theatre forum for bullying and harassment prevention.

•

A weekly electronic bulletin available to all staff that provides a short and digestible
summary of key internal and external issues of relevance to the staff and CCG.

•

An internal online intranet resource that includes weekly summaries of key activities and
performance, alongside policy and procedures.

•

The CCG participated in the NHS national staff survey, which is not a mandated
requirement.

•

A staff suggestions mailbox for staff to post ideas they have to make changes and
improvements to the workplace.

•

Focus groups for staff that have included the development of a refreshed Organisational
Development plan and plans to develop a new headquarters building for the
organisation.

•

A Healthy Workforce Group, represented by both senior management and staff, to
discuss and agree initiatives devised by the workforce, to improve employee health,
wellbeing and engagement.

•

Formal recognition of Trade Union ‘staff side’ representatives, who have a standing
invitation to attend the regular meetings of the HR Committee.

During the year the CCG participated for the second time in the NHS national independent
staff survey, providing an opportunity for comparison against the previous years’ survey other
CCGs/ NHS organisations. Staff embraced the opportunity to express their views with an 84%
response rate to the survey questionnaire. The results of the survey were shared with staff and
overall the organisation scored higher than average in a number of key areas and in particular
the questions concerning: would you recommend the CCG as a place to work; and also
questions that highlighted higher than average staff engagement.
However like anything improvement can always be made and there were a small number of
areas in the survey were the CCG scores were ranked lower than average. These included
questions concerning appraisal and incident reporting. The results of the survey were shared
with staff at a Friday ‘floor meeting’ and subsequently the themes emerging from the survey
have been discussed at subsequent Staff Listening Group meetings and the staff engaged in
debate as to how the organisation can improve the matters highlighted and take actions
forward.
During the year the CCG supported and invested in the development of a healthy staff initiative
to improve employee health and wellbeing in 2015/16. Staff were encouraged to submit bids
to run groups or activities which aimed to improve the overall health of colleagues. Similar
schemes nationally have seen a reduction in stress levels, staff absence and an overall
increase in productivity.

PAGE 80

Getting physically active was a clear focus for staff and during the year, the CCG participated
in the Merseyside Sports Partnership for the Workplace 150 minutes exercise, social dodgeball
tournament, and a ‘virtual’ steps tour of South America with many staff increasing their activity
levels. The latter initiative saw the CCG being recognised by the National Workplace
Challenge awarding the CCG first place in the Total Activity Points Workplace Leaderboard of
over 3,000 participating organisations. Staff members also supported ‘This Girl Can’ Campaign
and Sport Relief. These are just some of the initiatives, which are designed to be inclusive,
and staff who were new to running could take part in lunch-time running sessions, led by a
specially trained member of staff, using the NHS Choices “Couch to 5k” mobile app.
Whilst running has proved popular, other schemes have also been supported including:
continuation of the table tennis lunch-time tournaments and the ukulele club for those wishing
to learn a musical instrument; a new lunch-time knitting club to produce hats for babies in
intensive care at Alder Hey Hospital; and the provision of ‘Citybike’ credits for staff to make use
of the public bicycle scheme across the city in both a personal and business capacity.
4.4.17 Disabled employees
The CCG is committed to an environment that promotes equality and embraces diversity in its
performance as an employer. It adheres to legal and performance requirements and
mainstreams its equality and diversity principles through its policies, procedures and
processes. To ensure that our policies do not have an adverse impact in response to the
requirements of The Equality Act 2010, policies are screened for relevance during policy
development processes and a full impact assessment conducted where necessary. The CCG
will take action when necessary to address any unexpected or unwarranted disparities and
monitor workforce and employment practices to ensure that employment policies are fairly
implemented. The Organisation is committed to ensuring that staff receive appropriate
awareness training in Equality and Diversity to undertake their role. Equality and Diversity
training is mandatory for all staff commensurate with the duties that they are required to
undertake.
We operate a fair and objective system for recruiting, which places emphasis on individual
skills, abilities and experience. This enables a full diversity of people to demonstrate their
ability to do a job. Selection criteria contained within our Job Descriptions and Person
Specifications are regularly reviewed to ensure that they are justifiable and so do not unfairly
discriminate directly or indirectly and are essential for the effective performance of the role. We
offer a guaranteed interview scheme for disabled applicants who meet our essential selection
criteria. We have ‘Positive About Disabled People/2 Tick’ accreditation.
We are committed to making reasonable adjustments in the workplace, including appropriate
training, to support the continuation of employment. We strive to enable all staff to achieve
their full potential in an environment of dignity and mutual respect. This is underpinned by
ensuring that every employee is in possession of a Personal Development Plan (PDP) and is
annually appraised in a Performance Development Review (PDR). All employees are
supported to develop the skills and abilities they require to carry out their current and any likely
future role in the organisation.
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TO BE SIGNED

Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
XXXX 2016
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CASE STUDY
Engaging the people of the city in Healthy Liverpool

In June 2015, the CCG launched a conversation about the issues which are driving the need
for change that underpins Healthy Liverpool, our five year programme to ensure that the health
service can deliver the high-quality care that the city’s population needs, both now and in the
future. Local residents were given the opportunity to comment on both the CCG’s case for why
the current health system needs to change, and the areas that it wants to prioritise.
This period of engagement also marked the launch of a brand new interactive section of the
CCG website ( www.liverpooltalkshealth.info/ ) where local people have the opportunity to join
the discussion in online groups, share their ideas and leave feedback via an online survey. The
CCG also held a series of community roadshows, and events with community and voluntary
sector organisations, to give all of the city’s communities the opportunity to make their voices
heard. Overall, around 14,000 people took part in the exercise.

INSERT PHOTO HERE

Between February and March 2016, people once again had the opportunity to comment on
Healthy Liverpool, as the CCG shared details of plans for bringing together hospital teams for
specific conditions, and putting more health and care services into local communities.
Dr Nadim Fazlani, is a local GP and Chair of NHS Liverpool CCG, he said “Healthy Liverpool is
about helping us all feel the benefit of living healthier lives, and making sure that services
provided in the city are of the highest standard and meet the needs of patients. We’re now in
the third year of our Healthy Liverpool journey, and we’re beginning to see the impact of
projects that are already delivering improvements for patients - for example the new Liverpool
diabetes service which brings together different elements of care to help people manage their
condition. In summer 2015 thousands of people told us about the issues which are important to
them, such as being able to get a GP appointment when they need one, both during the day
and out-of-hours and having access to good mental health services and we are making sure
we address these concerns in our plans.”
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CASE STUDY
Healthy Lung programme
Nationally, Liverpool has one of the highest mortality rates from lung cancer, and survival
from the disease is the second lowest out of 20 common cancers in England and Wales. The
lung cancer burden, as with most diseases, falls heaviest in areas with the highest
deprivation. This programme was officially launched in February 2016, after detailed
planning with a wide range of partners throughout 2015. The programme is being targeted at
communities with the highest rates of lung cancer mortality and incidence. The programme
takes conversations to local communities about lung health and how people can maintain
and improve their health and wellbeing. There is a focus on the positive steps that can be
taken by individuals to improve health and on the early detection and treatment of chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and lung cancer.
Cancer Lead GP, Ed Gaynor said, “The Liverpool Healthy Lung programme is really
exciting. It works with our most deprived communities to explore the meaning of healthy
lungs, to find and cure as many lung cancers as possible, and change attitudes to cancer. We
can and will reduce our cancer mortality rates, narrowing the gap with the rest of England.”

INSERT PHOTO HERE

In collaboration with partners, the programme is focussing on:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Promoting positive “lung health” messages to local communities.
Working with all staff in general practice to give them the skills to promote the
Healthy Lung programme and identify lung cancer earlier.
Improve awareness and understanding of lung cancer, and begin to tackle the stigma
and fear traditionally associated with diagnosis.
Identify people who fall into a “higher risk” category and offer them intervention.
Engage with target patients to offer a free lung health check and signpost them to
lifestyle support services, where appropriate.
Identifying earlier, a number of lung cancers enabling early treatment and improved
patient outcomes before symptoms present.
Narrow the life expectancy gap between neighbourhoods with higher than average
lung cancer death rates.
Identify previously undiagnosed COPD. There are thought to be more than 6,000
people living with undiagnosed COPD in in Liverpool.
Contributing to developing national evidence and policy around early diagnosis of lung
cancer.
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5. Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of NHS Liverpool Clinical
Commissioning Group

TO BE INSERTED HERE AT CONCLUSION OF AUDIT.
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6. THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2015/16
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GB35-16Accounts
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the Year Ended 31 March 2016
2015-16

2014-15

Note

£’000

£000

Gross employee benefits

4

8,010

5,688

Other costs

5

860,474

768,324

Other operating revenue

2

(28,016)

(28,417)

Net operating costs before interest

840,468

745,595

Net operating costs for the financial year

840,468

745,595

Total Income and Expenditure

Of which:
Administration Costs
Gross employee benefits

4

5,332

3,815

Other costs

5

5,286

7,603

Other operating revenue

2

(38)

(111)

10,580

11,307

Net administration costs before interest

Programme Expenditure
Gross employee benefits

4

2,678

1,873

Other costs

5

855,188

760,721

Other operating revenue

2

(27,978)

(28,306)

Net programme expenditure before interest

829,888

734,288

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year

840,468

745,595

The notes on pages 82 to 113 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2016
31 March 2016

31 March 2015

£000

£000

8

11,355

3,939

9

1

2

Total current assets

11,356

3,941

Total assets

11,356

3,941

Note
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables

10

(66,075)

(41,895)

Provisions

11

-

(750)

Total current liabilities

(66,075)

(42,645)

Total Liabilities Employed

(54,719)

(38,704)

General fund

(54,719)

(38,704)

Total taxpayers' equity:

(54,719)

(38,704)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

The notes on pages 82 to 113 form part of this statement.
The financial statements on pages 77 to 113 were approved by the Governing Body on
and signed on its behalf by:

Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the Year Ended 31 March 2016
General
fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
(38,704)

(38,704)
Balance at 1 April 2015

-

-

Changes in the Liverpool CCG taxpayers
equity for 2015-16

Net operating costs for the financial year

(840,468)

(840,468)
-

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the
Financial Year

(840,468)

-

-

(840,468)

Net funding

824,453

-

-

824,453

Balance at 31 March 2016

(54,719)

-

-

(54,719)

General
fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Balance at 1 April 2014

(22,487)

-

-

(22,487)

Changes in the Liverpool CCG taxpayers
equity for 2014-15

Net operating costs for the financial year

(745,595)

(745,595)

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the
Financial Year

(745,595)

(745,595)

729,378

729,378

(38,704)

(38,704)

Net funding

Balance at 31 March 2015
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 March 2016
2015-16

2014-15

Note

£’000

£000

2, 5

(840,468)

(745,595)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating costs for the financial year
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables

8

(7,416)

7,519

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables

10

24,180

7,949

Provisions utilised

11

(350)

-

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

11

(400)

750

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

(824,454)

(729,377)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing

(824,454)

(729,377)

Net funding received

824,453

729,378

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities

824,453

729,378

(1)

1

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the financial
year

2

1

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at
the End of the Financial Year

1

2

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents
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9

Notes to the Financial Statements
1.

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning
Groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by
the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2015-16 issued by the
Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts
follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are
meaningful and appropriate to Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the
Manual for Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which
is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Clinical
Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected.
The particular policies adopted by the Clinical Commissioning Group are described
below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material
in relation to the accounts.
1.1

Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the
provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.
Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector
entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of
Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the Financial Statements
are prepared on the going concern basis.
1.2 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
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1.3

Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the
public sector. Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely.
They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector
body to another.
1.4

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption
accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM
Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective
adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger
accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities
account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, with no
restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.
Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from
operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are
accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure
entries.
1.5

Pooled Budgets

Where the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget
arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 the Clinical
Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance
with the pooled budget agreement.
If the Clinical Commissioning Group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the Clinical
Commissioning Group recognises:
•

The assets the Clinical Commissioning Group controls;

•

The liabilities the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs;

•

The expenses the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs; and,

•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the income from the pooled budget
activities.
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If the Clinical Commissioning Group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets”
arrangement, in addition to the above, the Clinical Commissioning Group recognises:
•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the jointly controlled assets
(classified according to the nature of the assets);

•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,

•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.6

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies,
management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are
continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or, in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
1.6.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see
below) that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
•

Accruals, have been included in the financial statements to the extent that the
CCG recognises an obligation at the 31 March 2016 for which it had not been
invoiced. Estimates of accruals are undertaken by management based on the
information available at the end of the financial year, together with past
experience.

•

Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Management
have made an assessment for the period ended 31 March 2016. These
provisions are disclosed at note 11 – Provisions.
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•

Better Care Fund accruals have been based upon information available at the
year end and a review of the joint commissioning group approved schemes.
1.6.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of
applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
•

Activity is accounted for in the financial year it takes place, and not necessarily
when cash payments are made or received. The Clinical Commissioning Group
has a robust process for identifying that activities have taken place and for
identifying the appropriate accounting period. Therefore the degree of estimation
uncertainty is considered to be low.

•

The prescribing accrual for the final month of the year is based upon forecasted
figures provided by the Business Services Authority and estimates undertaken by
management based on information available at the end of the financial year,
together with past experience.

1.7

Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that,
performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following
year, that income is deferred.
1.8

Employee Benefits
1.8.1

Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in
which the service is received from employees.
1.8.2

Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions
Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS
employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined
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contribution scheme: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in
the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the
accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health, the additional pension liabilities
are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is
charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to
the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
1.9

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
1.9.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the
inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently
as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are
separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance
leases.
1.9.2

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the
amount of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance
lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate
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of return on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment outstanding in respect
of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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1.10 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or
services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration
payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the Clinical
Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs
when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash is shown net of bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s cash management.
1.12 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Clinical
Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is
the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
•

Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%

•

Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%

•

Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (2014-15: plus 2.20%)

•

All employee early departures: 1.30%

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected
to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

PAGE 97

1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical
Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority
which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for
all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning
Group.
1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and
the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the
Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation
Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The
annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular
claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
1.15 Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing
healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the scheme
Clinical Commissioning Group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to
settle the claims.
1.16 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes
party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the
goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

•

Held to maturity investments;

•

Available for sale financial assets; and,

•

Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.
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1.16.1

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit & Loss

At the end of the reporting period, the Clinical Commissioning Group assesses
whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through profit and
loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure
to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
1.17 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the
Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have
been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been
discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise,
financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.
1.18 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of
VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or
included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged
or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
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1.19 Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated
when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they
are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in
expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good
through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its
own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue
expenditure).
1.20 Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the Clinical Commissioning Group in
conjunction with one or more other parties but which are not performed through a
separate entity. The Clinical Commissioning Group records its share of the income and
expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows.
1.21 Research & Development
Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred,
except insofar as development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the
benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured. Expenditure so deferred is
limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the Statement
of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a systematic basis over the period expected to
benefit from the project. It should be re-valued on the basis of current cost. The
amortisation is calculated on the same basis as depreciation.
1.22 Accounting Standards that have been Issued but have not yet been
adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards
and Interpretations to be applied in 2015-16, all of which are subject to consultation:
•

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

•

IFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

•

IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement
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•

IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the
accounts for 2015-16, were they applied in that year.
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2.

Other Operating Revenue
2015-16

2015-16

2015-16

2014-15

Total

Admin

Programme

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

-

-

-

15

87

-

87

38

27,062

38

27,024

25,100

867

-

867

3,264

28,016

38

27,978

28,417

Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to
revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Non-patient care services to other
bodies
Other revenue

Total other operating revenue

Non-patient care services to other bodies includes income derived from public health
services.
Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of
healthcare or healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is
drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General
Fund.
3.

Revenue
2015-16

2015-16

2015-16

2014-15

Total

Admin

Programme

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

From rendering of services

28,016

38

27,978

28,417

Total

28,016

38

27,978

28,417

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group
receives no revenue from the sale of goods.
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4.

Employee Benefits & Staff Numbers

4.1

Employee benefits

4.1.1

Employee benefits expenditure
2015-16
Total

Total
Permanent
Employees

Total
Other

£000

£000

6,583

201415
Total

Admin
Total

Admin
Permanent
Employees

Admin
Other

Programme
Total

Programme
Permanent
Employees

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

6,082

501

4,376

4,079

297

2,207

2,003

204

4,545

581

581

-

397

397

-

184

184

-

403

846

846

-

559

559

-

287

287

-

568

Other pension costs

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other post-employment benefits

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other employment benefits

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Termination benefits

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

172

8,010

7,509

501

5,332

5,035

297

2,678

2,474

204

5,688

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

8,010

7,509

501

5,332

5,035

297

2,678

2,474

204

5,688

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

8,010

7,509

501

5,332

5,035

297

2,678

2,474

204

5,688

Programme
Other

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages*
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS
pension scheme

Gross employee benefits
expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of
employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee
benefits including capitalised
costs
Less: Employee costs
capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding
capitalised costs

*NHS Liverpool CCG policy is for all annual leave due to be taken in the year it is earned, the cost of leave earned but not taken is minimal and has not therefore been included in expenditure.
**The above 2015/16 figures include Governing Body payments which, with the exception of Donal O’Donoghue, are now paid via payroll.
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4.2

Average number of people employed
2015-16

2014-15

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Total

Number

Number

Number

Number

130

8

138

106

-

-

-

-

r

Total CCG (WTE)
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

4.3

Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

Please see page x of the annual report for staff sickness reported.
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4.4

Exit packages agreed in the financial year
2015-16
Compulsory
redundancies
Number

£'000

2015-16

2015-16

Other agreed
departures

Total

Number

£'000

Number

£'000

Less than £10,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£10,001 to £25,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£25,001 to £50,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£50,001 to £100,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£150,001 to £200,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

Over £200,001

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

£100,001 to £150,000

2014-15
Compulsory
redundancies

2014-15
Other agreed
departures

2014-15
Total

Number

£'000

Number

£'000

Number

£'000

Less than £10,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£10,001 to £25,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£25,001 to £50,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£50,001 to £100,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£100,001 to £150,000

1

138

-

-

1

138

£150,001 to £200,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

Over £200,001

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

1

138

-

-

1

138

2015-16

2014-15

Departures where
special payments
have been made

Departures where
special payments have
been made

Number

£'000

Number

£'000

Less than £10,000

-

-

-

-

£10,001 to £25,000

-

-

-

-

£25,001 to £50,000

-

-

1

34

£50,001 to £100,000

-

-

-

-

£100,001 to £150,000

-

-

-

-

£150,001 to £200,000

-

-

-

-

Over £200,001

-

-

-

-

Total

-

-

1

34
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Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme. Where the Clinical
Commissioning Group has agreed early retirements, the additional costs would be met
by the Clinical Commissioning Group and not by the NHS Pension Scheme.
The Clinical Commissioning Group had no ill health retirements in 2015/16 (2014/15:
Nil).

4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions
Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the
NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The
scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify
their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the
cost to the NHS Body of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every
five years) and an accounting valuation every year. An outline of these follows:
4.3.1

Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits
due under the Scheme (taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to
recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The
last such valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at
31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to that date. Details can be
found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For 2015-16, employers’ contributions of £846k were payable to the NHS Pensions
Scheme (2014-15: £568k) at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s
actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on
HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used
data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 June
2014. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1.1.
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5.

Operating Expenses
2015-16
Total
£000

2015-16
Admin
£000

2015-16
Programme
£000

2014-15
Total
£000

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body
members

6,761

4,083

2,678

5,140

Executive governing body members

1,249

1,249

-

548

Total gross employee benefits

8,010

5,332

2,678

5,688

6,022
160,237
401,576
15
97,637

2,079
-

3,943
160,237
401,576
15
97,637

9,475
170,507
384,180
4
70,561

13
520
137
5,689
60
7,785
86
69
4
91,284
83,212
663
1,545
2,348
275
(400)
1,243
454
860,474

13
29
37
880
35
1,427
86
69
4
202
332
92
1
5,286

491
100
4,809
25
6,358
91,284
83,010
331
1,545
2,348
183
(400)
1,243
453
855,188

1,175
424
5,255
6,849
9
6,873
114
85
11
86,292
21,067
251
872
2,071
198
750
1,055
246
768,324

868,484

10,618

857,866

774,012

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and lay membership body and governing body
members
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other auditor’s remuneration
·
Internal audit services*
Other Services
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS**
Other professional fees excl. audit
Grants to other bodies
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs
Total operating expenses

*Internal audit services during the year were provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency.
**Delegated Co-Commissioning responsibility for Primary Medical Services was assigned to
the Clinical Commissioning Group with effect from 1 April 2015. Expenditure in relation to this
function is included within this figure.
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6.

Better Payment Practice Code

6.1

Measure of compliance
2015-16

2015-16

2014-15

2014-15

Number

£000

Number

£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year

14,410

130,979

11,774

108,904

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

13,693

125,362

11,352

105,506

95.02%

95.71%

96.42%

96.88%

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year

3,389

573,862

3,655

578,055

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target

3,220

564,247

3,524

574,979

95.01%

98.32%

96.42%

99.47%

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within
target

NHS Payables

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within
target

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Clinical Commissioning Group to aim
to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice,
whichever is later.
7.

Operating Leases
7.1

As lessee

The Clinical Commissioning Group has arrangements in place with NHS Property
Services and Community Health Partnerships for the use of property assets. Although
no formal contracts are in place the substance of the transactions involved convey the
right of the Clinical Commissioning Group to use the property assets. In accordance
with IAS 17 and the Department of Health Manual for Accounts 2015-16 payments are
required to be disclosed as operating lease payments. Payments made in 2015-16 are
shown below:
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7.1.1 Payments recognised as an expense

2015-16

2014-15

Land
£000

Buildings
£000

Other
£000

Total
£000

Total
£000

-

1,931

49

1,980

4,910

Contingent rents

-

-

-

-

-

Sub-lease payments

-

-

-

-

-

Total

-

1,931

49

1,980

4,910

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
While our arrangements with Community Health Partnerships Ltd and NHS Property
Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for the
remainder of the current lease, has not yet been agreed. Consequently, this note does
not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements. The CCG served
formal notice on void costs for non-LIFT buildings within Liverpool to NHS Property
Services in June 2015. No further liability post December 2015 is anticipated by the
Clinical Commissioning Group in respect of these properties.
Subsequently, the following future minimum lease payments are in respect of the
Clinical Commissioning Groups new headquarters only:

2015-16
£000

2014-15
£000

Receivable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years

1,303
-

-

Total

1,303

-
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8.

Trade & Other Receivables
Current

Current

2015-16
£000

2014-15
£000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS prepayments
Non-NHS accrued income
VAT
Other receivables
Total

826
721
9,115
273
295
3
122

2,039
1,324
383
193
-

11,355

3,939

There were no non –current receivables in 2015/16 (2014/15 – nil)
Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

-

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by
Government to provide funding to Clinical Commissioning Groups to commission
services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
An assessment of the credit quality of receivables neither past due or impaired
concluded that no credit scoring is considered necessary.
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8.1

Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2015-16
£000

2014/15
£000

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months

8,377
907
368

7
125
-

Total

9,652

132

£7,436k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of
financial date.
9.

Cash & Cash Equivalents
2015-16
£000
2
(1)
1

2014-15
£000
1
1
2

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

1
1

1
1

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts

-

-

Balance at 31 March
Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group, not
included above

1

2

-

-

Balance at 1 April 2015
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2016
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2

10.

Trade & Other Payables
Current
2015-16
£000

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables
Total

9,010
4,603
22,081
25,381
91
107
4,802
66,075

Current
2014-15
£000
7,445
1,579
28,377

4,494
41,895

There were no non–current payables in 2015/16 (2014/15 – nil)
No liabilities due in future years are included above under arrangements to buy out
liability for early retirement over 5 years. Other payables include £118k outstanding
pension contributions at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 £112k).
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11. Provisions
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England
is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims
relating to periods of care before establishment of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
However, the legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning Group. The total value
of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of
this Clinical Commissioning Group at 31 March 2016 is £1.9m (2015/16 - £4.3m).
During the year, the Clinical Commissioning Group relocated its headquarters
accommodation procured via NHS Property Services. In the prior year, the Clinical
Commissioning Group made a provision for the financial effects associated with dilapidation
costs and known commitments for planned relocation. Following the Clinical Commissioning
Group headquarters being fully relocated during the year, all provisions in respect of
dilapidation have been fully utilised or reversed during the year.
Current

Current

2015-16

2014-15

£000

£000

-

750

Other
Total

750

Total current and non-current

-

750

There were no non –current provisions in 2015/16 (2014/15 – nil).

Other
£000
Balance at 1 April 2015
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Transfer (to) from other public sector body
Balance at 31 March 2016

Total
£000

750

750

(350)
(400)
-

(350)
(400)
-

-

-

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31 March 2016
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12.

Contingencies

The Clinical Commissioning Group has assessed that the likelihood of contingent
assets and liabilities is remote as at 31 March 2016.
13.

Clinical Negligence Costs

The value of provisions carried in the books of the NHS Litigation Authority in regard to
CNST claims as at 31 March 2016 was £39.5k (2014-15 £nil).
14.

Financial Instruments

14.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard 7: Financial Instrument: Disclosure requires
disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating
or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding,
it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also,
financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly
apply. The Clinical Commissioning Group has limited powers to borrow or invest
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Clinical
Commissioning Group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within
parameters defined formally within the Clinical Commissioning Group’s standing
financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is
subject to review by the Clinical Commissioning Group’s internal auditors.
14.1.1 Currency risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great
majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The
Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The Clinical
Commissioning Group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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14.1.2 Interest rate risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure,
subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25
years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the
National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Clinical Commissioning
Group has no borrowings and therefore has no exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
14.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s revenue comes from
parliamentary funding, the Clinical Commissioning Group has low exposure to credit
risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables
from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
14.1.4 Liquidity risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital
resource limits, which are funded from resources voted annually by Parliament. The
Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as need arises.
The Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity
risks.
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14.2 Financial assets

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2016

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2015
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At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’
2015-16
£000

Loans and
Receivables

Available
for Sale

Total

2015-16
£000

2015-16
£000

2015-16
£000

-

1,547
9,410
1
122
11,080

-

1,547
9,410
1
122
11,080

At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’
2014-15
£000

Loans and
Receivables

Available
for Sale

Total

2014-15
£000

2014-15
£000

2014-15
£000

-

2,039
1,324
2
3,365

-

2,039
1,324
2
3,365

14.3 Financial liabilities

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2015

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2014

15.

At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’

Other

Total

2015-16
£000

2015-16
£000

2015-16
£000

-

13,613
52,264
65,877

13,613
52,264
65,877

At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’

Other

Total

2014-15
£000

2014-15
£000

2014-15
£000

-

7,445
34,450
41,895

7,445
34,450
41,895

Operating Segments

The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one segment: Commissioning of
Healthcare Services.
Gross
expenditure
£'000

Income
£'000

Net
expenditure
£'000

Total
assets
£'000

Total
liabilities
£'000

Net
liabilities
£'000

Commissioning
of Healthcare
Services

868,484

(28,016)

840,468

11,356

(66,075)

(54,719)

Total

868,484

(28,016)

840,468

11,356

(66,075)

(54,719)
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16.

Pooled Budgets

The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into pooled budget arrangements with
Liverpool City Council.
A partnership agreement was entered into by the predecessor organisation, Liverpool
Primary Care Trust, (using powers under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act
2006) to ‘pool’ budgets from the two organisations for the creation of a single budget
for the provision of Integrated Community Equipment and Disability Advice Services.
The Integrated Equipment Service Partnership came into effect on 1 January 2004.
The CCG procures this service from Liverpool Community Health Trust who hosts the
pool.
With effect from 1st April 2015, the CCG has had arrangements in place (using powers
under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006) to operate a pooled budget
for the Better Care Fund initiative. The Better Care Fund functions as a joint operation,
consequently the CCG has recognised expenditure in 2015/16 when an obligation has
arisen. Liverpool City Council operates as Lead Commissioner for services and
transactions have been accounted for accordingly.
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the income and expenditure handled by
the pooled budgets in the financial year were:
2015-16
£000

2014-15
£000

5,391
5,391

4,090
4,090

39,196
39,196

-

Community Equipment and Disability
Service
Income
Expenditure
TOTAL
Better Care Fund*
Income
Expenditure
TOTAL

*The Care Act 2014 amended the NHS Act 2006 to provide the legislative basis for the Better
Care Fund. It allows for the NHS Mandate to include specific requirements relating to the
establishment and use of an integration fund to ensure transformation in integrated health and
social care. The fund operated in shadow form during 2014/15 and expenditure was included
within CCG budgets. As the fund did not exist formally no comparative figures are shown for
2014/15.
See https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nhs-mandate-2015-to-2016
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17. Related Party Transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

Name of Governing
Body member
Dr Nadim Fazlani
Dr Simon Bowers
Dr Janet Bliss
Dr Rosie Kaur
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Dr Maurice Smith
Dr Monica Khuraijam

Practice
Edge Hill Health
Centre
Fulwood Green
Medical Centre
The Grey Road
Surgery
The Elms Medical
Centre
Aintree Park Group
Practice
Mather Avenue
Surgery
Oak Vale Medical
Centre

Amounts
Payments
owed to
Amounts due
to related
Related
from Related
Receipts from
party
Related Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
1,597

-

164

-

1,038

-

44

-

945

-

115

-

1,520

-

65

-

2,465

-

187

-

1,341

-

39

-

1,229

-

218

-

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical
Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent. For example:
•

NHS England (including commissioning support units);

•

NHS Foundation Trusts;

•

NHS Trusts;

•

NHS Litigation Authority; and,

•

NHS Business Services Authority.

In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material
transactions with other government departments and other central and local
government bodies.
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The most significant of these transactions are listed below:
Receipts
Payments to from
Amounts
Amounts due
related
Related
owed to
from Related
party
Party
Related Party Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000

Name

Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University
Hospitals NHS trust
Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust

Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust
Mersey Care NHS Trust
Liverpool Women’s Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust

208,356
80,534

Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust
St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals NHS
Trust
Liverpool Heart and Chest NHS Foundation
Trust
Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Cheshire & Merseyside CSU
Community Health Partnership
Liverpool City Council

18.

-

5,316
2,304

15
4
71
-

78,410
74,292

-

53
573

38,068
27,892
20,591

-

158
152
97

55
-

18,540

-

283

-

6,725

-

602

-

3,050
2,873
5,099
35,397

24,014

195
62
19,931

9,381

Events After the Reporting Period
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the
financial statements of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
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19.

Losses & Special Payments
The total number of losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as
follows:

Losses

Administrative write-offs
Fruitless payments
Store losses
Book Keeping Losses
Constructive loss
Cash losses
Claims abandoned
Total

Total
Number of
Cases
2015-16
Number
2
2

Total
Value of
Cases
2015-16
£'000
0
0

Total
Number of
Cases
2014-15
Number
-

Total
Value of
Cases
2014-15
£'000
-

Total
Number of
Cases
2015-16
Number
1
1

Total
Value of
Cases
2015-16
£'000
0
0

Total
Number of
Cases
2014-15
Number
2
1
3

Total
Value of
Cases
2014-15
£'000
1
34
35

Special Payments

Compensation payments
Extra contractual Payments
Ex gratia payments
Extra statutory extra regulatory payments
Special severance payments
Total
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20.

Financial Performance Duties
Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s performance against those duties was as follows:
2015/16
National
Health
Service Act
Section Duty
223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)

223J(1)

223J(2)

223J(3)

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Capital resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use
does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

2015/16

Maximum

Performance

£’000

£’000

Duty
Achieved?

2014/15

2014/15

Maximum

Performance

£’000

£’000

Duty
Achieved?

882,911
-

868,484
-

Yes

792,228

774,012

Yes

Yes

-

-

Yes

854,895

840,468

Yes

763,811

745,595

Yes

-

-

-

-

Yes
-

-

Yes
-

-

Yes

10,961

10,580

Yes

Yes

12,589

11,307

Yes

Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the
financial year; and, income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource and all
other amounts accounted as received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included
here on a gross basis.
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Report no: GB36-16
NHS LIVERPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
GOVERNING BODY
THURSDAY 26 MAY 2016
Title of Report
Lead Governor
Senior
Management
Team Lead
Report Author
Summary

Recommendation

Relevant
standards/targets
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HFMA suggested questions for Governing
Body and management responses
Tom Jackson
Chief Finance Officer
Alison Ormrod
Interim Head of Finance
Beverley Bird
Financial Accountant
The report provides the Governing Body
with suggested areas which should be
considered prior to the approval of the
financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2016.
The Governing Body are asked to:
• note the management responses to
the questions posed prior to the formal
approval of the financial statements.
HFMA “CCG Annual Report and
Accounts” guide

HFMA suggested questions for Governing Body and
management responses

1. PURPOSE
The purpose of this report is to assist members of the CCG and its
Governing Body through the process of reviewing and approving the
annual report and accounts.
The report includes suggested questions that members of the Governing
Body may want to ask themselves as they review the annual report and
accounts.
These questions are not meant to be used as a checklist but to help
members of the Governing Body ensure they understand the key
features of the CCGs accounts and can approve them with confidence.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
The Governing Body are asked to note the management responses to
the questions posed prior to the formal approval of the financial
statements.

Beverley Bird
23 May 2016
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HFMA Introductory Guide - CCG Annual Report and
Accounts

Questions for Members of the Governing Body to
Consider

Question - ACCOUNTS

CCG Response

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

CCGs receive funding from parliament, so that whilst accounting standards require a statement of
comprehensive income the Department of Health Group - Manual for Accounts requires a statement
of comprehensive net expenditure (SOCNE) instead.
The SOCNE shows all amounts spent by the CCG in year less any income received for goods or services
to other organisations.

Do the figures appear reasonable based on financial reports to the governing body throughout the year? In particular, does the
CCG's performance against its financial targets agree with your expectations

Financial Planning information was discussed with the Governing Body at the start of the financial year 2015/16.
A monthly summary of the financial position has been reported to Governing Body throughout the financial year
which describes performance against the CCG notified programme and running cost allocations; achievement of
planned surplus and non recurrent requirements. Monthly financial monitoring reports have been provided to
the Finance, Procurement and Contracting Committee.

Other than in the first year of operation, do you understand the reasons for any significant differences from the comparative figures
for the prior year? Where there is no significant movement year on year, are you satisfied that this is what is expected?

Explanation for significant movements in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure and the statement of
financial position are provided in Appendix 1 to this report.

If the CCG has been involved in a transfer of functions in year, is there a reported net gain or loss on transfers by absorption? Is this
as anticipated?

Not Applicable - no transfers in year.

There are rows in the SOCNE which CCGs would not be normally expected to use. If these are included in the CCG's SOCNE and are
not showing as zero or a small number, do you understand why the CCG's activities differ from the norm?

Nothing reported in rows within the SOCNE which would not be expected to be used.

If the CCG has exceeded the resources (revenue, capital and administration) specified in directions by NHS England do you
understand why? Are you satisfied with the plans in place to ensure the CCG meets these targets in the following period? Do you
understand the consequences of exceeding these targets?

The CCG did not exceed resource targets and achieved the planned surplus

If the CCG has failed to pay at least 95% of NHS or non NHS invoices within the target period do you understand why? Are you
satisfied with the plans in place to ensure its invoices are paid as they fall due in the following period?

In 2015/16 the CCG achieved the 95% target for NHS and Non NHS invoices by value and target. The Finance
team will continue to work with Shared Business Services and Providers organisations to ensure prompt
resolution to processing queries.

Statement of Financial Position

The statement of financial position(SOFP) represents the financial position of the CCG at a specific
date - 31st March 2016.

Do the figures appear reasonable based on the financial reports to the governing body throughout the year?

A monthly summary of the financial position has been reported to Governing Body throughout the financial year
which describes performance against the CCG notified programme and running cost allocations; achievement of
planned surplus and non recurrent requirements. Monthly financial monitoring reports which include the SOFP
have been provided to Finance, Procurement and Contracting Committee.

Do you understand the reasons for any significant differences from the comparative figures for the prior year? Where there is no
significant movement year on year. Are you satisfied that his is what is expected?

Explanation for significant movements in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure and the statement of
financial position are provided in Appendix 1 to this report.

If there are balances which a CCG would not normally be expected to have, do you understand why this CCG is different?

No unexpected balances

If receivables have increased significantly, are you satisfied that the CCG's credit control systems are operating effectively?

Explanation for significant movements in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure and the statement of
financial position are provided in Appendix 1 to this report.

If payables have increased significantly, is the CCG having difficulties paying its payables? (Refer also to its performance against the
Better Payments Practice Code)

Explanation for significant movements in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure and the statement of
financial position are provided in Appendix 1 to this report.

Where provisions are significant, has the CCG factored future payment into its cash flow forecasts?

No provisions remaining at the end of the financial year 15/16

If the CCG does not have any significant provisions, are you satisfied that it has adequately considered any potential liabilities?

Potential Liabilities are considered by the senior finance team, no significant liabilities identified.

If an "other reserve" has been created are you aware that the CCG has had approval for this from NHS England and the Department? Not Applicable

Has the governing body considered whether the CCG is likely to continue in its current form for at least 12 months from the date of
the SOFP and where there are material uncertainties have they been adequately disclosed in the accounts?

Considered by Audit Committee Chair - no material uncertainties

Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity
The statement of changes in taxpayers' equity (SOCITE) shows the movement in reserves and general
fund in the financial year. The statement shows funding from parliament for the year.
If there is a prior period adjustment, has the reason for it been explained clearly to you and disclosed in the accounts?

Not Applicable

If there are significant balances where this is likely to be unusual, do you understand why this is the case?

No unusual significant balances

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows (SOCF) shows the actual cash flowing into and out of the CCG during the
financial year. The statement starts with the SOCNE and lists the adjustments required to bring this
back to the cash paid out or received in year.

Does the CCG end of year cash flow position correspond with that reported during the financial year?

Cash balance reduced to minimal levels at 31 March 2016 - in year cash levels have been reduced to comply with
NHS England requirements

Do the figures appear reasonable based on other entries in the accounts? (For example, if there has been a significant rise in
payables is this evident in the cash flows from operating activities?)

Explanation for significant movements in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure and the statement of
financial position are provided in Appendix 1 to this report.

Are there any items that are not clearly explained which may indicate that they have been included only to ensure the net increase/
decrease in cash and cash equivalents agrees with the movement in the SOFP?

Not Applicable
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Accounting Policies
Are you aware of any departures from the accounting policies set by NHS England? If so has the CCG received approval from NHS
England?

There have been no departures from the accounting policies set by NHS England

If there have been any changes in applicable accounting policies this year, are you clear about the impact on the CCG's accounts?
Have they been considered by the audit committee?

Not Applicable - the accounting policies were noted by the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee at the meeting on
22rd April 2016.

Do the accounts set out clearly the key assumptions you are aware that management has made when preparing them?

Do the accounts set out the key assumptions you are aware that management has made when preparing them and also any
associated uncertainty in significant figures?

Regular meetings between Audit Committee Chair, Accountable Officer and Chief Finance Officer throughout the
year. Organisational risks detailed in the annual report.

Employee Benefits

Do you understand the reasons for any significant movements in employee benefits and/ or staff?

Staff numbers have increased in line with planned recruitment of Healthy Liverpool Programme and Cocommissioning posts.

Does the change in staff numbers or mix make sense in relation to any changes in overall employee benefits?

See above

Do the disclosures for termination benefits, sickness absence and ill-health retirements make sense in relation to your knowledge of Sickness absence impacted by effect of long term sickness of a number of members however, this has fallen by
activity in these areas during the year?
0.5% in 15/16.

Operating Expenses
Does the analysis of expenditure appear reasonable to you based on your understanding of the CCG's operations?

A monthly summary of the financial position has been reported to Governing Body throughout the financial year.
Regular Financial monitoring reports have been provided to Finance, Procurement and Contracting Committee.

Other than in the first year of operations, do you understand the reasons for any significant differences from the comparative figures Explanation for significant movements in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure and the statement of
for the prior year? Do you also understand the reasons for a lack of significant movement year on year?
financial position are provided in Appendix 1 to this report.

Do you know the main elements of 'other' expenditure?

Details of other expenditure are included in Appendix 1

Does the CCG operate from premises owned by NHS Property Services Ltd? Is the related expenditure shown under "premises"

Yes to November 2015, when the Liverpool CCG transferred its headquarters. However, costs for the full year are
shown within "premises".

Does expenditure on significant contracts, for example the contract held with the commissioning support unit look reasonable and is Yes
it consistent with what you know?

Trade and other receivables
Does the analysis of trade and other receivables appear reasonable to you?

Explanation for significant movements in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure and the statement of
financial position are provided in Appendix 1 to this report.

Other than in the first year of operation, do you understand the reasons for any significant differences from the comparative figures
for the prior year?

Explanation for significant movements in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure and the statement of
financial position are provided in Appendix 1 to this report.

Did the agreement of balances exercise identify any significant differences between what the CCG is reporting and the equivalent
figures reported by the counterparty? If so, are you satisfied with what is being done to reconcile them?

Variance reports have been provided by NHS England - work is ongoing to eliminate discrepancies

Trade and other payables
Does the analysis of trade and other payables appear reasonable to you?

Payable balances include accruals for invoices relating to 2015/16 - the main balances are - Prescribing accruals
for Feb and March 2016 - £14m; NHS accruals - £14m Liverpool City Council - £12m; co-commissioning - £5m

Other than in the first year of operation, do you understand the reasons for any significant differences from the comparative figures
for the prior year?

Explanation for significant movements in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure and the statement of
financial position are provided in Appendix 1 to this report.

Did the agreement of balances exercise identify any significant differences between what the CCG is reporting and the equivalent
figures reported by the counterparty? If so, are you satisfied with what is being done to reconcile them?

Variance reports have been provided by NHS England - no significant unadjusted issues remain.

Losses and Special Payments
Does the number and value of losses and special payments agree with your expectations based on reports through the year?

The losses register was presented for review to the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee on 22nd April 2016.

Events after the reporting period
Is the information in this note consistent with your understanding of key events since the year end?
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No significant events after the reporting period identified.

APPENDIX 1

HFMA Guide - CCG Annual Report & Accounts 2014/15

2015-16
£'000

2014-15
£'000

Variance
£'000

COMMENTS

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

Employee benefits excluding governing body members

6,761

5,140

Executive governing body members

1,262

1,723 -

Services from other CCGs and NHS England

6,022

9,475 -

Services from foundation trusts

160,237

170,507 -

Services from other NHS trusts

401,576

384,180

Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Supplies and services – general

15

4

97,637
520

70,561
424

Consultancy services

1,621 Staff numbers have increased by 30% in line with planned recruitment in Healthy Liverpool and CoCommissioning.
461 Changes in sessional rates and changes in governing body membership
3,453 CSU charges less in CY than prior year - new provider contract with Midlands and Lancs CSU and Nurse
assessment SLA less than prior year charge
10,270 Prior year included a one off contribution to Clatterbridge Cancer Centre, therefore reduction in current
year of £9.6m
17,396 IAPT service £5.4m delivered by Merseycare NHST in 15/16 previously with Sth Staff FT. £8m increase in
contract payments to RLBUHT in 15/16.
12 NCA payments to Wales/Scotland
27,076 As a result in Better Care fund charges in current year compared to prior year.
96 No significant changes noted

140

5,255 -

5,115 Large exercise in prior year regarding FTI Consultancy economic modelling - project completed in 14/15.

Establishment
Transport

5,689
60

6,849 9

1,160 Reduction in computer software licenses in current year
51 No significant changes noted

Premises

7,785

6,873

Audit fees
Internal audit services
Other services
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit

86
69
91,284
83,212
663

Grants to Other public bodies
Research and development (excluding staff costs)

1,545
2,348

872
2,071

276

198

400

750 -

Education and training
Provisions

-

CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure

Total

114 85 11 86,292
21,067
251

1,243
454

1,055
246

868,484

774,013

15-16
£'000

14-15
£'000

912 Includes costs for move to new HQ building
28
16
11
4,992
62,145
412

No significant changes noted
No significant changes noted
No significant changes noted
Costs and activity increase in 15/16
Includes delegated co-commissioning in 15/16
Business case review costs in 15/16 for digital programme. One off costs regarding move to new build.

673 Number of small grant payments to organisations increased from 90 to 122 in 15/16
277 CLARHC profiling - increased spend in 15/16, increase in research capability funding (RCF) in 15/16
78 Increased clinical training sessions / workshops and HLP conferences and events
1,150 Write off and usage of dilapidation provision as a result of office move - now taken place and costs all
settled
188 Cost calculated by NHS England and notified to the CCG
208 MI Digital Business Case approved expenditure
94,471

Variance
£'000

Statement of Financial Position

Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and Other Payables
Provisions
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11,355
-

3,939

66,075 -

41,895 -

-

750

-

7,416 Increase in 15/16 as a result of timing of receipt of S75 invoice from the Liverpool City Council. Debtor
now received.
24,180 Increase in 15/16 as a result of co-commissioning, (£5m), Better Care Fund and Liverpool City Council
accruals (£13.2mm), GP extended Hours (£900k) prescribing increase (£500k) and NHS accruals with
providers.
750 Write off and usage of dilapidation provision as a result of office move - now taken place and costs all
settled

Report no:GB37-16
NHS LIVERPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
GOVERNING BODY
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS
TUESDAY 26 MAY 2016
Title of Report

Draft Representation Letter

Lead Governor

Tom Jackson
Chief Finance Officer
Alison Ormrod
Interim Head of Finance

Senior
Management
Team Lead
Report Author
Summary

Recommendation

Beverley Bird
Financial Accountant
Draft Representation letter to be signed on
26 May 2016 by the Accountable Officer and
Chair of the Governing Body.
The Governing Body are asked to:
•
Acknowledge the
representations incorporated in the
letter to be provided to Grant
Thornton, and
•

Relevant
standards/targets
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Approve the signing of
the draft representation letter on
behalf of management and the
governing body
International Standards on Auditing
(ISA 580)

Draft Representation Letter

1. PURPOSE
The purpose of this document is to provide the Governing Body with the
draft representation proposed to be signed by the Accountable Officer
and Chair of the Governing Body, on behalf of management and the
Governing Body.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
The Governing Body are asked to:
• Acknowledge the representations incorporated in the letter to be
provided to Grant Thornton, and
• Approve the signing of the draft representation letter on behalf
of management and the governing body
3. BACKGROUND
International Standard’s on Auditing (ISA) requires auditor’s to obtain
written representation from management and, where appropriate, those
charged with governance when conducting an audit of financial
statements.
The representation letter is used, but not solely, as audit evidence in
arriving at the conclusion on which the auditor’s opinion in based.
4. THE OBJECTIVES OF THE REPRESENTATION LETTER
The objectives of the auditor in requesting the representation letter are;
• To obtain written representation from management, and those
charged with governance, to confirm that they believe that they have
fulfilled their responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements and for the completeness of the information provided to
the auditor;
• To support other audit evidence relevant to the financial statements
of specific assertions in the financial statements by means of written
representations if determined necessary by the auditor or required by
other ISAs; and
• To respond appropriately to written representations provided by
management and, where appropriate, those charged with
governance, or if management or, where appropriate, those charged
with governance do not provide the written representations
requested by the auditor.
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5. THE CONTENT OF THE REPRESENTATION LETTER
The representation letter is deemed to be a standard representation
required from the Liverpool CCG and in line with the prior year
representation provided.
The representation letter does not include any additional representations
other than standard requirements.

6. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS (only applicable to strategy &
commissioning papers)
5.1

Does this require public engagement or has public
engagement been carried out?
NOTE APPLICABLE
i. If no explain why
ii. If yes attach either the engagement plan or the engagement
report as an appendix. Summarise key engagement
issues/learning and how responded to.
5.2
Does the public sector equality duty apply? Yes/no.
NOT APPLICABLE
i. If no please state why
ii. If yes summarise equalities issues, action taken/to be taken
and attach engagement EIA (or separate EIA if no
engagement required). If completed state how EIA is/has
affected final proposal.
5.3

Explain how you have/will maximise social value in the
proposal: describe the impact on each of the following
areas showing how this is constructed to achieve the most:
NOT APPLICABLE
a) Economic wellbeing
b) Social wellbeing
c) Environmental wellbeing
5.4

Taking the above into account, describe the impact on
improving health outcomes and reducing inequalities
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7. DESCRIBE HOW THIS PROMOTES FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
NOT APPLICABLE

Beverley Bird
Financial Accountant
24 May 2016
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The Department
2 Renshaw Street
Liverpool
L1 2SA
Grant Thornton UK LLP
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool
L3 1PS
26 May 2016

Dear Sirs
NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2016

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial
statements of NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group for the year ended 31
March 2016 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the accounting policies directed by the NHS
Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to the
National Health Service in England.
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such
inquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing
ourselves:
Financial Statements
i
As CCG Governing Body members we have fulfilled our responsibilities
under the National Health Services Act 2006 for the preparation of the financial
statements in accordance with the Department of Health Group Manual for
Accounts 2015-16 (Manual for Accounts) and International Financial Reporting
Standards which give a true and fair view in accordance therewith.
ii
We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting
the CCG and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the
financial statements.
iii
The CCG has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that
could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of noncompliance. There has been no non-compliance with requirements of the Care
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Quality Commission or other regulatory authorities that could have a material effect
on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance.
i
We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.
ii
Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates,
including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.
iii
We are satisfied that the material judgements used in the preparation of the
financial statements are soundly based, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the Manual for Accounts, and adequately disclosed in the
financial statements. There are no other material judgements that need to be
disclosed.
iv
Except as disclosed in the financial statements:
a
there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b
none of the assets of the CCG has been assigned, pledged or
mortgaged
c
there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional
or non-recurring items requiring separate disclosure.
v
Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International
Financial Reporting Standards and the Manual for Accounts.
vi
All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Manual for Accounts requires
adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.
vii
We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and
disclosures changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report. The
financial statements have been amended for these misstatements,
misclassifications and disclosure changes and are free of material misstatements,
including omissions.
The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions.
viii
In calculating the amount of income to be recognized in the financial
statements from other NHS organisations we have applied judgement, where
appropriate, to reflect the appropriate amount of income expected to be received
by the CCG in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards
and the Manual for Accounts.
ix Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed
in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards
and the Manual for Accounts.
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x
We acknowledge our responsibility to participate in the Department of
Health's agreement of balances exercise and have followed the requisite guidance
and directions to do so. We are satisfied that the balances calculated for the CCG
ensure the financial statements and consolidation schedules are free from material
misstatement, including the impact of any disagreements.
xi
We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value
or classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.
xii
We confirm that the financial statements have been properly considered and
approved by an appropriate body in accordance with the CCG constitution.
xiii
We confirm that non-executive Governing Body members are engaged on a
contract for service.
Information Provided
xiv
We have provided you with:
a.
access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the
preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other
matters;
b.
additional information that you have requested from us for the
purpose of your audit; and
c.
unrestricted access to persons within the CCG from whom you
determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.
xv
We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which
management is aware.
xvi
All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are
reflected in the financial statements.
xvii
We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.
xviii We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud
affecting the CCG involving:
a.
management;
b.
employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c.
others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
xix
We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or
suspected fraud, affecting the CCG’s financial statements communicated by
employees, former employees, regulators or others.
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xx
We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be
considered when preparing financial statements.
xxi
We have disclosed to you the identity of all of the CCG’s related parties and
all the related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.
xxii
We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims
whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.
Annual Report
xxiii The disclosures within the Annual Report fairly reflect our understanding of
the CCG’s financial and operating performance over the period covered by the
financial statements.
Governance Statement
xxiv We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects
the CCG’s risk assurance framework and we confirm that we are not aware of any
significant risks that are not disclosed within the AGS.
Approval
The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the CCG’s Governing
Body at its meeting on 26 May 2016.
Yours faithfully
Name……………………………
Position………………………….
Date…………………………….

Name……………………………
Position………………………….
Date…………………………….
Signed on behalf of the Governing Body
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DRAFT
Private and Confidential
Grant Thornton UK LLP
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool
L3 1PS
T +44 (0)151 224 7200
www.grant-thornton.co.uk

Professor Maureen Williams
Chair of the Audit Risk and Scrutiny Committee
NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group
The Department, Lewis' Building, Renshaw Street.
Liverpool. L1 1JX
24 May 2016
Dear Maureen
Audit Findings for NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group for the year ending 31 March 2016

This Audit Findings report highlights the significant findings arising from the audit for the benefit of those charged with governance, as required by International Standard
on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260, the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice. Its contents have been discussed with
[management.
As auditors we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland), which is directed towards forming and
expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the financial
statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements.
The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However,
where, as part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose defalcations or
other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. We do not accept any responsibility
for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for,
any other purpose.
We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the kind assistance provided by the finance team, Commissioning Support Unit and other staff during
our audit.
Yours sincerely
Robin Baker
Engagement Lead
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Executive summary

Purpose of this report
This report highlights the key issues affecting the results of NHS Liverpool
Clinical Commissioning Group ('the CCG') and the preparation of the CCG's
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016. It is also used to report our
audit findings to management and those charged with governance in accordance
with the requirements of International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260,
and the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 ('the Act').
Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we
are required to report whether, in our opinion, the CCG's financial statements give
a true and fair view of the financial position and net operating costs, and on
whether the income and expenditure included in the financial statements has been
applied for the purposes intended by Parliament.
We are also required to give an opinion on some elements of the Remuneration
and Staff report and to consider other information published together with the
audited financial statements, whether it is consistent with the financial statements
and in line with required guidance.
We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves the CCG has made
proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources ('the value for money (VFM) conclusion'). Auditor Guidance Note 7
(AGN07) clarifies our reporting requirements in the Code and the Act so that if
we are not satisfied then we are required to report by exception. This is a change
from previous years when we were required to provide a VFM conclusion in our
auditor's report.
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The Act also details the following additional powers and duties for CCG
auditors, which we are required to report to you if applied:
• a referral to Secretary of State if we have reason to believe that the CCG is
about to make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is
about to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or
deficiency (section 30 of the Act);
• a public interest report if we identify any matter that comes to our attention
in the course of the audit that in our opinion should be considered by the
CCG or brought to the public's attention (section 24 of the Act); and
• written recommendations which should to be considered by the CCG and
responded to publicly (section 24 of the Act).
Introduction
In the conduct of our audit we have not had to alter our audit approach, which
we communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated 22 March 2016. Our audit is
substantially complete although we are finalising our procedures in the following
areas:
• obtaining and reviewing bank confirmations
• review of NAO Group Instructions on consolidation statements
• review of the final version of the financial statements
• obtaining and reviewing the management letter of representation, and
• updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the
opinion.
We received draft financial statements and accompanying working papers at the
commencement of our work, in accordance with the national deadline.

5

Executive summary

Key audit and financial reporting issues
Financial statements opinion
As at 24 May, subject to the completion of the outstanding work described
above, we expect to issue an unqualified opinion on the CCG's financial
statements. Our audit has not identified any material errors or uncertainties in
the financial statements. The Chief Finance Officer has amended the accounts for
the disclosure changes identified during the audit which are primarily to improve
the presentation of the accounts. Therefore we anticipate being able to issue an
unqualified audit opinion by the Department of Health deadline of 27 May 2016
(see Appendix A).
Our review of the NHS Agreement of Balances exercise identified a small number
of non-material variances that we have followed up with officers. We have
obtained explanations from the CCG in relation to each disputed balance mismatch in excess of £250k and confirmed that the CCG do not intend to amend
the 2015/16 financial statements.
The key messages arising from our audit of the CCG's financial statements are:
• there was one amendment to the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity;
however this did not impact on the closing balance,
• there were a small number of additions and changes to the disclosure notes to
provide additional clarity, and
• the accounts and working papers were prepared to a high standard.
Further details are set out in section two of this report.
Other financial statement responsibilities
As well as an opinion on the financial statements, we are required to consider the
consistency of other information published with the financial statements.

PAGE 142

© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP | NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group | May 2016

Based on our review of the CCG's Annual Report, which includes the Annual
Governance Statement (AGS), we are satisfied that the updated report meets
the requirements of the DH Group Manual for Accounts and is consistent with
the audited financial statements. Our review of the CCG's draft Annual Report
did highlight some issues in respect of complying with the requirements of the
Manual for Accounts and some inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements. These are detailed in section two and have now been addressed.
Regularity opinion
We are also required to report on whether the income and expenditure included
in the financial statements has been applied for the purposes intended by
Parliament (the regularity opinion). Failure to meet statutory financial targets
automatically results in a qualified regularity opinion.
We are pleased to report that, based on our review of the CCG's income and
expenditure we propose to give an unqualified regularity opinion.
Controls
Roles and responsibilities
The CCG's management is responsible for the identification, assessment,
management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and
monitoring the system of internal control.
Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of
control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any
control weaknesses, we report these to the CCG.
Findings
Our work has not identified any control weaknesses which we wish to highlight
for your attention.
Further details are provided within section two of this report.

6

Executive summary

Value for Money

Other statutory powers and duties

The CCG continues to enjoy a relatively strong financial position and has effective
financial planning and management arrangements in place. The CCG delivered a
surplus of £14.8m in 2015/16 in line with the plan agreed with NHSE. Looking
ahead, the financial position is getting tougher. The CCG does have plans in place
to identify the significant levels of savings that will be required going forward and
it is important progress on this is made at an early stage.

We have not identified any issues that have required us to apply our
statutory powers and duties under the Act.

The CCG remains ambitious and has articulated its strategy to improve health
outcomes in the City through delivery of the Healthy Liverpool Programme. The
CCG works effectively with the City Council to address health needs and has
taken a lead in co-ordinating commissioning with other CCGs locally. The CCG
has done much to promote the Healthy Liverpool message with communities in
the City and has made effective use of social media channels to help achieve this.
The CCG has also continued to look for technological innovations as evidenced
with the Tele-health project.
Based on our review we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, the CCG had
proper arrangements in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources.

Further details of our work on other statutory powers and duties is set out
in section four of this report.
The way forward
Matters arising from the financial statements audit and our review of the
CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
its use of resources have been discussed with the Chief Finance Officer.
Acknowledgement
We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the
assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.
Grant Thornton UK LLP
May 2016

Further detail of our work on Value for Money are set out in section three of this
report.
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Audit findings

Materiality
In performing our audit, we apply the concept of materiality, following the requirements of International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) (ISA) 320: Materiality in
planning and performing an audit. The standard states that 'misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements'.
As we reported in our audit plan, we determined overall materiality to be £17,240k (being 2% of gross revenue expenditure). We have considered whether this level
remained appropriate during the course of the audit and have made no changes to our overall materiality.

We also set an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and would not need to be accumulated or reported to those charged with governance because we
would not expect that the accumulated effect of such amounts would have a material impact on the financial statements. We have defined the amount below which
misstatements would be clearly trivial to be £250k. This remains the same as reported in our audit plan.
As we reported in our audit plan, we identified the following items where we decided that separate materiality levels were appropriate. These remain the same as reported in
our audit plan OR report any changes.
Balance/transaction/disclosure

Explanation

Materiality level

Cash and cash equivalents

Although the balance of cash and cash equivalents is immaterial.
all transactions made by the CCG affect the balance and it is
therefore considered to be material by nature.

Any errors identified by testing in excess of triviality would be
deemed to have implications on the user's understanding of the
financial statements.

Disclosures of senior manager salaries and
allowances in the remuneration report

Due to public interest in these disclosures and the statutory
requirement for them to be made.

Any errors identified by testing in excess of £10,000 would be
deemed to have implications on the users understanding of the
financial statements.

Disclosure of auditor's remuneration

This is a statutory requirement and a requirement of ethical and
auditing standards.

Any errors identified by testing in excess of 10% of the amount
disclosed would be deemed to have implications on the users
understanding of the financial statements

Related Party transactions

Due to public interest in these disclosures and the statutory
requirement for them to be made.

Any errors below 10% of the amount disclosed would not affect
the economic decisions of users of the accounts.

PAGE 145

© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP | NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group | May 2016

9

Audit findings

Audit findings against significant risks
"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, either due to size
or nature, and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement
uncertainty" (ISA (UK&I) 315).
In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan. As we noted in our plan, there are two
presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards.

1.

Risks identified in our audit plan

Work completed

Assurance gained and issues arising

Improper revenue recognition

We have rebutted this presumption for NHS Liverpool CCG
because:

Our audit work has not identified any issues in
respect of revenue recognition.

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a presumed risk
that revenue may be misstated due to the
improper recognition of revenue. Auditors may
rebut this presumption depending on the
circumstances of the client.

•

revenue does not primarily involve cash transactions

•

revenue is principally an allocation from NHS England

We therefore do not consider this to be a significant risk for
NHS Liverpool CCG.
As part of our audit work we have completed;
•

2.

testing of material revenue streams, eg Revenue Resource
Limit Funding, other revenue

Management override of controls

As part of our audit work we have completed:

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a presumed risk
that management will override controls. This risk
is present in all entities.

•

a review of entity controls

•

an examination and testing of accounting estimates,
judgements and decisions made by management

•

testing of journals entries

•

a review of any unusual significant transactions.
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Our audit work has not identified any evidence of
management override of controls. In particular the
findings of our review of journal controls and testing
of journal entries has not identified any significant
issues.
We set out later in this section of the report our
work and findings on key accounting estimates and
judgements.
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Audit findings

Audit findings against significant risks continued
We have also identified the following significant risks of material misstatement from our understanding of the entity. We set out below the work we have completed to
address these risks.

3.

Risks identified in our audit plan

Work completed

Assurance gained and issues arising

Better Care Fund

As part of our audit we have :

The transactions are reflected within the operating
expenses disclosure in note 5 and tested as part of
our work on secondary healthcare. Additional
disclosure is provided in note 16.

The CCG entered into a £64m s75 pooled budget
arrangement as of 1 April 2015 with Liverpool City
Council to procure services from range of NHS
trusts and other bodies. The accounting
arrangements for this are complex and there is a
risk of material misstatement in the financial
statements and the potential for irregular
expenditure.

4.

Improper expenditure recognition
Practice Note 10 suggests that the risk of material
misstatement in the expenditure cycle due to
fraudulent financial reporting that may arise from the
manipulation of expenditure recognition needs to be
considered, especially where the body is required to
meet targets.
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•

obtained the s75 agreement governing the pooled budget
and gained an understanding of the CCG's assessment of
where control lies and its planned accounting entries in
respect of the Fund.

•

documented and reviewed the operating effectiveness of
the CCG's controls over the BCF pooled budget.

•

tested the accounting entries made in respect of the BCF
pooled budget to check they are consistent with our
understanding of the arrangement and that the
transactions and balances recorded are consistent with
those recorded by counterparty organisations.

We have considered this risk and do not consider it to require
additional audit procedures as any inherent risks in relation to
the major sources of expenditure, secondary and primary
healthcare commissioning, are addressed by our existing
procedures. For expenditure relating to prescribing
expenditure, included under primary healthcare
commissioning, these costs are notified to you by the
Prescription Pricing Authority and so the risk of material error
is deemed to be low.

Our audit work has not identified any issues in
respect of the accounting of the Better Care Fund.

No additional audit procedures were required in
respect of this issue.

11

Audit findings

Audit findings against other risks
In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan. Recommendations, together with management
responses are attached at appendix A.

Transaction cycle

Description of risk

Work completed

Assurance gained & issues arising

Secondary Care
Commissioning

Activity variation
adjustments to
expenditure and
payments made
outside contracts not
correct

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

Our audit work has not identified any issues in
respect of accounting for secondary healthcare
costs.

•

Documentation of our understanding of processes and key controls over
the transaction cycle

•

Walkthrough of the key controls to confirm our understanding of the
system.

•

Substantive testing of secondary healthcare costs including sample
testing of payments to contracts

•
•
•
•
•

We have completed testing on NHS and nonNHS secondary healthcare expenditure during
the year.

We have agreed a sample of contract
expenditure to signed agreements, including all
Examination and follow-up as required of month 12 intra NHS agreement main providers. We have also taken assurance
of balances
from the agreement of balances exercise
undertaken by NHS England and obtained
Sample test significant variation adjustments to ensure they are
explanations for any reported differences with
appropriate and that year-end amounts are accounted for correctly.
providers in excess of £250k.
Sample test of other material (non-contract) secondary healthcare
In addition we have completed testing on a
commissioning payments.
sample of invoiced non-contract costs to ensure
Sample testing of year end balances with providers
activity has occurred, value is correct and
Consideration of the service auditor's report in respect of relevant controls accounted for in the correct accounting period.
operated by SBS
The service auditor's report in respect of controls
operated by SBS does not identify any matters
that we need to draw to your attention.
Our review of the NHS Agreement of Balances
exercise identified a small number of nonmaterial variances that we have followed up with
officers. The CCG is in on-going discussions with
one of its major providers. We have
obtained explanations from the CCG in relation
to each disputed balance mis-match in excess of
£250k and confirmed that the CCG do not intend
to amend the 2015/16 financial statements.
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Audit findings

Audit findings against other risks continued
In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.

Transaction cycle

Description of risk

Work completed

Assurance gained & issues arising

Primary Care CoCommissioning

From 1 April 2015 the CCG assumed full
delegated responsibility for commissioning
general practice services. The CCG is
responsible for accounting for the costs of
commissioning decisions.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to
this risk:

Our audit work has not identified any issues in
respect of accounting for primary care cocommissioning..

For 2015/16 the initial contracts were agreed
by NHSE and they have continued to make
the payments to GP providers resulting in a
monthly journal and cash transfer between
the CCG and NHSE to reflect the
transactions. Given 2015/16 is the first year
of these arrangements we consider there to
be a heightened risk of material
misstatement.
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•

Gained an understanding of the CCG's controls to
ensure that the monthly expenditure is correct

•

Tested the accounting entries made in respect of the
co-commissioning to check they are consistent with
our understanding of the arrangement and
information provided by the NHSE.

•

Reviewed the service auditor's report on relevant
controls operated for the Exeter/NHAIS system.

•

Checked that related party disclosures are updated
to reflect balances and transactions with Governing
Body GP member practices where appropriate.

Our work has included sample testing to ensure
cost charges are in line with the monthly
reconciliation process performed by NHSE
central finance and testing a sample of the
individual underlying transactions.
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Accounting policies, estimates and judgements
In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies, and key estimates and judgements made and included
with the CCG's financial statements.
Accounting area

Summary of policy

Comments

Revenue recognition

The CCG has adopted the standard
accounting policy for revenue recognition in
compliance with the Manual for Accounts.

For revenue recognition:
•

The CCG's policy is set out within accounting
policies note 1.7.

The accounting policy is considered to be appropriate under the
relevant accounting framework.

•

There is limited judgement involved, for the range of possible
outcomes and potential financial statement impact of different
accounting policy choices.

•

The disclosure of the accounting policy is considered to be
adequate.

Judgements and estimates

Key estimates and judgements include:

•

provisions

•

accruals

Assessment

We are satisfied from our testing and enquiry on significant
judgements and estimates that:
•

these are appropriate under the relevant accounting framework

•

the CCG has adequately disclosed these within the accounting
policies notes

Going concern

The Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the services provided by the CCG will
continue for the foreseeable future. For this
reason, they continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

We have reviewed the CCG's assessment and are satisfied that the
going concern basis is appropriate for the 2015/16 financial
statements.

Other accounting policies

The CCG has adopted the standard
accounting policies for the NHS as set out in
the Manual for Accounts.

We have reviewed the CCG's policies against the requirements of
the Manual for Accounts. The CCG has appropriately tailored the
standard accounting policies to its individual circumstances.
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 Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure

 Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient
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Other communication requirements
We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.
Issue

Commentary

1.

Matters in relation to fraud

•

We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Audit, Risk and Scrutiny Committee. We have not been made aware of any
incidents in the period and no other issues have been identified during the course of our audit procedures.

2.

Matters in relation to related
parties

•

From the work we carried out, we have not identified any related party transactions which have not been disclosed.

3.

Matters in relation to laws and
regulations

•

You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not
identified any incidences from our audit work.

4.

Written representations

•

A standard letter of representation has been requested from the CCG.

5.

Confirmation requests from
third parties

•

We requested from management permission to send a confirmation request to the Government Banking Service. This permission was
granted and the request was sent but we have not yet received a response. If the response remains outstanding we will carry out
alternative procedures to confirm the bank balance.

6.

Disclosures

•

Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements. The Chief Finance Officer has amended the accounts for the
disclosure changes identified during the audit. These are primarily to improve the presentation of the accounts and are set out in the
table below on misclassifications and disclosure errors.
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Audit findings

Other communication requirements continued

7.

8.

9.

10.

Issue

Commentary

Regularity opinion

•

We are required to give a regularity opinion on whether the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been
applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them (the
regularity opinion).

•

We have not identified any issues and propose to issue an unqualified regularity opinion

•

We are required to give an opinion on whether the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit has been prepared
properly in accordance with the requirements directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State.

•

We have audited the elements of the Remuneration and Staff report ,as required by the Code.

•

Some amendments were required to update the off payroll engagements note, update the staff composition note, provide a staff by
category analysis and reflect in the table of senior managers' salaries that with one exception, all senior managers are now paid
through the payroll.

•

We propose to issue an unqualified opinion

•

We are required to give an opinion on whether the information given in the Annual Report is consistent with the financial statements.

•

Our review of the Annual Report identified some inconsistencies between the Annual Report and financial statements in respect of the
amounts paid to providers and the sickness absence note.

•

Our review identified a number of areas where the format and content of the Annual Report was not in line with the latest guidance in
the Manual for Accounts. The issues arising are summarised in the table on disclosure issues below.

•

We found that the AGS reflected the requirements of NHS England guidance, and was succinct, readable and in line with our
knowledge of the CCG OR detail the deficiencies in the AGS.

•

We propose to issue an unqualified opinion on the revised Annual Report.

•

We are required to give a separate audit opinion on the CCGs accounts consolidation statements and to carry out specified procedures
(on behalf of the NAO) on these statements under the NHS England group audit instructions . In the group audit instructions the CCG
was selected as a non-sampled component.

•

Our work under the NHS England group audit instructions is on-going. There are no issues to bring to your attention at this stage.

•

We were informed of one inconsistency between the financial statements and the accounts consolidation templates which we are
required to report in our opinion on the consolidation schedules. This arose because the financial statements reflect the £5m
co-commissioning accrual correctly under non-NHS, whereas the accounts consolidation templates show the accrual as NHS. The
NHSE has instructed the CCG to show this as a difference on the summarisation schedule.

Auditable elements of
Remuneration and Staff
Report

Annual Report including the
Annual Governance Statement
(AGS) and the Remuneration
and Staff report

Review of accounts
consolidation templates and
specified procedures on
behalf of the DH group auditor
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Internal controls
The purpose of an audit is to express an opinion on the financial statements.
Our audit included consideration of internal controls relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.
We identified no significant deficiencies during the course of our audit that we have concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in
accordance with auditing standards.
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DRAFT

Audit findings

Internal controls – review of issues raised in prior year
Assessment

Issue and risk previously communicated

Update on actions taken to address the issue

1.



Our testing of journals found that six journals
posted by the same user during the year had
been self-authorised. Ensure all new members of the
finance team with the ability to process journals
are given appropriate induction training
around the journal authorisation controls
in place at the CCG.

Finance team were reminded of the need to ensure that supporting documents are
signed off at the time of journal approval and that there must be separation of duties
between preparer and approver. The Finance team were reminded of the need to
ensure that supporting documents are signed off at the time of journal approval and
that there must be separation of duties between preparer and approver.

2.



Our review of Primary Healthcare payments
found that during 2014/15, there were no formal
processes in place to monitor attendance at
sessions for GPs, practice leads and others in
receipt of sessional payments.
Our review also found that the sessional rate paid
to practice nurses had not been formally adopted
by the CCG. Good practice would be to introduce
formal annual adoption of all sessional
rates paid.

As of April 2015, the CCG Management implemented monitoring processes. The
recommendations made have now been included in CCG procedures.

The CCG did not have contracts in place with
non-executive Governing Body members for
2014/15. Ensure contracts are in place with all
members of the CCG Governing Body

Contracts have recently been issued to all members of the Governing Body. Signed
contracts have been returned by five members to date. We understand the CCG is
considering the balance of responsibilities undertaken by Lay members to ensure the
current position remains appropriate.

3.

In progress

All clinical leads receiving payments now have objectives identified and the required
number of sessions identified based on their objectives.

Assessment

Action completed
X
Not yet addressed
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Audit findings

Adjusted misstatements
There were no adjustments to the draft Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure or Statement of Financial Position identified during the audit process.
There was one adjustment to the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity. The figure for 'net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year' should be changed
to equal the figure for 'net operating costs for the financial year'. The change relates to the formulas in the underlying templates and it has no impact on the balance at
31 March 2016. The same entry is required in the 2014/15 table; this brings the figures back into line with the audited statements for 2014/15.
last year
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Audit findings

Misclassifications and disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements.

Adjustment type

Value
£'000

Account balance

Impact on the financial statements

1

Disclosure

n/a

Accounting policy

The reference to the issue of a S30 report has been removed from
Note 1.1 Going Concern

2

Disclosure

n/a

Accounting policy

The note on estimation uncertainty has been expanded to include
consideration of the prescribing payable.

3

Disclosure

n/a

Accounting policy

The note on critical accounting judgements has been expanded to
include consideration of the Better Care Fund.

4

Disclosure

n/a

Note 2 Other
Operating Revenue

The note has been expanded to provide additional disclosure for fees/
charges that exceed £1m, in line with the MfA.

5

Disclosure

n/a

Note 4.3 Sickness
absence

This note has been amended to correct an error in calculation. It has
now been moved to the Annual Report in line with MfA guidance.

6

Disclosure

n/a

Note 4.5 Pension costs

The note has been updated to reflect the additional information not
available at the time of preparing the drafts accounts and two minor
typographical errors.

7

Disclosure

n/a

Note 17 Related Party

The note has been updated to reflect the additional accruals
information that was not available at the time of preparing the drafts
accounts. .
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Audit findings

Disclosure changes – Annual Report
The table below provides details of suggested disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made to the Annual Report to beter reflect Manual for
Account Guidance.
Adjustment type

Value
£'000

Account balance

Impact on the Annual Report

1

Disclosure

n/a

Annual Report

The Performance Report now includes a statement from the Chief
Executive providing their perspective on the performance of the CCG
organisation over the period and signature.

2

Disclosure

n/a

Annual Report

The format of the Annual has been amended to reflect the format
requirements of the MfA: - Corporate Governance report (including
Members' report, Statement of Accounting Officer's responsibilities and
Governance statement)
- Remuneration and Staff report.

3

Disclosure

n/a

Annual Report

Members' report to include details previously in the Introduction section and
a link to the register of interests.

4

Disclosure

n/a

Annual Report

Annual Governance Statement – amended to remove unintended inference
that the CCG complies with the UK Corporate Governance Code

5

Disclosure

n/a

Annual Report

Remuneration report to make clear which parts of the report are auditable,
and provide a cross-reference if any of these parts are solely included in the
financial statements.

6

Disclosure

n/a

Annual Report

Staff report to include expenditure on consultancy and required declarations
in respect of existing off-payroll engagements and calculation of CETV
disclosures.
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Audit findings

Disclosure changes – Annual Report continued.
The table below provides details of suggested disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made to the Annual Report to beter reflect Manual for
Account Guidance.
Adjustmen
t type

Value
£'000

Account
balance

Impact on the Annual Report

1

Disclosure

n/a

Annual
Report

Table on salaries and allowances to include revised statements in respect of Governing Body
members' payroll status. Changes to off payroll engagements table.

2

Disclosure

n/a

Annual
Report

Expenditure with main providers updated to be consistent with related parties disclosures.

3

Disclosure

n/a

Annual
Report
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Staff report updated to reflect updated disclosure on staff sickness, disclosure in respect of
payments above the salary of the Prime Minister, analysis of staff by category and updated
presentation for analysis of staff composition.
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Value for Money

Background
We are required by section 21 of the Local Audit Accountability Act 2014
('the Act') and the NAO Code of Audit Practice ('the Code') to satisfy
ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the Value
for Money (VFM) conclusion.
In a change to previous years, the Act and the Code require us only to report
by exception where we are not satisfied that NHS bodies have proper
arrangements in place to secure value for money. However, we are required to
carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves that proper arrangements are in
place at the CCG.
In carrying out this work, we are required to follow the NAO's Auditor
Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03) issued in November 2015. AGN 03 identifies
one single criterion for auditors to evaluate:
In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took
properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable
outcomes for taxpayers and local people.
AGN03 provides examples of proper arrangements against three sub-criteria
but specifically states that these are not separate criteria for assessment
purposes and that auditors are not required to reach a distinct judgement
against each of these.
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Risk assessment

We carried out an initial risk assessment in February 2016 and identified the
following significant risks, which we communicated to you in our Audit Plan
dated 22 March 2016. Like other public sector bodies the CCG faces a number
of significant risks including:
- The need to achieve operational performance targets whilst successfully
delivering planned savings and funding planned investments.
- Ensuring the governance and management arrangements underpinning the
Better Care Fund (BCF) are sufficiently robust to allow investment and
performance objectives to be achieved
- Ensuring the CCG has strong governance arrangements in place, including
for the management of conflicts of interest, to implement delegated
commissioning.
We have continued our review of relevant documents up to the date of giving
our report, and have not identified any further significant risks where we need
to perform further work.
We carried out further work only in respect of the significant risks we identified
from our initial and ongoing risk assessment.
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Significant qualitative aspects

We are required to set out our views on significant qualitative aspects of the CCG's
arrangements for delivering economy, efficiency and effectiveness. We have focused
our work on the significant risks that we identified in the CCG's arrangements. In
arriving at our conclusion, our main considerations were:
• The CCG continues to meet its financial targets and responsibilities and has
sound financial management arrangements in place. It has forecast to maintain a
surplus of £14m in 2016/17. To ensure the future delivery of planned
transformational investment and contain costs, the CCG will prepare a Finance
and Effectiveness Plan to demonstrate how it will achieve a planned reduction of
£25 to £30m recurrent costs.
• The CCG has improved its governance arrangements for the Better Care Fund
during 2015/16, following completion of a detailed mapping exercise across all
elements of the fund. The recent decision to establish a joint City Council / CCG
Finance sub group and introduce a quarterly BCF service delivery highlight report
to JCG and regular reporting to Finance, Procurement and Contracting
committee should further strengthen the governance arrangements.
•

The CCG has robust arrangements in place for its delegated co-commissioning
role. In particular, MIAA have concluded that significant assurance can be taken
from their review of the CCG's arrangements for the managing of conflicts and
their baseline assessment review of governance, constitutional and performance
management arrangements

We have set out more detail on the risks we identified, the results of the work we
performed and the conclusions we drew from this work later in this section.
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Overall conclusion

The CCG continues to enjoy a relatively strong financial position and has
effective financial planning and management arrangements in place. The
CCG delivered a surplus of £14.8m in 2015/16 in line with the plan agreed
with NHSE. Looking ahead, the financial position is getting tougher. The
CCG does have plans in place to identify the significant levels of savings that
will be required going forward and it is important progress on this is made at
an early stage.
The CCG remains ambitious and has already articulated its strategy to
improve health outcomes in the City through delivery of the Healthy
Liverpool Programme.
The CCG works effectively with the City Council to address health needs
and has taken a lead in co-ordinating commissioning with other CCGs
locally. The CCG has done much to promote the Healthy Liverpool message
with communities in the City and has made effective use of social media
channels to help achieve this. The CCG has also continued to look for
technological innovations as evidenced with the Tele-health project.
Based on the work we performed to address the significant risks, we
concluded that the CCG had proper arrangements in all significant respects
to ensure it delivered value for money in its use of resources. We only report
by exception in our auditors' report where we give a qualified conclusion, so
the form of our report is briefer than in previous years. The text of our
report, which confirms this under the 'matters on which we report by
exception' section, can be found at Appendix B.
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Key findings

We set out below our key findings against the significant risks we identified through our initial risk assessment and further risks identified through our ongoing review of
documents.

Significant risk

Work to address

Findings and conclusions

We reviewed the
CCG's progress in
updating its financial
position, including
the finance reports to
the Governing Body,
the out-turn position
for 15/16 and the
one year Operational
Plan for 2016/17.

The CCG delivered its statutory financial targets in 2015/16 by:
• achieving its planned surplus of £14m, a surplus of 1.68%, compared to business rule required 1% surplus
• keeping revenue administration and capital costs within the resources available
Performance against budget and monitoring of financial targets is reported monthly to the Finance, Procurement and
Contracting Committee and subsequently to the Governing Body.

Financial health
While in-year financial
forecasts showed the CCG
continued to meet its
control totals, there are still
considerable budget
pressures, including the
need to fund planned
investments. Failure to
deliver planned savings
and demonstrate
achievement of operational
performance targets will
undermine the overall
success of the CCG

The CCG was planning to reduce its target surplus and planned contingency and non-recurrent headroom in 2016/17 to
achieve rather than as in recent years exceed business rules. It also planned to use £8m of expected reserves. This planned
approach reflected recognised cost pressures, lower than average growth in allocations and planned financial initiatives as
part of delivering the Healthy Liverpool agenda. Following discussions with NSHE, LCCG will not be receiving the requested
discretionary drawdown of £5.8m for 2016/17. LCCG is now planning to deliver a surplus of 1.8% which will maintain a
cumulative surplus £14m, subject to the CCG being able to retain % of non-recurrent funds which remain uncommitted at the
start of 2016/17 as part of NHSE business rules.
The CCG is committed to the delivery of the Healthy Liverpool Programme, an outcome focused programme seeking to
improve health outcomes across five main areas; living well, digital care and innovation, community care, urgent and
emergency care and hospital services. The CCG has begun work on additional cost improvement measures to support the
future delivery of planned transformational investment and contain costs. The Operational Management Group have been
tasked with producing a Finance and Effectiveness plan for 2016/17 for consideration by the Governing Body in July which will
show plans to reduce costs by £25 to £30m recurrently by 2017/18. This equates to approximately 4.5% of total allocations.
The increasing constraints on NHS funding will present a significant challenge to the CCG going forward.
The CCG is actively involved in the preparation of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan which will cover the period
October 2016 March 2021. There will be one overarching framework for Cheshire & Merseyside with four local system delivery
plans, including one for North Mersey. The final plan, due to be submitted by 30 June, will confirm the scale of the baseline
gap for the STP, and the estimated final gap after allowing for anticipated additional NHS allocation and protected social care
funding.
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We concluded from our review that the CCG has proper arrangements to plan finances effectively and provide
reliable financial reporting to support the delivery of its strategic priorities.

© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP | NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group | May 2016

26

Value for money

Significant risk
Better Care Fund
The CCG and its partners
have worked together to
address both the financial
and operational
challenges they face. This
has included working in
partnership to extend the
scope of the s75
agreement with Liverpool
City Council. The value of
the BCF between the
CCG and the City Council
is £64m in 2015/16.

Work to address

Findings and conclusions

We reviewed the CCG's
arrangements for working with
Liverpool City Council as part of
the Better Care Partnership.
This included consideration of
the governance arrangements
for the fund, review of financial
management information and
progress reports and
consideration of the CCG's
arrangements for assessing
delivery to date against plans.

The total value of the Better Care Fund between the City Council (LCC) and the CCG is £64m for 2015/16, with
£40m contributed by the CCG

The BCF may not deliver
the outcomes required to
demonstrate VFM. This
may be an indication that
decision making and
reporting needs greater
transparency to ensure
the best VFM is being
driven from the
partnership.
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The MIAA report on Partnership working in Spring 2015 provided limited assurance, highlighting that there were
gaps in documentation to support some aspects of the joint arrangements with LCC. By Autumn 2015, some
practical difficulties were being experienced. For some schemes, there was a lack of clarity over when decisions had
been made and authorised to fund schemes and the agreed share of funding. There were occasions where there
delays in the receipt of invoices by the CCG and invoices were received with limited support. For some schemes,
there was a lack of formal documentation setting out the scheme aims and anticipated outcomes and performance
measures. Gaps in knowledge concerning the BCF element of schemes meant that in some cases expenditure or
performance outcomes were not actively monitored.
It is clear from review of the minutes of the Joint Commissioning Group (JCG), which reports direct to the Health &
Well-Being Board, and discussions with officers that the CCG has put in place arrangements to address these risks.
A dedicated resource was recruited to perform a detailed mapping exercise across all elements of BCF. This
exercise assisted in confirming the agreed funding for each scheme, the outcomes and the measurements to be put
in place to monitor and evaluate.
Performance reporting during 2015/16 has included BCF update reports to the JCG. The reports have provided a
summary of progress against service delivery for the key projects and initiatives within each of the three overarching schemes within Liverpool’s Better Care Fund Plan. Additional reporting has included updates for the five
indicators specifically identified as BCF within 'healthy ageing' reporting in the wider Joint Performance Report
(Integrated Performance Report NHS CCG Outcomes Framework) taken to the November JCG.
The draft Annual report recognises that one of the significant risks facing the CCG is that failure to establish robust
governance arrangements around investment and associated outcomes (including performance element of the fund)
may adversely impact the delivery of BCF outcomes. The CCG has recognised the need to further strengthen
governance arrangements for schemes under BCF around investment and associated outcomes . From Spring 2016
a joint LCC/CCG Finance sub group has been established which will report to the JCG. This sub-group will support
the JCG with the development of BCF operational and financial plans. In addition, plans are in place for a BCF
service delivery highlight report to be brought to the JCG on a quarterly basis during 2016/17 to closely monitor
delivery of the 2016/17 BCF Plan from a service perspective, with regular reporting to Finance, Procurement and
Contracting committee. These changes will strengthen the CCG's arrangements to support service leads in
monitoring the success of the BCF, including the delivery against key national and local performance indicators and
other conditions that could impact on the allocation of BCF funding.
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Significant risk

Work to address

Findings and conclusions
The planned improvements will further strengthen the governance arrangements in this area.
The arrangements in place are evolving but we consider that the processes in place at the CCG are
designed effectively and will ensure it can deliver value for money.

Better Care Fund (continued)

On that basis we concluded that although there remains a significant risk as to arrangements
delivering the target outcomes, as recognised by the CCG, the risk was sufficiently mitigated and
the CCG has proper arrangements overall to work with other parties to deliver strategic priorities.
Primary Care co-commissioning
The CCG assumed full delegated
responsibility for commissioning
general practice services from
1 April 2015. The total CCG
allocation and estimated total spend
in 2015/16 is £61,862k.
There may be weaknesses in the
governance arrangements going
forward as a result of the changes
required to implement delegated
commissioning. Co-commissioning
is likely to lead to an increased
number and greater significance of
conflict of interests for CCG
governing bodies and GPs in their
commissioning roles. It is important
that CCGs can demonstrate that
conflicts, both real and perceived,
are being managed effectively
through the appropriate safeguards
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We updated our
understanding of the
arrangements for governance
of delegated primary care cocommissioning responsibilities
and the CCG's arrangements
to manage conflicts of interest
in relation to GP
commissioned services,
including the potential impact
for related party transaction
disclosures.
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Following the delegation of powers from NHSE for primary care commissioning, the CCG established a
Primary Care Commissioning Committee and a separate Primary Care Quality Committee. A transition
group, including Finance staff, NHSE and the Head of Primary Care, met quarterly during 2015 to manage
the changes. The Approvals Committee was used to mitigate any conflicts of interests for members of the
Governing Body who were GPs involved in delivering services commissioned by the CCG.
MIAA have conducted two relevant reviews in this area. Their review in 2015 of 'conflicts of interest'
resulted in significant assurance and the conclusion that the CCG had robust systems and processes in
place. MIAA have also recently conducted a 'Co-Commissioning Baseline Assessment' review. This also
resulted in significant assurance and a conclusion that the CCG had robust governance and constitutional
arrangements and adequate performance management in this area.
We are currently reviewing the evidence for the related party disclosure as part of our work on the financial
statements. Our interim work confirmed the CCG had appropriate arrangements in place to obtain the
necessary information to ensure the completeness of these disclosures and there are no issues to date
arising from subsequent work.
We concluded that the CCG has proper arrangements to commission services effectively to
support the delivery of strategic priorities
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Significant difficulties in undertaking our work

Any other matters

We did not identify any significant difficulties in undertaking our work on your
arrangements which we wish to draw to your attention.

There were no other matters from our work which were significant to our
consideration of your arrangements to secure value for money in your use of
resources.

Significant matters discussed with management

There were no matters where no other evidence was available or matters of such
significance to our conclusion or that we required written representation from
management or those charged with governance.
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Other statutory powers and duties

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by the Act and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

Issue

Commentary

1.

Referral to the Secretary of State

 We have not identified any issues which we need to refer to the Secretary of State

2.

Public interest report

 We have not identified any matters that would require a public interest report to be issued

3.

Written recommendations

 We have not made any written recommendations that the CCG is required to respond to publicly
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Fees, non audit services and independence

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and the provision of non-audit services.

Fees

Fees for other services
£

Service

Fees £
3,250 (excluding VAT)

CCG audit

71,250

Employment Tax services

Total audit fees (excluding VAT)

71,250

Independence and ethics

Ethical Standards and International Standards on Auditing (ISA) 260 require us to
give you full and fair disclosure of matters relating to our independence. We wish to
bring the following to your attention:
Grant Thornton's Liverpool office has a team that provide accounting and tax
services to a number of GPs and GP practice partnerships across the North West,
including GP members of the CCG's Governing Body. Having carefully considered
the matter we have formed the view that there could reasonably be perceived a threat
to our independence as CCG auditors, but that this threat can be mitigated through
appropriate safeguards. The safeguards are:
• Reporting and discussing the matter with the Audit Risk and Scrutiny Committee
• Confirming that the team responsible for the audit of the CCG is separate and
independent of the team responsible for the provision of the GP accounting and
tax service. The teams are led by separate partners within the Firm.

•

Appointing an independent review partner to the CCG audit. The independent
review partner will be from another part of the Firm and will undertake a formal
review at key stages of the CCG audit.

With this in place, we confirm we have implemented policies and procedures to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards, and therefore we
confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the
financial statements.
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Communication of audit matters

Communication to those charged with governance
International Standards on Auditing ISA (UK&I) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe
matters which we are required to communicate with those charged with governance, and
which we set out in the table opposite.
The Audit Plan outlined our audit strategy and plan to deliver the audit, while this Audit
Findings report presents the key issues and other matters arising from the audit, together
with an explanation as to how these have been resolved.
Respective responsibilities
The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the context of the Statement of
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by Public Sector Audit
Appointments Limited (http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/)
We have been appointed as the CCG's independent external auditors by the Audit
Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public bodies
in England at the time of our appointment. As external auditors, we have a broad remit
covering finance and governance matters.
Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice ('the
Code') issued by the NAO (https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/). Our
work considers the CCG's key risks when reaching our conclusions under the Code.
It is the responsibility of the CCG to ensure that proper arrangements are in place for the
conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted
for. We have considered how the CCG is fulfilling these responsibilities.
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Our communication plan

Audit
Plan

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those
charged with governance



Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing
and expected general content of communications



Views about the qualitative aspects of the entity's accounting and
financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising
during the audit and written representations that have been sought

Audit
Findings



Confirmation of independence and objectivity





A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, relationships and other
matters which might be thought to bear on independence.





Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and
network firms, together with fees charged
Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence
Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit



Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or
others which results in material misstatement of the financial
statements



Compliance with laws and regulations



Expected unmodified auditor's report



Uncorrected misstatements



Significant matters arising in connection with related parties



Significant matters in relation to going concern
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Appendix A: Audit opinion
We anticipate we will provide the CCG with an unmodified audit report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF
NHS LIVERPOOL CCG
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Liverpool Trafford CCG for the year ended 31
March 2016 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 'Act'). The financial
statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash
Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2015/16 Government
Financial Reporting Manual (the 2015/16 FReM) as contained in the Department of Health
Group Manual for Accounts 2015/16 (the 2015/16 MfA) and the Accounts Direction issued by
the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State as relevant to the
National Health Service in England (the Accounts Direction).
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is subject to
audit, being:


the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes on
page a



the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on page b



the analysis of staff numbers and related narrative notes on page f; and



the pay multiples disclosure on page g.

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Liverpool CCG, as a
body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments
Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the members of the
Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body
of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
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Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible for ensuring the regularity of
expenditure and income. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical
Standards for Auditors. We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of
expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the
Comptroller and Auditor General as required by the Act (the "Code of Audit Practice").
As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable Officer is responsible for
the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's
resources. We are required under Section 21 (1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied that the CCG has
made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources and to report our opinion as required by Section 21(4)(b) of the Act.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the Accountable Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual
Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify
any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with,
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
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In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard
to the guidance on the specified criteria, issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in
November 2015, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly
informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for
taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined these criteria as
that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves
whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2016, and to report by
exception where we are not satisfied.





the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted
and adapted by the 2015/16 FReM as contained in the 2015/16 MfA and the Accounts
Direction; and
the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the
annual report and accounts is consistent with the financial statements;

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether,
in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

We are required to report to you if:

in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by
the NHS Commissioning Board; or

we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Act because we
have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has
made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful
expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if
followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or

we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Act; or

we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Act; or

we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of its resources for the year ended 31
March 2016.

Opinion on financial statements

We have nothing to report in these respects.

In our opinion the financial statements:

Certificate




give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Liverpool CCG as at 31 March
2016 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
have been prepared properly in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 2015/16 FReM as contained in the 2015/16
MfA and the Accounts Direction.

Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Liverpool CCG in
accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Code of Audit Practice.
Robin Baker
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool
L3 1PS

May 2016

Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
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